

# Endoscopic treatment of upper gastrointestinal postsurgical leaks

EDUARDO GIL FERREIRA RODRIGUES PINTO TESE DE DOUTORAMENTO APRESENTADA À FACULDADE DE MEDICINA DA UNIVERSIDADE DO PORTO EM MEDICINA

D 2022

Dissertação de candidatura ao grau de Doutor apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto, no âmbito do Programa Doutoral em Medicina.

This PhD thesis has been submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the PhD degree in Medicine at the Medical School of the University of Porto.

#### Title: Endoscopic treatment of upper gastrointestinal postsurgical leaks

# Título: Tratamento endoscópico de deiscências pós-cirúrgicas do trato digestivo superior

#### Supervisors:

#### Guilherme Macedo, MD, PhD

Gastroenterology and Hepatology Department, Centro Hospitalar Universitário de São João, Porto, Portugal WGO Porto Training Center, Porto, Portugal Faculty of Medicine, Universidade do Porto

#### Mouen A.Khashab, MD

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, MD, USA

Art.º 48º, parágrafo 3º - "A Faculdade não responde pelas doutrinas expendidas na dissertação." (Regulamento da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto – Decreto-Lei n.º 19337 de 29 de Janeiro de 1931)

UNIVERSIDADE DO PORTO. REITORIA Praça Gomes Teixeira. 4099-002 Porto Tel. +351 22 040 8000. Fax. +351 22 040 8186/ 8187

TEL

Exmo. Senhor

Mestre Eduardo Gil Ferreira Rodrigues Pinto

edu.gil.pinto@gmail.com

v.referência n.referência v.comunicação data FOA.26. 2232-2022 2022.06.14 assunto

Provas de Doutoramento

Informo V. Exª. que, por meu despacho de 2022.06.14, proferido no âmbito de delegação reitoral, nomeei o júri proposto para as provas de doutoramento em Medicina, requeridas por V. Exª., com a seguinte constituição:

Presidente: Doutor João Francisco Montenegro de Andrade Lima Bernardes, Professor Catedrático da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto

Vogais:

- Doutor Todd Hunthy Baron, Professor Associado Convidado da University of North Carolina, USA;

- Doutor Nuno Miguel Peres de Almeida, Professor Auxiliar Convidado da Universidade de Coimbra;

- Doutor Carlos Alberto Costa de Noronha Ferreira, Professor Auxiliar Convidado da Universidade de Lisboa;

- Doutor António Carlos Megre Eugénio Sarmento, Professor Catedrático Convidado da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto;

- Doutor Manuel Guilherme Gonçalves Macedo, Professor Catedrático Convidado da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto;

- Doutora Maria do Céu Fontes Herdeiro Figueiredo, Professora Auxiliar da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto.

Com os melhores cumprimentos,

O Vice-Reitor,

(Professor Doutor Fernando Manuel Augusto da Silva)

Assinado por: Fernando Manuel Augusto da Silva Num. de Identificação: 07817829 Data: 2022.06.15 10:38:06 +0200

(1/6)/PV

#### Corpo Catedrático da Faculdade de Medicina do Porto

#### **Professores Catedráticos Efetivos**

Doutor Patrício Manuel Vieira Araújo Soares Silva Doutor Alberto Manuel Barros da Silva Doutor José Henrique Dias Pinto de Barros Doutora Maria Fátima Machado Henriques Carneiro Doutora Maria Dulce Cordeiro Madeira Doutor Altamiro Manuel Rodrigues Costa Pereira Doutor Manuel Jesus Falção Pestana Vasconcelos Doutor João Francisco Montenegro Andrade Lima Bernardes Doutora Maria Leonor Martins Soares David **Doutor Rui Manuel Lopes Nunes** Doutor José Manuel Pereira Dias de Castro Lopes Doutor Joaquim Adelino Correia Ferreira Leite Moreira Doutora Raquel Angela Silva Soares Lino Doutor Fernando Manuel Mendes Falcão dos Reis Doutor Francisco José Miranda Rodrigues Cruz Doutor José Paulo Alves Vieira de Andrade Doutor Jorge Manuel Silva Junqueira Polónia Doutor José Luís Dias Delgado Doutora Isaura Ferreira Tavares Doutor Fernando Carlos de Landér Schmitt Doutor Acácio Agostinho Gonçalves Rodrigues Doutora Maria de Fátima Moreira Martel

Doutor João Tiago de Sousa Pinto Guimarães

Doutor José Carlos Lemos Machado

Doutor José Carlos de Magalhães Silva Cardoso

#### **Professores Jubilados ou Aposentados**

Doutor Alexandre Alberto Guerra Sousa Pinto Doutor Álvaro Jerónimo Leal Machado de Aguiar Doutor António Albino Coelho Margues Abrantes Teixeira Doutor António Carlos Freitas Ribeiro Saraiva Doutor António José Pacheco Palha Doutor António Manuel Sampaio de Araújo Teixeira Doutor Belmiro dos Santos Patrício Doutor Cândido Alves Hipólito Reis Doutor Carlos Rodrigo Magalhães Ramalhão Doutor Cassiano Pena de Abreu e Lima Doutora Deolinda Maria Valente Alves Lima Teixeira Doutor Eduardo Jorge Cunha Rodrigues Pereira Doutor Fernando Tavarela Veloso Doutor Francisco Fernando Rocha Gonçalves Doutora Isabel Maria Amorim Pereira Ramos Doutor Jorge Manuel Mergulhão Castro Tavares Doutor José Agostinho Marques Lopes Doutor José Carlos Neves da Cunha Areias Doutor José Eduardo Torres Eckenroth Guimarães Doutor José Fernando Barros Castro Correia Doutor José Manuel Costa Mesquita Guimarães Doutor José Manuel Lopes Teixeira Amarante Doutor Levi Eugénio Ribeiro Guerra

Doutor Luís Alberto Martins Gomes de Almeida Doutor Manuel Alberto Coimbra Sobrinho Simões Doutor Manuel António Caldeira Pais Clemente Doutor Manuel Augusto Cardoso de Oliveira Doutor Manuel Machado Rodrigues Gomes Doutor Manuel Maria Paula Barbosa Doutora Maria Amélia Duarte Ferreira Doutora Maria da Conceição Fernandes Marques Magalhães Doutora Maria Isabel Amorim de Azevedo Doutor Rui Manuel Almeida Mota Cardoso Doutor Rui Manuel Bento De Almeida Coelho Doutor Serafim Correia Pinto Guimarães Doutor Valdemar Miguel Botelho dos Santos Cardoso Doutor Walter Friedrich Alfred Osswald

### **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements			1	
Abbreviations			3	
Outline of Thesis			5	
List of Publications			7	
Abstract			11	
Resumo			15	
Chapter I - Rational			19	
Chapter II - Introduction 2			23	
	A)	Post-surgical leaks	23	
	B)	Aims of therapy	28	
	C)	Leaks specificities	31	
	D)	Endoscopic armamentarium	32	
	E)	Endoscopic outcomes	43	
Chapter III - Aims			49	
Chapter IV - Results (Publications) 5			51	
	A)	Choosing the Appropriate Endoscopic Armamentarium for	51	
	Treatment of Anastomotic Leaks			
	B)	Esophageal stenting for benign and malignant disease: European	59	
	Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline - Update 2021			
	C)	Self-expanding metal stents in postoperative esophageal leaks	89	
	D)	International multicenter expert survey on endoscopic treatment	97	
	of upper gastrointestinal anastomotic leaks			
	E)	Retrospective multicenter study on endoscopic treatment	111	
	of u	of upper GI postsurgical leaks		

Chapter V - Discussion and Conclusions	133
Chapter VI - Future Research	143
Other PhD-related Outputs	145
References	147

#### Acknowledgements

To Diana, Tomás e Mariana, for always being there, helping me make my dreams come true, and all the support during this and all other journeys of my life.

To my parents, Lurdes e Mário, for their example, all efforts made in my education, unconditional love and support.

To my brother Ricardo, for his love, friendship, constant encouragement and helping me expand my horizons.

To my supervisor, Prof. Guilherme Macedo, for the opportunities generated, incitement for this challenge and constant motivation.

To my supervisor, Dr. Mouen A. Khashab, for guiding me in new adventures.

To my friends for being there, through many good and few bad times.

To all medical staff, nurses and administrative officers of the Gastroenterology Department of Centro Hospitalar São João, for always providing a good atmosphere and their friendship.

To patients, the reason for my personal growth and passion for professional practice.

## Abbreviations

AE	Adverse event
APC	Argon plasma coagulation
ASA	American Society of Anesthesiologists
BDS	Biodegradable stents
BMI	Body Mass Index
ст	Computed tomography
EID	Endoscopic internal drainage
ESGE	European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy
EVT	Endoscopic vacuum therapy
FC	Fully covered
OR	Odds Ratio
отѕс	Over-the-scope clip
PC	Partially covered
PSL	Postsurgical leaks
RYGB	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass
SEMS	Self-expandable metal stents
SEPS	Self-expandable plastic stents
SG	Sleeve gastrectomy
TTS	Through-the-scope
UGI	Upper gastrointestinal

#### **Outline of Thesis**

In the **Abstract**, a brief description of the Thesis is presented.

In **Chapter I**, the Rational and Motivation of the subject chosen for this Thesis is explained.

In **Chapter II**, an Introduction addressing the major topics of this Thesis is presented, including postsurgical leaks characteristics and specificities, aims of therapy, endoscopic armamentarium and endoscopic outcomes.

In **Chapter III**, the aims of the studies conducted for the present Thesis are presented.

In **Chapter IV**, the publications that build the core for the present Thesis are presented.

In **Chapter V**, an integrated Discussion and Conclusion of all the articles is provided, focusing on the implications of the results in clinical practice.

In **Chapter VI**, potential lines of Future research are discussed.

#### **List of Publications**

This Thesis includes studies that were presented in several national and international meetings and articles published in peer-reviewed journals. The full-list of publications and presentations is presented below. The articles for evaluation are marked with (\*).

#### Self-expanding metal stents in postoperative esophageal leaks (\*)

<u>Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto</u>, Pedro Pereira, Armando Ribeiro, Pedro Moutinho-Ribeiro, Susana Lopes, Guilherme Macedo

• Rev Esp Enferm Dig. 2016 Mar;108(3):133-7 (Impact factor 2016: 1.366)

#### Endoscopic treatment of anastomotic leaks - A tailored approach

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, Rui Morais, Pedro Pereira, Guilherme Macedo

• Dig Liver Dis. 2018 Jul;50(7):728-730 (Impact factor 2018: 3.037)

# Choosing the Appropriate Endoscopic Armamentarium for Treatment of Anastomotic Leaks (\*)

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, Rui Morais, Guilherme Macedo, Mouen A. Khashab

• Am J Gastroenterol. 2019 Mar;114(3):367-371 (Impact factor 2019: 10.241)

# Role of endoscopic vacuum therapy, internal drainage, and stents for postbariatric leaks

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, Rui Morais, Filipe Vilas-Boas, Pedro Pereira, Guilherme Macedo

• VideoGIE. 2019 Jul 30;4(10):481-485

# International multicenter expert survey on endoscopic treatment of upper gastrointestinal anastomotic leaks (\*)

<u>Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto</u>, Alessandro Repici, Gianfranco Donatelli, Guilherme Macedo, Jacques Devière, Jeanin E. van Hooft, Josemberg M. Campos, Manuel Galvão Neto, Marco Silva, Pierre Eisendrath, Vivek Kumbhari, Mouen A. Khashab

- Endosc Int Open. 2019 Dec;7(12):E1671-E1682
- Oral presentation at Digestive Disease Week 2019, San Diego, USA
- Poster presentation at UEG Week 2019, Barcelona
- Oral presentation at Semana Digestiva 2019, Albufeira, USA

# Retrospective multicenter study on endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks (\*)

<u>Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto</u>, Pedro Pereira, Bernardo Sousa-Pinto, Hany Shehab, Rolando Pinho, Michael C. Larsen, Shayan Irani, Richard A. Kozarek, Antonio Capogreco, Alessando Repici, Ealaf Shemmeri, Brian E. Louie, Pawel Rogalski, Andrzej Baniukiewicz, Andrzej Dabrowski, João Correia de Sousa, Silvia Barrias, Yervant Ichkhanian, Vivek Kumbhari, Mouen A. Khashab, Nicole Bowers, Allison R. Schulman, Guilherme Macedo

- Gastrointest Endosc. 2021 Jun;93(6):1283-1299.e2 (Impact factor 2021: 9.427]
- Oral presentation at Digestive Disease Week 2020, Online
- Oral presentation at ESGE Days 2020, Online

# Esophageal stenting for benign and malignant disease: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline - Update 2021 (\*)

Manon C.W. Spaander, Ruben D. van der Bogt, Todd H. Baron, David Albers, Daniel Blero, Antonella de Ceglie, Massimo Conio, László Czakó, Simon Everett, Juan-Carlos Garcia-Pagán, Angels Ginès, Manol Jovani, Alessandro Repici, <u>Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto</u>, Peter D. Siersema, Lorenzo Fuccio, Jeanin E. van Hooft

• Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto was responsible for the section "Benign disease -Leaks, fistulas, and perforations"

• Endoscopy. 2021 Jul;53(7):751-762 (Impact factor 2021: 10.093)

# Stent deployment within a transesophagostomy orifice to treat a postgastrectomy leak

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, Joel Ferreira-Silva, Pedro Pereira, Guilherme Macedo

• VideoGIE. 2021 Jul 10;6(10):454-456

#### Abstract

Upper gastrointestinal (UGI) postsurgical leaks (PSL) are a life-threatening condition with high mortality rates ranging from 12 to 62%. Their prevalence has increased in recent years, being one of the most feared complications in surgery, as they are the strongest independent risk factor for postoperative mortality.

PSL are challenging to manage and often require radiological, endoscopic, or surgical intervention. Early diagnosis has been reported to improve survival of such leaks, although their management still remains controversial. In fact, several modalities have been used, with surgical treatment being associated with higher morbidity and mortality than endoscopic therapy. Therefore, the latter is often attempted first to avoid additional surgical morbidity.

However, there is a wide diversity of endoscopic options, including stent placement, endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT), endoscopic internal drainage (EID), over-the-scope clips (OTSCs), suturing, septotomy with or without balloon dilation, and tissue sealants, with no definite consensus on the most appropriate therapeutic approach in the management of PSL. Each of these endoscopic options has different mechanisms of action.

Due to lack of an algorithmic endoscopic approach, the inability to cluster the presentations and varying degrees of collaborative planning among surgical and interventional services, these interventions are often applied in a stepwise manner or an institutional expertise–dependent manner primarily driven by the available technology.

This observation puts the focus on the need to identify patients as earlier as possible, selection of the best therapeutic option for each patient and development of an algorithm for management of PSL taking into consideration predictive factors for successful healing and resolution. The aims of this Thesis were to define the role of endoscopic therapy in the treatment of UGI PSL, explore their current management, define endoscopic failure and evaluate the effectiveness of endoscopic therapy and associated adverse events (AEs) as well predictive factors for successful closure and AE occurrence.

It was found that endoscopic treatment is safe, effective, and reproducible when a skilled endoscopist is available. Around half of the patients can be treated successfully with 1 endoscopic approach, with approximately 80% of patients eventually having their leak treated with endoscopy without the need for surgery due to endoscopic failure. AEs may occur in almost 40% of the patients, however, only 6% of them may require surgery or lead to death. Clinical success correlates with the duration of treatment, being less likely after 4 months of therapy. Even though no definitive consensus on the definition of endoscopic failure exists, persistent inflammation with clinical sepsis, impossibility to resume oral feeding, inability to close the leak with time should prompt consideration of therapeutic alternatives, namely surgery.

Stents are the technique most widely available and most frequently used in almost every department. Even though OTSCs are also well-represented, they are not a common first option. On the other hand, EID and EVT seem to be increasingly used techniques.

Proper selection of patients is critical for favourable outcomes. Leak location, size, chronicity and associated cavity are probably the most relevant leak characteristics to be considered when deciding treatment. Previous surgery should also influence therapeutic decision. Patients with smaller leak initial diameters, in better clinical condition may respond better, so treatment in these patients should be more aggressive.

Acute and small leaks, without associated collections may be considered for stent placement (up to 3cm), OSTC placement (up to 1cm) or endoscopic suture (up to 2cm). In the setting of associated collections, these techniques can still be considered if external drainage is also performed; if not, EVT, EID and endoscopic septotomy should be considered, with EVT and EID being an option in acute and chronic leaks, while endoscopic septotomy should only be performed in leaks with more than 4 weeks of duration. While endoscopic septotomy can be considered for all leak sizes, EVT is ideal for leaks larger than 2cm.

The approach to UGI PSL should always be tailored to the single patient, by taking into account the several variables that may at the end influence the outcome. Endoscopic management requires a personalized and multidisciplinary approach, comprising a close collaboration between interventional endoscopist, radiologist and surgeon.

#### Resumo

As deiscências pós-cirúrgicas (DPC) do trato digestivo superior (TDS) estão associadas a uma elevada taxa de mortalidade, que varia entre 12 e 62%. A sua prevalência tem aumentado nos últimos anos, sendo uma das complicações mais temidas das cirurgias, uma vez que são o fator de risco independente mais importante para mortalidade pós-operatória.

As DPC são difíceis de abordar e muitas vezes requerem intervenção radiológica, endoscópica ou cirúrgica. O diagnóstico precoce das deiscências associa-se a uma melhor sobrevida, embora o seu tratamento ainda seja controverso. De fato, existem várias opções terapêuticas, estando a cirurgia associada a maior morbilidade e mortalidade do que a terapêutica endoscópica. Sendo assim, esta é geralmente a primeira opção terapêutica, para evitar a morbi-mortalidade cirúrgica adicional.

Existe, no entanto, uma grande variedade de opções endoscópicas, desde colocação de próteses luminais, terapêutica endoscópica de vácuo (TEV), drenagem endoscópica interna (DEI), clips over-the-scope (OTSCs), sutura, septostomia com ou sem dilatação com balão, e selantes tecidulares, sem consenso definitivo quanto à abordagem terapêutica mais adequada das DPC. Cada uma destas opções endoscópicas tem o seu mecanismo de ação.

Devido à ausência de um algoritmo de abordagem endoscópica, à incapacidade de agrupar as diferentes situações clínicas e aos diferentes graus de colaboração entre os diferentes serviços, estes procedimentos são frequentemente aplicados de forma gradual, dependente de instituição, com base na experiência da equipa, principalmente impulsionado pela tecnologia disponível.

Estes achados colocam o foco na necessidade de identificar os doentes o mais

precocemente possível, na seleção da melhor opção terapêutica para cada doente e no desenvolvimento de um algoritmo de abordagem às DPC, tendo em consideração os fatores preditivos para sucesso clínico. Os objetivos desta Tese são definir o papel da terapêutica endoscópica no tratamento das DPC, explorar o seu tratamento atual, definir falência endoscópica e avaliar a eficácia da terapêutica e eventos adversos (EAs) associados, bem como fatores preditivos para o sucesso clínico e ocorrência de EAs.

Verificou-se que o tratamento endoscópico é seguro, eficaz e reprodutível quando realizado por um endoscopista experiente. Cerca de metade dos doentes podem ser tratados com sucesso com apenas 1 modalidade endoscópica, sendo que aproximadamente 80% dos doentes alcançam o encerramento da deiscência com o tratamento endoscópico, sem necessidade de cirurgia por falência. Os EAs podem ocorrer em quase 40% dos doentes, no entanto, apenas 6% deles podem requerer cirurgia ou ser fatais. O sucesso clínico correlaciona-se com a duração do tratamento, sendo menos provável após 4 meses de tratamento. Embora não exista um consenso definitivo sobre qual a definição de falência endoscópica, a inflamação persistente com sépsis associada, a impossibilidade de retomar alimentação oral, a incapacidade de encerrar a deiscência com o tempo, devem levar à consideração de alternativas terapêuticas, nomeadamente cirurgia.

As próteses luminais são a técnica endoscópica mais amplamente disponível e utilizada em quase todos os departamentos. Embora os OTSCs também estejam bem representados, não são uma primeira opção habitual. Por outro lado, a DEI e a TEV parecem ser técnicas cada vez mais utilizadas.

A seleção adequada dos doentes é fundamental para se conseguir alcançar resultados favoráveis. A localização da deiscência, o tamanho, a cronicidade, a presença de coleção associada são provavelmente as características mais relevantes a serem consideradas na decisão terapêutica. O tipo de cirurgia prévia também deve influenciar a decisão terapêutica. Doentes com deiscências de menores dimensões, em condição clínica mais estável poderão responder melhor, sendo que o tratamento deverá ser mais agressivo nesses doentes.

Deiscências agudas e pequenas, sem coleção associada, podem ser consideradas para colocação de prótese luminal (até 3cm), OSTC (até 1cm) ou sutura endoscópica (até 2cm). Se presença de coleção associada, essas técnicas ainda podem ser consideradas se for realizada drenagem externa adicional; caso contrário, deverão ser consideradas a TEV, a DEI ou a septostomia endoscópica, sendo a TEV e a DEI opções em deiscências agudas e crónicas, enquanto a septostomia endoscópica só deve ser considerada em deiscências com mais de 4 semanas de duração. Embora a septostomia endoscópica possa ser considerada para qualquer tamanho de deiscência, a TEV é ideal para deiscências com mais de 2 cm.

A abordagem das DPC do TDS deve ser sempre individualizada, tendo em conta todas as variáveis que podem influenciar o resultado final. O tratamento endoscópico requer uma abordagem personalizada e multidisciplinar, envolvendo uma estreita colaboração entre o endoscopista de intervenção, o radiologista e o cirurgião.

#### **Chapter I - Rational**

Upper gastrointestinal (UGI) postsurgical leaks (PSL) are a life-threatening condition with high mortality rates ranging from 12% to 62% (1-5). Their prevalence has increased in recent years, being one of the most feared complications in surgery (5-7), as they are the strongest independent risk factor for postoperative mortality (8).

Even though perforations, leaks and fistulas are terms that are often used interchangeably, in strict terms, they are completely different. Most of the literature so far has evaluated the efficacy of endoscopic therapy encompassing all types of transmural defects. Gastrointestinal leaks are abnormal communications between the intraluminal and extraluminal compartments as a result of a defect in the integrity of the gastrointestinal wall. A fistula is an abnormal connection between the gut and hollow organs, or between the gut and an abscess cavity. They can develop as a result of a prolonged anastomotic leak, especially when the leak results in extraluminal fluid that is managed percutaneously. A perforation is an acute rupture of the gastrointestinal wall, which can occur after endoscopic instrumentation or due to underlying pathology (9).

PSL are challenging to manage and often require radiological, endoscopic, or surgical intervention (10). Historically, they were generally managed either by rescue surgery when the defect was present within the first 7-10 days or a watch-and-wait strategy followed by secondary surgery if symptoms persisted. Nowadays, endoscopy is considered the first line approach for the management of UGI PSL, as it seems to be associated with an improved outcome and better quality of life (11).

Recent publications have demonstrated the safety and efficacy of endoscopic interventions to manage transmural defects as first-line therapy instead of conventional modalities to either avert surgery or optimize patients for definitive future surgery (by diverting noxious enteric contents, creating enteral access for nutrition, and relieving any obstruction precluding healing) (12). However, there is no definite consensus on the most appropriate therapeutic approach in the management of PSL. Early diagnosis has been reported to improve survival of such leaks. Due to the historically watch-and-wait strategy in clinically stable patients, while waiting for spontaneous closure, these leaks are still referred late for endoscopic treatment, decreasing the chance of successful treatment. Identifying preoperative predictors of outcome can provide important information for early leak diagnosis. Even when leaks are diagnosed early, endoscopic management remains complex, often requiring multiple endoscopic treatments spanning over several months. Due to lack of an algorithmic endoscopic approach, the inability to cluster the presentations and varying degrees of collaborative planning among surgical and interventional services, these interventions are often applied in a stepwise manner or an institutional expertise–dependent manner primarily driven by devices looking for applications.

This observation puts the focus on the need to identify patients as soon as possible, selection of the best therapeutic option for each patient and development of an algorithm for management of PSL taking into consideration predictive factors for successful healing and resolution. Endoscopic failure also needs to be defined, in order to avoid therapeutic futility.

Taking all these considerations in account, in 2016, we decided to conduct an investigational project with the main aim of defining the role of endoscopic therapy in the treatment of UGI PSL. We also intended to explore their current management, define endoscopic failure and evaluate the effectiveness of endoscopic therapy and associated adverse events (AEs) as well predictive factors for successful closure and AE occurrence.

The research questions raised are important for gastroenterology and surgical practice. Our results can contribute to the improvement of knowledge on the best

therapeutic options and their application to different clinical conditions, on the real-life effectiveness of endoscopic therapy on PSL (excluding all other transmural defects), on the identification of predictors of successful endoscopic therapy and AE occurrence, as well as when to stop endoscopic therapy.

#### **Chapter II - Introduction**

In this chapter, a review of the literature is presented in five sections, addressing the major topics of this thesis: PSL (A); aims of therapy (B); leak specificities (C), endoscopic armamentarium (D) and endoscopic outcomes (E).

#### A) Post-surgical leaks

UGI PSL, although rare, are devastating complications as they prolong hospital stay and result in significant mortality. Occurrence of PSL negatively impacts other aspects of postoperative outcomes. They increase the median length of hospital stay, the delay before oral feeding, the risk of anastomotic stricture, and the risk of re-operation up to 60%. (6). Some authors have described a negative association between the occurrence of leaks and recurrence and long-term survival for esophago-gastric cancers (13), negatively impacting quality of life (14).

The frequency of UGI PSL is higher in cervical anastomosis than in intrathoracic anastomosis (13.6% vs 3%) (6, 15). This relates to the need for a longer gastric conduit, more likely positioned in the fundus (where the vascularity is more compromised), and increased risk of tension and/or compression at the junction between thorax and neck (6, 16). It is estimated at 8-26% after esophagectomy (17), 3-12% after total gastrectomy (5), 0.7-5% after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB), and 1-2% after sleeve gastrectomy (SG) (18, 19). Leaks may occur immediately post-surgery or more commonly several weeks later. Sleeve leaks are classified as acute (within 7 days), early (within 1–6 weeks), late (6–12 weeks), and chronic (after 12 weeks) (20). Acute leaks are commonly attributed to technical issues, such as anastomotic tension, stapler malfunction, and suture or staple-line seepage. More delayed leaks usually reflect healing insufficiencies, usually due to

ischemia at the staple-line or anastomosis (21-23).

Several risk factors for leaks have been identified, such as age, male gender, emergency surgery, smoking, alcohol abuse, American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score, obesity (BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) or underweight patients (BMI < 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), malnutrition (albumin < 3 g/dL), prolonged operative time, anemia, intraoperative blood loss, diabetes, hypertension, renal failure, cardiovascular disease, steroids use or atherosclerotic calcification of the aorta and the arteries supplying the gastric tube (16, 24-29). Identifying preoperative predictors of outcome can provide important information for early leak diagnosis.

The clinical presentation can vary, ranging from asymptomatic leaks, diagnosed on imaging for other reasons, to sepsis-related multiorgan failure. Many factors affect clinical presentation, such as the location of the anastomosis, the size of the defect, the ability to drain the fluid collection, and leakage containment. Common initial clinical signs include fever and intra-thoracic or intra-abdominal abscesses (16). In the early post-operative period, leaks commonly present with chest/abdominal pain, dyspnea, tachycardia, low urine output, elevated C-reactive protein, and leukocytosis. One must have a high degree of suspicion to make an early diagnosis. Tachycardia is the most sensitive indicator of an acute leak; however, chronic leaks have a more inert presentation. Inspection of surgical drains (if present) helps in the early identification of a surgical leak. The presence of digestive fluids, saliva-type fluid, and air discharge into drains are highly suggestive of the presence of a leak. Oral administration of staining solutions such as methylene blue may provide further evidence to the clinical suspicion of anastomotic leak (30).

Fluoroscopy with water-soluble contrast medium and computed tomography (CT) scan with oral contrast are the best imaging modalities for the diagnosis, however they are prone to false-negative test results. The sensitivity of X-ray with oral contrast


**Figure 1**. Endoscopic images of post-esophagectomy leak (a), post-gastrectomy leak (b), post-gastric bypass leak (c) and post-sleeve leak (d). *Author own images* 

ranges between 33 and 52% (31), with particularly poor results in cervical anastomoses (32). Leakage diagnosis by CT scan is supported by visualization of free or contained extraluminal gas, fluid, and/or contrast material in the mediastinum/abdomen, or by visualization of a transmural defect (33). In addition, CT scan allows inspection of regions beyond the esophago-gastric lumen. Detection of extraluminal manifestations as a

result of leakage may provide important information for initial therapeutic management. Endoscopic examination is crucial to help identifying the leak in cases of uncertainty (34) and to obtain additional information on local damage such as extent of disruption and determine surrounding tissue viability (35). Endoscopy [Figure 1] is a reliable diagnostic modality, since specificity and sensitivity can reach almost 95% (34), although the diagnostic value seems to be lower in cervical anastomosis (sensitivity 56%) (36). The combination of CT scan and endoscopy is emerging as the gold standard to diagnose PSL, as both the mucosal integrity and the perianastomotic conditions can be examined (16). Besides leak diagnosis, it is also important to diagnose downstream strictures that may be perpetuating the leak. On endoscopy, asymmetric staple lines may be seen, as well as twist/rotation of the gastric tube at the incisura angularis and a subtle tortuosity of movement of the scope. The objective determination of a SG leak into low or high-grade is based on fluoroscopic characteristics after injection of contrast immediately below the gastroesophageal junction, with the patient in the supine position. If the antrum fills before the leak, it is a low-grade stenosis. If the leak fills before the antrum with pooling of contrast in the proximal stomach and distal esophagus it is plausibly a high-grade stenosis.

PSL management should be based on several factors, with patient stability and time from surgery being probably the most important (10). The watch-and-wait approach often used by surgeons includes nothing by mouth, broad-spectrum antibiotic therapy (according to infectious parameters), anticholinergic medication (to reduce saliva), proton-pump inhibitors and prokinetics (to decrease leak volume), parenteral nutrition, and imaging directed drainage or diversion of gastrointestinal contents (37). Spontaneous closure rates of medically stable patients with conservative and radiological interventions are highly variable, with reported rates of 16% to 46% (18, 20). The caveat is which patients will need endoscopic or surgical management selection. Complex and bigger leaks are unlikely to heal spontaneously. Factors that predispose to delay or absence of spontaneous leak closure include older age (>65 years), malnutrition, duodenal leaks, high-output drainage (>500 ml/day), associated malignancy, previous radiation therapy, immunosuppression, sepsis, diabetes, renal failure, and chemotherapy (38-40).

If non-invasive measures fail, patients require surgical or endoscopic intervention, but this is often driven by local expertise, and based on availability of devices and accessories. In patients who undergo rescue or redo surgery, mortality increases to 15-30%, with recurrence occurring in 13% to 33% of the patients with an added mortality of 9% to 30% (41), as well as a 10-fold increase in cost of care of these patients (with an overall health care burden of approximately \$10 billion each year). Therefore, endoscopic therapy is often attempted first to avoid additional surgical morbidity.

### B) Aims of Therapy

The aims of PSL therapy are to re-establish digestive tract continuity, prevent or treat infections, prevent further contamination, drain collections, and provide nutritional support (14). Determining optimal therapy requires careful examination of patient clinical status, anastomotic defect characteristics (site, length, time, presence of necrosis), and a review of all available options, local expertise, and previous experience.

#### Surgical treatment

The choice of surgical options for PSL depends mostly on the leakage site and the presence of necrosis. It is usually limited to patients severely septic, with an uncontained leak (allowing irrigation and drainage of intra-abdominal collections), or with defects not amenable to endoscopic closure or who failed endoscopic treatment (6, 14, 42). Outcomes of salvage surgical procedures maybe exaggerated due to selection bias, as patients are generally sicker or have failed multiple previous therapies. Despite the high morbidity and mortality of salvage surgical therapy (43), one must be cognizant of the fact that there are instances where surgical therapy is necessary and should not be ignored if deemed appropriate, for fear of complications or a poor outcome.

For leaks associated with cervical anastomoses, the most common surgery involves wound opening, curettage of infected, necrotic and granulation tissue, and packing. However, external esophagostomy can be an option in the case of advanced local infection. To treat intrathoracic leaks, the surgical options are primarily anastomotic repair, reinforcement of the anastomosis with viable tissue, and esophageal diversion (44).

For intrabdominal leaks, surgical options include peritoneal washout, primary closure and feeding jejunostomy (or gastrostomy if gastric remnant), omentoplasty, fistulojejunostomy, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (in sleeve patients), or total gastrectomy

with Roux-en-Y esophagojejunostomy (45-47).

### **Endoscopic treatment**

The acceptance of endoscopy as the preferable modality for managing PSL, as well as the awareness of the need for early endoscopic management (11) is reflected by the increase in the number of patients that undergo their first endoscopy for leak management within 30 days of surgery over time (44% vs 75% before and after 2013) (48). Besides, a rise in esophageal stent placement to manage esophageal transmural defects has been observed, from 7% in 2007 to 30% in 2014 (49).

Multiple endoscopic sessions are often unavoidable and one must be capable of adapting the strategy based on the patient's anatomy, physiology, and response to therapy. As demonstrated in clinical model studies, the operating intraluminal pressure due to the endoscopy does not pose risks of anastomosis disruption (35). This way, endoscopy can be performed safely in the early postoperative period under carbon dioxide insufflation, general anesthesia, with fluoroscopic assistance.

Treatment is difficult and complicated by the lack of defined criteria, such as size of the leak, or existence of a wound cavity, for the choice of the best endoscopic treatment strategy. Unfortunately, to date there has been more of an eminence-based rather than an evidence-based therapeutic approach justified by the proclamation of the importance of individualized treatment strategies. The available endoscopic approaches range from primary and secondary closure techniques with the use of endoluminal suturing devices, over-the-scope clips (OTSCs), fibrin glue, and diversion with self-expandable metal stents (SEMS), to endoscopic internal drainage (EID) with the use of nasocystic drains or double-pigtail stents, endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT), and septotomy with or without pneumatic dilation. Because not all leaks are created equal and available technical skills vary, we are left with devising a logical management algorithm based on comparative effectiveness and retrospective data but grounded in sound physiologic principles of wound healing and cost effectiveness. The approach to a PSL should focus on clinical presentation and chronicity of the leak, correcting the underlying physiologic defect that predisposed and perpetuated the leak, minimizing the risk of chronic fistula formation, preserving the patient's ability to have enteral nutrition, and minimizing the use of costly, less effective endoscopic accessories and endoscopies.

**Chapter II - Introduction** 

### **C)** Leaks specificities

Anatomic and physiologic factors, apart from technical errors, are responsible for the development of leaks. Intrinsic esophageal anatomy with the lack of an esophageal serosa and the negative pressure within the thoracic cavity, may contribute to the development of esophagectomy leaks (16). Sufficient blood supply (50, 51) and adequate tension on the anastomosis site (50, 52) are essential for proper healing. Evidence about the effect of the extent and dosage of neoadjuvant chemoradiation or anastomotic techniques with the lowest leakage rates remains controversial (16, 53).

While foreign body material (staples, sutures, percutaneous drains) hamper proper healing, downstream obstruction distal to the surgical anastomosis such as anastomotic strictures (54), narrowing at the incisura angularis or twisted/kinked stomach (54, 55) result in a higher pressure proximally. The consequence is a leak at the area of least resistance. The majority of post-SG leaks (>90%) and RYGB leaks occur at the angle of His where the staple-line meets the gastroesophageal junction (56, 57), an area of intense intragastric pressure, thin gastric wall, susceptibility to ischemia owing to the single blood supply to the gastric pouch, as well as relative dysmotility. However, SG leaks may occur anywhere along the length of the sleeve at the staple line, while RYGB leaks may occur also at the gastrojejunal anastomosis, blind loop, jejunojejunal anastomosis or remnant stomach.

Independently from the surgical approach, technical precautions are commonly considered important aspects to decrease leak risk, as avoidance of excessive traction, compression or twist, incorrect number of sutures, as well as an adequate intraoperative fluid management.

31

### D) Endoscopic armamentarium

Endoscopic techniques for leak closure include close-cover-divert approaches (stents, clip closure, endoscopic suture, tissue sealants) [Figure 2] and active or passive internal drainage approaches (EVT, EID and endoscopic septotomy) [Figure 3]. In recent years, leak management has started to fall in the close-cover-divert approach versus the active or passive internal drainage approach.



**Figure 2.** Endoscopic images after OTSC placement (a), stent placement (b) and tissue selant and vicryl mesh placement (c). Fluoroscopic image showing combined therapy with OTSC and stent placement (d). *Author own images* 

### Stents

Endoscopic stents are cylindrical devices used to preserve or re-establish luminal patency (58). For gastrointestinal defects, the role of a stent is to seal the leak and divert gastrointestinal contents away from the site of leakage. Stents enable restoration of gut continuity, potentially allowing conversion from total parenteral nutrition to oral or enteral feeding (59). This is an off-label use of these devices. The appropriate selection of a particular stent requires an understanding of stent technology, such as stent's type (SEMS, self-expandable plastic stents [SEPS], biodegradable stents [BDS]), dimensions and degree of foreshortening, as well as location and features of the targeted defect.

Recent esophageal SEMS are usually made of nitinol, an alloy of nickel and titanium, allowing flexibility for placement at sharp angles but with less radial force than elgiloy SEMS (60, 61). Esophageal SEMS can be partially (PC) or fully covered (FC). The silicon coating completely covering the FC-SEMS is intended to easily remove the stent but this advantage is overshadowed by the higher trend toward migration (up to 30%). PC-SEMS may be preferable to FC-SEMS as tissue hyperplasia forms at the terminal ends of the stent, creating a watertight seal around the stent as well as decreasing the risk of migration. The major apprehension with the use of PC-SEMS is encountering difficulty during removal (62). However, techniques such as argon plasma coagulation (APC) to fulgurate the hyperplastic tissue (63), grasping the distal end of the stent and inverting it (64) or the stent-in-stent technique where a second FC-SEMS is placed within the initial PC-SEMS to decrease tissue ingrowth and cause pressure necrosis of existing hyperplastic tissue (65, 66) can be utilized to achieve successful stent removal. Stent dell time is highly variable and may range from 2 to 12 weeks (67), even though median stenting time to achieve healing is usually 4 to 8 weeks (68).

Specifically long designed SEMS with large stent diameters, that extend from the

33



**Figure 3.** Endoscopic images after endoscopic internal drainage (a & b) and after endoscopic vacuum therapy (c & d). *Author own images* 

distal esophagus to the duodenal bulb, may theoretically reduce intragastric pressure by bypassing the pylorus, long narrow gastric conduit and functional stenosis if present, and have a role in the treatment of SG leaks (69).

SEPS consist of a polyester body covered with silicone to prevent tissue ingrowth and polyester braids on the surface to prevent stent migration. Radiopaque markers are positioned at the middle and ends of the stent to allow for visualization of this nonmetallic device during fluoroscopy. SEPS are effective in sealing bowel wall defects, however, they have a propensity for migration (70). In addition, SEPS require mounting on a delivery system before deployment, making the process complicated compared with SEMS, which are ready for use (60). For these reasons, SEPS use has largely been replaced by SEMS use.

BDS are absorbable stents that degrade in 6 to 24 weeks. Degradation is accelerated by acid exposure. Therefore, acid-suppressive therapy may be warranted in certain situations (71). The radial force of BDS is weaker than that of SEMS (72), being maintained for 6 weeks following deployment before it is degraded. BDS negate the inconvenience of stent removal, however, the severity of tissue hyperplasia cannot be accurately predicted (73) and may result in dysphagia and stenosis that necessitates dilation in approximately 50% of cases (62).

### **Over-the-scope clips**

OTSCs, unlike through-the-scope clips, have a powerful compression force that can result in approximation of even indurated tissue (74). The memory-shape nitinol OTSC is analogous to a "bear claw" in configuration and is loaded onto a transparent cap that is mounted at the tip of the endoscope. The OTSC, therefore, requires either preloading or withdrawal of the endoscope for mounting of the clip, similar to a variceal band ligator. OTSCs are designed to fit on endoscopes of various sizes (OTSC caps of 11, 12, and 14 mm internal diameters) and are also available in 3 types of teeth configuration, which include the blunt or atraumatic type (A type), the traumatic type with short pointed teeth (T type) and the traumatic type with long pointed teeth (GC type), as well as 3 or 6 mm cap depth. The set-up and deployment of the OTSC is similar to a variceal band ligator, as the cap mounted at the tip of the endoscope pulls in the target tissue or defect because of vacuum suction. Tissue or defect entrapment into the cap can be facilitated by a triprong anchor retraction device if the tissue is indurated and scarred or by a "twin grasper" forceps whose action enables approximation of the opposite edges of a pliable gaping

35

defect for efficient pulling of the entire defect into the cap before clip deployment.

Placement of the OTSC may be challenging due to limited access, restricted mobility, and suboptimal alignment with the target lesion. Deployment of an OTSC in a less than optimal manner makes subsequent repair very difficult. A misdeployed clip may be removed with high power APC (with the potential for transmural burn injury and delayed perforation while cutting the clip metal), or with a dedicated device (remOVE system, Ovesco, Tuebingen, Germany) based on a fast and efficient direct current (75). Application of ice-cold normal saline on the clip for one minute, to lower the mechanical resistance of the nitinol frame prior to its extraction by a standard grasping forceps, has also been reported (76).

Closure of large defects that requires more than one OTSC may not be effective as the concave configuration of these clips results in a gap even between two closely placed clips. Another caveat during OTSC placement is inadvertent entrapment of accessories, such as the tri-prong anchor or twin grasper, following clip deployment when these accessories have not been fully retracted into the OTSC cap. OTSC placement requires care, as surrounding healthy and pliable tissue can easily be suctioned inadvertently into the cap and, if passed unrecognized, resulting in complete luminal closure following clip deployment.

In general, OTSCs should be used in situations where the tissue margins are still malleable and the entire target defect can be suctioned or retracted into the cap. They are usually reserved for completion closure of large anastomotic leaks that have been reduced by other measures until the defect size is small enough to be amenable for OTSC closure.

### **Endoscopic suturing**

Presently, most experience is limited to the OverStitch device (Apollo Endosurgery, Austin, Texas), which requires a Olympus double channel therapeutic gastroscope and familiarity with the multistep process associated with activation of the device. Endoscopic suturing with the OverStitch system is restricted to readily accessible areas of the gut owing to instrument configuration and need for a double channel endoscope. In 2018, Apollo released the Overstitch Sx, which can be mounted on more than 20 different types of single-channel gastroscopes manufactured by 4 different endoscope manufacturers. The suturing system enables placement of polypropylene or polydioxanone sutures in an interrupted or continuous fashion without the need to remove the endoscope for suture reloading. Accessories, such as the helix device, can be used to anchor and retract tissue into the suturing arm to facilitate suture placement.

Recently, the X-Tack Endoscopic HeliX Tacking System, which is a through-the-scope suture-based device designed for closure of large, wide, and irregularly shaped defects, was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for soft tissue approximation (77). The X-Tack device is composed of four, 5mm, surgical steel helix tacks tethered on a single 3-0 polypropylene suture which runs through an eyelet near the mid-point on each tack. Each helix tack is deployed sequentially through a  $\geq$ 2.8mm working channel of any commercially available gastroscope or colonoscope, without need for instrument withdrawal from the patient. The tacks are screwed into healthy target tissue adjacent to the defect or stent, followed by approximation of the margins by successive gathering of the tacks with applied suture tension and placement of a final cinch to secure the construct (77, 78).

37

### **Tissue sealants**

Tissue compatible glues are either derivative of proteins involved in coagulation or glue such as cyanoacrylate. Fibrin glue, which consists of human fibrinogen and human thrombin combined with antifibrinolytic agents, is the most commonly used sealant. It is a tissue-compatible adhesive that works in a double manner. It mechanically occludes the wall defect and plays a predominant role in wound healing, inducing cellular response to tissue damage, forming matrix-building strands, which promote neovascularization and fibroblast proliferation (79). Although fibrin glue contains antifibrinolytic agents, accelerated degradation particularly in the setting of gastrointestinal contents or infection remains a concern and, therefore, fibrin glue is considered a poor scaffolding material. Owing to these concerns, recent studies have evaluated infill materials, such as absorbable Vicryl mesh, Surgisis (Biodesign, Cook Medical Inc, Bloomington MA) an acellular matrix extracted from the porcine small intestine submucosa that stimulates proliferation and formation of fibroblasts in the region of wounds and incorporates into the scar without initiating a foreign body inflammatory reaction (80), and BIO-A (W.L. Gore Corporation, Newark, DE) created from synthetic polymers that are approved as anal fistula plugs

Cyanoacrylate, a synthetic glue working as a mechanical sealant, has high adhesive and high antibacterial properties, and thus is suitable for application in infectious sites. It is eliminated by hydrolysis after a significant time period (1–6 months) (81), however, the poor mechanical properties of the film, brittle nature, possible proinflammatory effect as well as the risk of damage of the endoscope because of its rapid polymerization make cyanoacrylate a second-choice method (82).

#### Endoscopic vacuum therapy

The concept of EVT is that the negative pressure assists wound healing by draining inflammatory exudates and secretions, decreasing bacterial contamination and edema, and by promoting neovascularization and granulation tissue with subsequent epithelialization (16, 83). In EVT, a polyurethane foam sponge tailored into a shape that fits into the wound's dimensions and geometry, as estimated by the endoscopist, is attached at the tip of a polyvinyl chloride suction tube using sutures applied at the proximal and distal ends of the sponge (84-86). It is critical to ensure that the sponge size is smaller than the wound cavity to allow collapse and subsequent closure of the latter. For successful drainage, the side ports of the tube must be in contact with the sponge. At every endoscopic session, the wound size is reassessed and a sponge with appropriate dimensions is fashioned for introduction into the wound cavity.

In all, 2 techniques that are commonly employed in EVT include the back-pack method and the overtube method. The back-pack method involves placement of the sponge drainage system parallel to the endoscope by dragging it to the target site using endoscopic forceps. In the overtube method, the sponge is simply pushed down through the tube (84-88). Endoscopic forceps are typically used to facilitate entry of the sponge into hollow spaces and wound cavities that are anatomically difficult to access. A continuous vacuum pressure of 100-125 mm Hg is applied through the transnasally placed tube. The tube is connected to a vacuum pump externally to maintain continuous pressure (87, 88).

In case the wound cavity has a narrow opening, it is endoscopically dilated to facilitate insertion of the sponge drainage system. However, if the extra-luminal cavity itself is small, the sponge may be placed intra-luminally adjacent to the cavity. For a substantially large cavity, up to 2 sponges can be placed. On subsequent sessions, if the

39

**Chapter II - Introduction** 

wound cavity size has significantly reduced in size with no active drainage, the sponge may be placed intra-luminally and subsequently removed once the cavity has completely collapsed. After initial placement of the sponge drainage system, the sponge is changed regularly every 3–4 days for intracavitary sponges (to prevent granulation tissue ingrowth that makes the removal of the sponge difficult) and up to 1-week interval for intraluminal sponges (89), until satisfactory cavity closure is achieved. The endpoint should be to reduce the wound cavity size to a radius < 1cm and depth < 2cm, with formation of a pseudo-diverticulum or a rather small opening that can later be closed using, for example, an OTSC. With the concomitant use of antibiotics and adequate nutritional support through tube feeding, defect closure using the EVT technique can generally be achieved within 15-30 days (90).

There are, however, limitations associated with the use of EVT. First, a transnasal tube must remain in situ for at least 3-4 weeks. Second, multiple endoscopic sessions are required for periodic replacement of the sponge system, increasing the cost of the procedure. Third, an anatomically difficult to access cavity by virtue of its narrow opening necessitates endoscopic dilatation (with potential for AEs), whereas a small cavity warrants placement of the sponge intra-luminally instead of within the cavity itself, which may be less efficient at absorbing secretions and collapsing the cavity (90).

### Endoscopic internal drainage

The rationale of EID with deployment of one or more pigtail plastic stents (or nasocystic catheters in cases of large collections requiring lavage to eliminate pus and debris (11)) across the leak orifice is to internally drain fluid collections, so the fluid content can pass from the perigastric collection into the digestive lumen, with progressive reduction in the collection size until it eventually becomes a virtual cavity (91). Meanwhile,

**Chapter II - Introduction** 

a foreign body reaction in the edges of the leak is triggered by the pigtail stents, promoting re-epithelialization over the stent and leak closure, resulting in an all-in-one procedure without the need of further treatment. A residual small cavity like a pseudodiverticulum is common at the end of the process without any clinical repercussion (92). In some cases, the leak orifice is not clearly identified or the communicating tract between the digestive lumen and the fluid collection is complex, then, internal drainage may be accomplished by endoscopic ultrasound guided drainage, such as for pseudocysts or other postsurgical collections (11, 92-94). In addition to stenting, debridement (endoscopic necrosectomy) may also be needed in cases of infected collections containing necrotic tissue (94-96).

The appropriate time interval for stent exchange or oral diet resumption remains to be defined. While stent exchange may be performed on a regular basis (ex.: every 2 to 6 weeks, until healing of the leak is achieved), to avoid stent obstruction, allow necrosectomy and stimulate tissue granulation (92), others remove the stents 4 months after complete clinical resolution (11), even though in most patients successfully treated, no other endoscopic procedures are required as stents often migrate spontaneously. Oral diet is usually started in the first 24 to 48 hours after confirming biological and clinical improvement with EID (11), or following confirmation of collection reduction in CT scan (92).

### Endoscopic septotomy

This procedure derives from the endoscopic treatment for Zencker diverticulum. The principle behind this technique relates to higher intraluminal pressures within the sleeve compared with the perigastric cavity, promoting flow of contents through the leak. To equalize these pressures, the 'septum' between the perigastric cavity and the gastric lumen is cut using APC or a needle knife. This procedure allows internal drainage of the

41

leak and deviates oral intake. The cut should not exceed the bottom of the perigastric cavity and the eventual downstream stenosis in the gastric lumen (perpetuating the leak) should be treated as well, in order to reduce the intragastric pressure. Multiple endoscopic procedures may be required with more pseudo-septum being incised each time to achieve successful healing (54).

### E) Endoscopic outcomes

#### Stents

Stents are the endoscopic treatment for oncologic and bariatric leaks where most evidence is available. Clinical success ranges from 48 to 100% (65, 97-110). Van Halsema et al.. (111) reported a clinical success of 81.4% (201/247) for PSL. Based on three systematic reviews on the use of PC-SEMS, FC-SEMS, and SEPS in oncologic leaks and perforations (112-114), clinical success was 81 to 87% with no difference among stent types. Repeated endoscopic intervention was needed in 17 to 25% of patients and 7 to 13% required surgical intervention. Treatment failure in oncologic leaks may be higher when longer delays until stent placement (1), persistent leakage after initial stent placement (115), leaks of the proximal esophagus, stents traversing the gastroesophageal junction, leak defects larger than 6cm and leaks associated with distal conduit leaks (116). A pooled analysis of 20 retrospective studies showed a median indwell time of 5 to 7 weeks for FC-SEMS and 7 to 10 weeks for PC-SEMS (111).

Even though SEMS are burdened by an AE rate of 20 to 72% (117), most of them are conservatively managed and not severe. However, severe bleeding and perforation may occur (65, 108, 112-114). Nausea, vomiting and abdominal discomfort are common and usually transient, but severe stent intolerance has been reported, leading to early stent removal. The main drawback is the high rate of migration.

Regarding bariatric leaks, one meta-analysis published in 2011, reported a leak closure of 88%, with stent migration occurring in 17% of cases (118). However, the largest studies have been published after this meta-analysis, with rates of leak closure and AEs ranging from 65 to 100% and 14 to 86%, respectively, with migration being the most frequent complication with rates of 5%-67% (65, 97-108). Multiple endoscopic sessions

using multiple stents as well as other adjunctive therapies may be necessary in order to achieve leak closure (101, 103, 110, 119-121). A recent meta-analysis (122) reported a leak closure of 89%, with stent migration occurring in 23% of the cases, explaining the higher success rate due to more frequent use of stents designed to treat post-bariatric leaks. Nonetheless, recent reports using bariatric stents show similar success rates without statistically significant differences in migration rate when compared with conventional stents (108, 123). Post-bariatric leaks larger than 1cm (124) and longer delays between leak development and stenting also impact endoscopic outcomes (65, 103, 109).

#### **Over-the-scope clips**

The effectiveness and safety of OTSCs have been reported in some studies, usually combining all types of transmural defects. Haito-Chavez et al. (125) reported the efficacy of OTSCs for anastomotic leaks in a total of 30 cases, with a success rate of 73%. Clinical success is higher when application of OTSC within one week of diagnosis, minimal inflammation or low level of fibrosis (126, 127). Increasing failure rates for leaks with more than 13mm have been reported (127). Baron et al. (128) and Honegger et al. (129) reported a success rate below 33% for post-esophagectomy leaks, maybe due to the anatomical features of the esophagus (narrow lumen).

A recent systematic review (130), which accounted for 1517 cases, reported OTSC results in 97 anastomotic leaks, with an overall success rate of 66%. Another systematic review considering only anastomotic leaks reported a clinical success of 73% (131). Long-term success might be higher when OTSCs are applied as primary therapy (69.1% vs 46.9%) (125).

OTSCs use in post-bariatric leaks was recently evaluated in a systematic review (122), with a successful closure of 67.1%. Several endoscopic sessions may be needed ranging

from 2 to 7 in one study (132).

### **Endoscopic suture**

The largest study evaluating endoscopic suture included 122 patients, of which 20 had anastomotic leaks, with a clinical success of 27% in leak closure (133). A case series of full-thickness endoscopic suturing of post SG leaks suggested that suturing alone may be sufficient in treating small acute leaks, however, larger leaks may require adjunctive SEMS placement (134).

### Tissue sealants

The success rate of tissue sealants is highly variable in the literature, ranging from 55.7 to 96.8% (81, 135-137). The efficacy of glue sealants as the primary treatment of PSL has been questioned (138), as they are frequently used as an adjunct to other treatments, namely stents and clips (81, 82). It might be more suitable for small leaks (<15 mm) or residual small collections after the use of other techniques (82). Complete leak closure might require multiple sealant applications, or the use of vicryl plugs to improve effectiveness (137).

### Endoscopic vacuum therapy

The clinical success rate of EVT varies widely, ranging from 66.7 to 100%. Loske et al. (139) and Laukoetter et al. (140) reported leaks closure rates of 95.2% and 92.3% in 21 and 39 patients, with median treatment durations of 11 (range 4–46) and 20 days (range 3 - 104), respectively. Bludau et al. (141) reported a healing rate of 77.9% in 59 patients. In several of these studies additional therapies like OTSCs or stents were performed after EVT therapy.

Recent systematic reviews on oncologic leaks (142) report 79.5% and 90% of clinical

success for esophagectomy and gastrectomy leaks, respectively, with a stenosis rate after treatment of 15.9% and 9.2%, respectively (142). Neoadjuvant treatment, rescue application and intraluminal location have all been associated with a higher risk for EVT failure (143).

In general, EVT is a safe procedure with AEs ranging from 4.1 to 12.0%, the majority being minor events related to minor bleeding upon sponge exchange, sponge dislodgement and discomfort or distress from repeated procedures (144). However, major events like bleeding from sponge erosion into small or major cardiovascular structures, rupture of the descending aorta or bronchoesophageal fistula formation may occur (87, 140, 145). Stricture formation after EVT therapy, due to vigorous formation of granulation tissue, may occur, requiring endoscopic dilation (146).

#### Endoscopic internal drainage

In the largest series reporting on EID in post-bariatric leaks (92), double pigtails were delivered as a first line approach in 67 patients, with leak closure achieved in 78% of the patients, after a mean of 58 days (range 10-206) and an average of 3.14 sessions (2-16). Among them, 42 had a surgical drain placed close to the leak. Bouchard et al. (11) reported EID outcomes on 33 patients with fluid collections after SG or RYGB (in 19 patients after previous unsuccessful endoscopic treatment), with clinical success in 78.8%, after a mean of 115 days (range 23-773). Gonzalez et al. (91) reported outcomes in 44 patients with SG leaks, either as first-line treatment (n=22) or after prior therapy (n=22). Efficacy was comparable between groups (86% vs 82%, respectively), with a median number of endoscopies of  $3\pm6$  vs  $4.5\pm2.4$ . Excluding follow-up time, healing time at endoscopy was 46 days.

AEs such as discomfort, ulceration, dysphagia, and splenic hematoma are rare (11). When combined with surgical cleansing in patients presenting with severe sepsis, EID allows early removal of surgical drainage preventing chronic fistula tract formation (147). Longer delays between diagnosis and treatment, larger leaks, sepsis, presence of gastrobronchial fistula and previous OTSC deployment were all risk factors for treatment failure (48).

### Endoscopic septotomy

Endoscopic septotomy may be used as first-line or salvage therapy with clinical success ranging from 70 to 85% (147-149). Baretta et al. (54) reported their experience with endoscopic septotomy in 27 patients with post-bariatric leaks. After 1 to 6 endoscopic sessions, all patients achieved leak resolution, with a mean time to closure of 18 days. More than half of the patients performed additional dilation of stenosis at the angularis incisura. Complications include perforation and bleeding (150).

## **Chapter III - Aims**

The main aim of this thesis was to define the role of endoscopic therapy in the treatment of UGI PSL.

As specific aims, it was intended to:

1.Emphasize the different available endoscopic techniques for the treatment of UGI PSL

2.Explore the current management of UGI PSL

3.Define when to consider endoscopic failure

4. Evaluate the effectiveness of endoscopic therapy and associated AEs

5.Identify factors associated with successful endoscopic therapy and AE occurrence

## **Chapter IV - Results (Publications)**

## A) Choosing the Appropriate Endoscopic Armamentarium for Treatment of Anastomotic Leaks

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, Rui Morais, Guilherme Macedo, Mouen A. Khashab

Am J Gastroenterol. 2019 Mar;114(3):367-371

doi: 10.1038/s41395-018-0412-1

Cited by 11 articles

(Google Scholar, 2022, January 16)

Impact factor 10.241

(Thomson-Reuters, 2019)

Rank 9 of 147 on Gastroenterology journals (Q1)

(Scimago Journal & Country Rank, 2019)



# Choosing the Appropriate Endoscopic Armamentarium for Treatment of Anastomotic Leaks

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, MD<sup>1</sup>, Rui Morais, MD<sup>1</sup>, Guilherme Macedo, MD PhD<sup>1</sup> and Mouen A. Khashab, MD<sup>2</sup>

Am J Gastroenterol https://doi.org/10.1038/s41395-018-0412-1

#### INTRODUCTION

Gastrointestinal leaks usually occur following surgery, and are defined as a communication between the intra- and extra-luminal compartments as a result of a defect in the integrity of the gastrointestinal wall [1, 2]. They can be classified as acute (<7 days), early (1-6 weeks), late (6-12 weeks), and chronic (>12 weeks). The aims of therapy are to reestablish digestive tract continuity, prevent/treat infections, prevent further contamination, drain collections, and provide nutritional support [3]. Endoscopic closure can be achieved using a variety of modalities; however, additional percutaneous/surgical drainage of collections is often required, as well as wide-spectrum antibiotics and antifungal therapy, strict fasting, enteral nutrition, pain control, gastric acid suppression, and hemodynamic monitoring and support [4]. The approach chosen is largely institutional and is based on availability of devices and accessories. Consensus regarding the optimal timing of intervention is still lacking; however, shorter periods between diagnosis and beginning of treatment are probably associated with a higher likelihood of successful closure.

#### **CLIPS**

In general, through-the-scope (TTS) clips are not large or robust enough to allow closure of leaks [5]. Over-the-scope clips (OTSC) (Ovesco OTSC [Ovesco Endoscopy AG, Tübingen, Germany]) and Padlock Clip<sup>TM</sup> [Aponos Medical, Kingston, NH, USA] have been developed to overcome TTS clip limitations. The deployment system is similar to that of a variceal band ligator with different features/sizes of applicator caps and clips. A grasping or anchoring device can also be used for better approximation of tissue margins and for retracting more tissue into the cap (Fig. 1). Success might be improved by epithelial ablation/damage prior to OTSC application in order to stimulate tissue regeneration. OTSC are approved for closure of luminal defects up to 20 mm in size. Success rates up to 60-73% have been reported [6]; however, an "en face view" and pliable tissue for successful deployment are needed, as well as defects are relatively small (from10 to 20 mm). However, larger defects can occasionally be closed with placement of multiple OTSCs. It is important to note that recurrent leak may occur after initial success due to OTSC displacement (Fig. 2).

#### **STENTS**

Different types of stents are available, including partially covered self-expandable metal stents (PCSEMS), fully covered SEMS (FCSEMS), and biodegradable stents (BDS) [7]. Data regarding the use of BDS are limited, and comparative studies with SEMS are still lacking; however, the radial force of BDS is weaker than that of SEMS. Besides, BDS require mounting on a delivery system before deployment, making the process complicated compared with SEMS, which are preassembled and ready for use. Specifically long-designed metal stents (to allow extension from the esophagus to the antrum) with large stent diameters (in order to achieve optimal adherence to the esophagus), large cell mesh (making the stent softer in order to increase the flexibility and reduce trauma to the mucosa), and antimigration features (outer double layers coated with silicone) may also have a role in the treatment of post-laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy leaks [8].

Large-diameter SEMS are often desirable in order to provide optimal sealing of leak and divert luminal contents. However, large-diameter SEMS often cause intense chest pain, which usually abates after 48 h, but may persist beyond the early post-procedural period, necessitating stent removal. Sometimes, the leak cannot be effectively covered by the stent; in these cases, stent placement can be combined with closure with clips or sealing of the leak with plugs [9]. The duration of stenting should be individualized (4 to 12 weeks); studies report lower adverse events with shorter dwell times. Clinical success rates (around 80%) are similar between stents; however, migration rates (up to 30%) are higher with selfexpandable plastic stents vs SEMS and FCSEMS vs PCSEMS [2]. Although the migration rate may be lower, PCSEMS may be difficult to remove after the leak has resolved; longer dwell times often require additional measures to debride tissue ingrowth at the stent flanges, including argon plasma coagulation or "stent-in-stent"

<sup>1</sup>Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar São João, Porto, Portugal. <sup>2</sup>Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, MD, USA. Correspondence: E.R. (email: edu.gil.pinto@gmail.com) Received 15 May 2018; accepted 29 August 2018

© 2018 The American College of Gastroenterology

The American Journal of GASTROENTEROLOGY





Fig. 1 Upper endoscopy. a Leak orifice with 3 mm diameter after total gastrectomy; b placement of a 12-mm over-the-scope clip (OTSC) after retracting the tissue margins with an anchoring device and suction of the defect into the applicator cap; c OTSC correctly placed



Fig. 2 Upper endoscopy. a Anastomotic leak with a diameter of 12mm after Ivor-Lewis esophagectomy; b OTSC correctly placed; c leak recurrence 1 week later due to OTSC displacement; d fluoroscopic image with self-expandable metal stent (SEMS) covering the leak and the OTSC

technique to free the embedded portions of the stent [10]. Suturing FCSEMS may render a migration rate similar to that of PCSEMS, without the difficulties in removal of PCSEMS [11].

FCSEMS are usually the first option (Fig. 3). Due to the high migration rate, prophylactic suturing [11] or OTSC [12] (to anchor the stent to the esophageal wall) should be performed additionally. PCSEMS should be reserved for patients who have experienced migration despite anchoring maneuvers and in patients

The American Journal of GASTROENTEROLOGY

with refractory leaks due to incomplete sealing between the stent and esophageal wall, as PCSEMS maximize proximal sealing with tissue ingrowth and overgrowth. Location of the defect at the proximal cervical esophagus, stent traversing the gastroesophageal junction, longer leaks, an anastomotic leak associated with a more distal conduit leak, persistent leakage after initial stent placement, and decreased physical performance preoperatively all predict unsuccessful closure [1].

www.nature.com/ajg





Fig. 3 Upper endoscopy. a Anastomotic leak occupying more than 50% of the luminal circumference after total gastrectomty; b SEMS system delivery alongside anastomotic leak; c immediately after placement of a fully covered SEMSs



Fig. 4 Upper endoscopy. a Anastomotic leak with a diameter of 4 cm after gastric bypass 45 cm from the incisors; b use of the longer Esosponge overtube to assist on sponge intracavitary placement; c polyurethane sponge inverted upside down in the intraluminal gastric pouch and jejunal efferent limb to optimize apposition between the leak and the sponge; d fluoroscopic image with no contrast extravastion at the level of the anastomosis

#### ENDOSCOPIC VACUUM THERAPY (EVT)

EVT is a promising new approach for management of anastomotic leaks, even with previous failure with stents. By endoscopic insertion of a polyurethane sponge into the defect cavity and transnasal application of external vacuum (100–125 mmHg), defect closure and effective drainage are united. Despite the need for multiple procedures, EVT may result in complete leakage closure [13]. The use of an overtube is recommended to ensure easy passage of the sponge up to the location of interest. Lowerlocated leaks may be harder to reach. Two encrusted overtubes, one longer overtube (Fig. 4), or an additional suture loop placed at the tip of the sponge (backpack technique) may be used to facilitate placement. Depending on the size of the defect, the sponge may be placed intracavitary or in the lumen of the esophagus, covering the leak. Intraluminal EVT might be easier and safer to place than intracavitary EVT; nevertheless, leak closure might be

© 2018 The American College of Gastroenterology

The American Journal of GASTROENTEROLOGY



HOW I APPROACH IT



Fig. 5 Upper endoscopy. a Anastomotic leak with associated fistula with a diameter of 4 mm after Ivor-Lewis esophagectomy; b combined endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT) with a fully covered SEMS (stent-over-sponge [SOS]) after unsuccessful closure with EVT alone; c esophageal lumen after SEMS removal showing sponge displacement to the opposite wall of the leak; d, e endoscopic and fluoroscopic image showing persistence of the anastomotic leak and associated fistula despite previous SEMS treatment (fully and partially covered), EVT, SOS, combined vycril mesh and fibrin glue placement; f immediately after placement of a biodegradable stent



Fig. 6 Upper endoscopy. a Anastomotic leakage; b placement of the sponge partially in the mediastinal cavity and partially in the esophageal lumen; c complete closure of the anastomotic defect

more difficult to achieve with intraluminal EVT alone. Apposition of the sponge to the leak may be suboptimal with intraluminal placement, especially in dilated esophagus. Combined EVT treatment with a SEMS (stent-over-sponge) may be useful by directing the vacuum force toward the cavity by sealing the sponge from the gastrointestinal lumen [14]. However, efforts must be taken that the sponge stays apposed to the leak, since the SEMS may displace it (Fig. 5). In large leakage cavities or in cavities apart from each other, up to two sponges can be placed separately to allow rapid and sufficient drainage. With diminishing defect size, sponge placement could be changed from its initial intracavitary position to an intraluminal position. The sponge should be changed every 3 to 5 days, until complete healing of the esophageal defect is achieved (Fig. 6). Successful closure of 80–100% has

The American Journal of GASTROENTEROLOGY



5

HOW I APPROACH

been reported for EVT, with demonstrated superiority to stents in some studies [2].

#### **OTHER ENDOSCOPIC TECHNIQUES**

#### Endoscopic internal drainage (EID)

Similarly to endoscopic drainage of peripancreatic collections (often requiring multiple endoscopic sessions), EID, by temporary placement of trans-gastrointestinal plastic stent(s), has also a place in management of anastomotic leaks; however, it must be integrated into a tailored therapeutic approach based on the anatomical location of the leak, clinical presentation, presence or absence of external drainage, and the timing of treatment after the original insult [15]. EID can be used in acute and chronic leaks with associated collections; better results may be achieved with intra-abdominal leaks and when several pigtail stents can be delivered side-by-side to occlude the leak defect. EVT may be a better approach in mediastinal collections, as they are more difficult to manage.

#### Endoscopic suturing

Closure of gastrointestinal leaks with sutures has been successfully demonstrated [1], although endoscopic suturing (OverStitch device, Apollo Endosurgery, Austin, TX, USA) is technically more challenging than clip placement and requires additional training and expertise. Endoscopic suturing allows closure of larger defects and permits full-thickness and robust closure.

#### CONCLUSION

Gastrointestinal leaks are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality. Endoscopic therapies currently available include clipping, stenting, full-thickness suturing, EID, and EVT. Closing the leak with tissue apposition techniques (OTSC/suturing) or diversion therapy (SEMS) may not be the ideal treatment strategy, especially in late or chronic leaks. EVT will probably have a major role in anastomotic leaks. After closure of the leak by stent placement or clips, the drainage of these cavities can be insufficient, accounting for many cases of clinical failure. EVT allows optimal drainage of the cavity, leading to debridement of the cavity with ensuing granulation, utilizing the concept of keeping the fistula open. Even though comparative trials are needed to allow creation of treatment algorithms, multimodality therapy is often required. More important than which technique is better, they should be considered complementary. In several cases, more than one endoscopic approach is used concomitantly, while in other cases therapies are applied sequentially depending on the initial clinical response.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Guarantor of the article: Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, MD. Specific author contributions: Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto: conception of article, drafting of article, critical review and final manuscript approval; Rui Morais: drafting of article; Guilherme Macedo: critical review and final manuscript approval; Mouen Khashab: drafting of article, critical review and final manuscript approval.

#### Financial support: None.

Potential competing interests: Mouen Khashab is on the medical advisory board for Boston Scientific and Olympus, and he is a consultant for Boston Scientific, Olympus, and Medtronic. The remaining authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### REFERENCES

- Di Leo M, Maselli R, Ferrara EC, et al. Endoscopic management of 1. benign esophageal ruptures and leaks. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol. 2017:15:268-84
- Bemelman WA, Baron TH. Endoscopic management of transmural 2 defects including leaks, perforations, and fistulae. Gastroenterology. 2018;154:1938-41.e1. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.01.067.
- Schaheen L, Blackmon SH, Nason KS. Optimal approach to the manage-3. ment of intrathoracic esophageal leak following esophagectomy: a systematic review. Am J Surg. 2014;208:536-43.
- Messager M, Warlaumont M, Renaud F, et al. Recent improvements in the management of esophageal anastomotic leak after surgery for cancer. Eur I Surg Oncol. 2017;43:258-69.
- Stavropoulos SN, Modayil R, Friedel D. Closing perforations and postperforation management in endoscopy: esophagus and stomach. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2015;25:29–45. Haito-Chavez Y, Law JK, Kratt T, et al. International multicenter experi-
- 6. ence with an over-the-scope clipping device for endoscopic management of GI defects (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;80:610-22.
- 7 Spaander MC, Baron TH, Siersema PD, et al. Esophageal stenting for benign and malignant disease: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Clinical Guideline. Endoscopy. 2016;48:939-48.
- 8. Tringali A, Bove V, Perri V, et al. Endoscopic treatment of post-laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy leaks using a specifically designed metal stent. Endoscopy. 2017;49:64-8.
- Eisendrath P, Deviere J. Major complications of bariatric surgery: endosco-9. py as first-line treatment. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;12:701-10. Law R, Baron TH. Choosing the appropriate esophageal stent for your patient. Am J Gastroenterol. 2016;111:1669–71. 10
- 11. Ngamruengphong S, Sharaiha R, Sethi A, et al. Fully-covered metal stents with endoscopic suturing vs. partially-covered metal stents for benign upper gastrointestinal diseases: a comparative study. Endosc Int Open. 2018;6:E217-23.
- Irani S, Baron TH, Gluck M, et al. Preventing migration of fully covered 12 esophageal stents with an over-the-scope clip device (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;79:844-51.
- 13. Mennigen R, Harting C, Lindner K, et al. Comparison of endoscopic vacuum therapy versus stent for anastomotic leak after esophagectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19:1229–35.
- Valli PV, Mertens JC, Kröger A, et al. Stent-over-sponge (SOS): a novel 14. technique complementing endosponge therapy for foregut leaks and perforations. Endoscopy. 2018;50:148–53. Eisendrath P, Devière J. Digestive leaks: an approach tailored to both
- 15. indication and anatomy. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4:E652-3.

# B) Esophageal stenting for benign and malignant disease: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline - Update 2021

Manon C.W. Spaander, Ruben D. van der Bogt, Todd H. Baron, David Albers, Daniel Blero, Antonella de Ceglie, Massimo Conio, László Czakó, Simon Everett, Juan-Carlos Garcia-Pagán, Angels Ginès, Manol Jovani, Alessandro Repici, **Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto**, Peter D. Siersema, Lorenzo Fuccio, Jeanin E. van Hooft

Endoscopy. 2021 Jul;53(7):751-762

doi: 10.1055/a-1475-0063

Cited by 2 articles (Google scholar, 2022, January 16)

Impact factor 10.093

(Thomson-Reuters, 2021)

Rank 15 of 144 on Gastroenterology journals (Q1) (Scimago Journal & Country Rank, 2020)

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto was responsible for the section "Benign disease - Leaks, fistulas, and perforations"
#### Thieme

# Esophageal stenting for benign and malignant disease: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline – Update 2021



#### Authors

Manon C. W. Spaander<sup>1</sup>, Ruben D. van der Bogt<sup>1</sup>, Todd H. Baron<sup>2</sup>, David Albers<sup>3</sup>, Daniel Blero<sup>4</sup>, Antonella de Ceglie<sup>5</sup>, Massimo Conio<sup>6</sup>, László Czakó<sup>7</sup>, Simon Everett<sup>8</sup>, Juan-Carlos Garcia-Pagán<sup>9</sup>, Angels Ginès<sup>10</sup>, Manol Jovani<sup>11</sup>, Alessandro Repici<sup>12, 13</sup>, Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto<sup>14</sup>, Peter D. Siersema<sup>15</sup>, Lorenzo Fuccio<sup>16</sup>, Jeanin E. van Hooft<sup>17</sup>

#### Institutions

- 1 Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands
- 2 Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, USA
- 3 Department of Internal Medicine and Gastroenterology, Elisabeth-Krankenhaus Academic Hospital, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany
- 4 Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatopancreatology and Digestive Oncology, CUB Erasme Hospital, ULB (Free University of Brussels), Brussels, Belgium
- 5 Department of Gastroenterology, Ospedale Civile di Sanremo, Sanremo (IM), Italy
- 6 Department of Gastroenterology, Ospedale Santa Corona, Pietra Ligure (SV), Italy
- 7 First Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary
- 8 Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust, Leeds, UK
- 9 Barcelona Hepatic Hemodynamic Laboratory, Liver Unit – Health Care Provider of the European Reference Network on Rare Liver Disorders (ERN-Liver) – Hospital Clinic, IDIBAPS and CIBERehd, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain
- 10 Gastroenterology Department, Hospital Clinic of Barcelona, IDIBAPS and CIBERehd, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain
- 11 Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, Maryland, USA
- 12 Endoscopy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Rozzano, Milan, Italy

- 13 Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Pieve Emanuele, Milan, Italy
- 14 Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar São João, Porto, Portugal
- 15 Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, The Netherlands
- 16 Gastroenterology Unit, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy
- 17 Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands

#### published online 30.04.2021

#### Bibliography

Endoscopy 2021; 53: 1–12 DOI 10.1055/a-1475-0063 ISSN 0013-726X © 2021. European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy All rights reserved. This article is published by Thieme. Georg Thieme Verlag KG, Rüdigerstraße 14, 70469 Stuttgart, Germany

#### Tables 1s-6s

Supplementary material is available under https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1475-0063

#### **Corresponding author**

Manon C.W. Spaander, MD, PhD, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands v.spaander@erasmusmc.nl

#### MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS

#### Malignant disease

1 ESGE recommends placement of partially or fully covered self-expandable metal stents (SEMSs) for palliation of malignant dysphagia over laser therapy, photodynamic therapy, and esophageal bypass.

Strong recommendation, high quality evidence.

**2** ESGE recommends brachytherapy as a valid alternative, alone or in addition to stenting, in esophageal cancer patients with malignant dysphagia and expected longer life expectancy.

Strong recommendation, high quality evidence.

**3** ESGE recommends esophageal SEMS placement for sealing malignant tracheoesophageal or bronchoesophageal fistulas.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

**4** ESGE does not recommend SEMS placement as a bridge to surgery or before preoperative chemoradiotherapy because it is associated with a high incidence of adverse events. Other options such as feeding tube placement are preferable.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### Benign disease

**5** ESGE recommends against the use of SEMSs as first-line therapy for the management of benign esophageal strictures because of the potential for adverse events, the availability of alternative therapies, and their cost.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

**SOURCE AND SCOPE** 

This Guideline is an official statement of the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE). It provides guidance on the use of esophageal stents for both malignant and benign conditions. The Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) system was adopted to define the strength of recommendations and the quality of evidence.

## 1 Introduction

Esophageal cancer is the seventh most common cancer type worldwide, with a global incidence of 604100 new cases in 2020 [1–3]. The main symptoms of esophageal cancer include dysphagia, with concomitant weight loss and odynophagia [4]. Because patients with esophageal cancer are usually asymptomatic in the early stages, more than half of patients are diagnosed at an advanced stage of the disease and are not eligible for treatment with curative intent [5].

**6** ESGE suggests consideration of temporary placement of self-expandable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures.

Weak recommendation, moderate quality evidence.

7 ESGE suggests that fully covered SEMSs be preferred over partially covered SEMSs for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures because of their very low risk of embedment and ease of removability. Weak recommendation, low quality evidence.

**8** ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove partially covered SEMSs that are embedded in the esophageal wall.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

**9** ESGE recommends that temporary stent placement can be considered for the treatment of leaks, fistulas, and perforations. No specific type of stent can be recommended, and the duration of stenting should be individualized. Strong recommendation, low quality of evidence.

**10** ESGE recommends considering placement of a fully covered large-diameter SEMS for the treatment of esophageal variceal bleeding refractory to medical, endoscopic, and/or radiological therapy, or as initial therapy for patients with massive bleeding.

Strong recommendation, moderate quality evidence.

One of the main goals of palliative treatment is to relieve dysphagia and improve nutritional intake. A variety of therapeutic options are available, including external beam radiation therapy (EBRT), brachytherapy, and esophageal stent placement. Esophageal stent placement is preferable in patients with an expected short-term survival because of its rapid relief of dysphagia symptoms [6]. Different stent designs are available, varying in stent material (plastic, metal), covering, diameter, and antimigration features. Partially covered self-expandable metal stents (PCSEMSs) and fully covered self-expandable metal stents (FCSEMSs) are most often used in current practice.

In addition to their use for the palliation of dysphagia, esophageal stents can be used for the treatment of benign esophageal diseases. Stents are usually removed after several weeks as this timeframe allows for the resolution of disease and safe stent removal. FCSEMSs have been mostly used for the treatment of benign disorders. In recent years, biodegradable stents (BDSs) have gained increasing attention for obviating the need for stent removal.

This is an update of the clinical guideline on the use of esophageal stents for benign and malignant disease issued in

ABBREVI	ATIONS
BDS	biodegradable stent
CI	confidence interval
CRP	C-reactive protein
EBRT	external beam radiation therapy
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
ESGE	European Society of Gastrointestinal Endos-
	сору
ESPEN	European Society of Parenteral and Enteral
	Nutrition
FCSEMS	fully covered self-expandable metal stent
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment,
	Development and Evaluation
LAMS	lumen-apposing metal stent
OD	odds ratio
PCSEMS	partially covered self-expandable metal stent
RBES	refractory benign esophageal stricture
RCT	randomized controlled trial
SEMS	self-expandable metal stent
SEPS	self-expandable plastic stent
TIPS	transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic
	shunting

2016 by the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) [7]. In this guideline update, the current evidence will be discussed and recommendations on the use of esophageal stents will be provided.

## 2 Methods

The ESGE Guidelines Committee (chair, J.v.H.) commissioned this guideline update and appointed a Guideline leader (M.S.). Key questions (**Table 1s**, see online-only Supplementary Material) were prepared by a coordinating team (M.S., R.v.d.B., L.F., T.B., J.v.H.) and were approved by all guideline participants. Each guideline participant was assigned to a research question in one of two areas: malignant disease (taskforce leader, L.F.) and benign disease (taskforce leader, T.B.).

A literature search of MEDLINE and the Cochrane library was conducted in August 2020 using the PICO structure (where P stands for population/patient, I for intervention/indicator, C for comparator/control, and O for outcome). The quality of collected studies was graded according to the Grading Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) system and retrieved study outcomes were translated into evidence tables. Evidence tables and proposed guideline recommendations were collected by the Guideline leader and circulated 2 weeks before the digital face-to-face meeting held on 22 October 2020. During the digital face-to-face meeting, outcomes of the PICOs were discussed and consensus was reached on guideline recommendations.

In November 2020, a draft was prepared by M.S. and R.v.d.B. and sent to the guideline team. The revised draft was reviewed by two independent experts. After adjustment and final approval by the guideline team, the manuscript was submitted for publication by *Endoscopy*.

This Guideline was issued in 2021 and will again be considered for updating in 2025.

## 3 Malignant disorders

## 3.1 Efficacy

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends placement of partially or fully covered self-expandable metal stents (SEMSs) for palliation of malignant dysphagia over laser therapy, photodynamic therapy, and esophageal bypass.

Strong recommendation, high quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends brachytherapy as a valid alternative, alone or in addition to stenting, in esophageal cancer patients with malignant dysphagia and expected longer life expectancy.

Strong recommendation, high quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends patient characteristics be taken into account when selecting patients for esophageal stent placement as a palliative method. Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends against the placement of nonexpandable and expandable plastic stents for the palliation of malignant esophageal strictures. Strong recommendation, high guality evidence.

Several randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have compared the outcomes of esophageal stent placement with other treatment strategies for the palliation of malignant dysphagia due to esophageal cancer (**Table 2s**). Laser therapy, photodynamic therapy, and esophageal bypass surgery have shown comparable outcomes to esophageal stent placement [8–13].

Based on two RCTs comparing the outcomes of selfexpandable metal stent (SEMS) placement versus brachytherapy, brachytherapy may be considered over SEMS placement in patients with expected long-term survival [14, 15]. Even though SEMS placement leads to a more rapid relief of dysphagia, brachytherapy is preferable in these patients for its durable relief of symptoms [15, 16]. Furthermore, the use of brachytherapy is associated with a lower risk of serious adverse events and favorable quality of life outcomes [14, 15]. Despite these benefits, the availability of brachytherapy in daily practice is restricted by the need for local expertise and dedicated logistics

[17]. A short course of EBRT may be a valid alternative to brachytherapy [18]. In patients with a good performance status, chemoradiotherapy can be considered to prolong dysphagiafree survival, but is associated with an increased toxicity compared with radiotherapy alone [19].

Esophageal stent placement is indicated in patients with an expected short-term survival (i.e. less than 3 months) for its rapid relief of symptoms, usually within 1–2 days after stent placement [6]. Several prognostic tools may aid the selection of esophageal stent candidates, but these lack external validation [20–22]. The presence of metastases and poor performance status have repeatedly been shown to be associated with poor survival [21–24]. When esophageal stent placement is considered, SEMSs are recommended over self-expandable plastic stents (SEPSs) owing to a lower rate of symptom recurrence and serious adverse events [6]. To date, there have been no differences shown in the outcomes of FCSEMS and PCSEMS placement, or the placement of SEMSs with or without an antireflux mechanism [25–28].

#### 3.2 Safety

In the previous ESGE guideline, a meta-analysis of the available evidence was performed for the occurrence of stent-related adverse events [7]. The major adverse event rate was reported to be 21% for FCSEMSs and 18% for PCSEMSs. The most frequent early adverse events were reflux (9.3%), severe pain (8.7%), and bleeding (7.6%). The most frequent late adverse events were reflux (15%), severe pain (15%), and ingrowth/ overgrowth (14%).

In recent years, an increase in stent-related adverse events has been reported, which has been attributed to the increased use of chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy before SEMS placement [29]. Other patient characteristics that appear to be associated with an increased risk of adverse events include female sex and dilation before SEMS placement [28, 29].

#### 3.3 Fistula

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends esophageal SEMS placement for sealing malignant tracheoesophageal or bronchoesophageal fistulas.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends the application of double stenting (esophagus and airway) when fistula occlusion is not achieved by esophageal or airway prosthesis placement alone.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

Thieme

The incidence of esophageal fistulas has increased markedly as a result of advances in palliative therapies for esophageal cancer [30, 31]. Esophageal fistulas usually occur in the context of advanced esophageal cancer, but may also result from other malignancies or prior (palliative) therapy [30–34]. The symptoms of an esophageal fistula include cough, fever, and pneumonia [35]. Because the development of an esophageal fistula is considered to be an indicator of poor survival (weeks to months), treatment strategies should aim to rapidly relieve symptoms and improve the patient's remaining quality of life.

The clinical success rate of SEMS placement for malignant fistulas ranges between 56% and 100% [35–44]. Factors associated with treatment failure include proximal fistula location, fistula orifice size >1 cm, and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status of 3–4 [42,43]. After the fistula has been successfully sealed, reopening occurs in 0–39% of patients [39–42]. In most cases, reopening can be managed endoscopically by repositioning the SEMS or by placement of an additional SEMS [41,42]. Airway stenting may be considered in addition to esophageal SEMS placement to improve the success rate and prevent airway obstruction [44–47].

The outcomes of SEMS placement have been compared with other treatment strategies in two retrospective studies [37, 38]. Chen et al. reported on the outcomes of SEMS placement (n=30) versus feeding gastrostomy/jejunostomy (n=35) and found SEMS placement to be associated with an improved overall survival [37]. In a study by Hu et al., the outcomes of SEMS placement (n=17) were compared with gastrostomy (n=9) and best supportive care (n=9) [38]. The median survival was comparable among the treatment arms. Patients who underwent SEMS placement had favorable quality of life outcomes on several subscales, including eating and respiratory problems.

#### 3.4 Bridge to surgery

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE does not recommend SEMS placement as a bridge to surgery or before preoperative chemoradiotherapy because it is associated with a high incidence of adverse events. Other options such as feeding tube placement are preferable.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

Neoadjuvant therapy followed by surgery is the current clinical standard for treatment with curative intent for esophageal cancer [48, 49]. Malnutrition and cachexia – common in esophageal cancer patients – are known risk factors for treatment-related adverse events and poor survival [50–52]. From this perspective, the European Society of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (ESPEN) recommends regular assessment of a patient's nutritional status [53]. Initial screening can be performed by assessment of nutritional intake, weight change, and body mass index. Nutritional support is strongly recommended for patients at severe nutritional risk, defined as more than 10%–15% weight loss in the previous 6 months [54, 55].

Esophageal stents have been used to improve nutritional status before neoadjuvant therapy and surgery. In a meta-analysis of nine studies (5 SEPS, 3 SEMS, 1 SEPS + SEMS), the outcomes of 180 patients undergoing stent placement prior to or during neoadjuvant therapy were pooled [56]. Stent placement was technically successful in 95% of patients, with a statistically significant improvement in dysphagia symptoms, but without improvement in weight or serum albumin levels. Stent migration and chest discomfort occurred in 32% and 51% of patients, respectively. The relatively high rate of stent migration in this setting has been attributed to neoadjuvant therapy-induced tumor shrinkage, as most of these patients do not require repeated intervention [56, 57]. To overcome the substantial risk of adverse events, van den Berg et al. investigated the outcomes of BDS placement in 10 patients scheduled to undergo neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy [58]. A statistically significant decrease in dysphagia symptoms occurred without any major adverse events. Nevertheless, 7 of 10 patients required additional nutritional support and median weight loss before surderv was 5.4 kg.

In the past, SEMS placement before surgery has been reported to be associated with a worse oncologic outcome with a lower rate of R0 resections, a higher rate of major adverse events, and decreased overall survival [59, 60]. Contrarily, recent studies have reported no difference in R0 resection rate, overall survival, and postoperative complications [61–63].

Alternatives to esophageal stent placement include oral nutritional supplements, nasogastric tube placement, percutaneous feeding tube placement, and parenteral nutrition. In general, the use of percutaneous feeding tube placement (i. e. percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy or endoscopic jejunostomy) is recommended when enteral feeding is expected to be continued for at least 4 weeks [64–66]. In surgical candidates, percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy is considered by some surgical teams to be a contraindication as it may compromise the construction of a gastric conduit created during distal esophageal/proximal stomach reconstruction.

#### 3.5 Combined approach

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE does not recommend the concurrent use of radiotherapy if an esophageal stent is present. Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE suggests that SEMS placement with concurrent single-dose brachytherapy is safe and effective for relief of dysphagia.

Weak recommendation, low quality evidence.

To improve the outcome of stent placement, the use of radiotherapy in addition to SEMS placement has been investigated. This combined approach may potentially lead to prolonged dysphagia relief and improved overall survival [67–70]. Nevertheless, a high risk of major adverse events has been reported for the combination of EBRT and stent placement, suggesting stent placement is better reserved for patients who have failed prior radiotherapy [71].

In contrast to EBRT, the combination of single-dose brachytherapy and SEMS placement is safe and effective [67]. The use of irradiated SEMSs has been a topic of interest that potentially provides an advantage of combining the benefits of SEMS placement and brachytherapy. Based on a meta-analysis of six RCTs, the use of irradiated SEMSs led to an increased dysphagia-free time compared with traditional SEMSs, without affecting the rate of adverse events [72]. To date, however, all of these studies have been performed in Chinese populations, thereby warranting (prospective) evaluation in Western populations.

Only one study has investigated the outcomes of single-dose brachytherapy in addition to BDS placement [68]. Although satisfactory relief of symptoms was achieved, an unacceptably high rate of major adverse events was observed, which necessitated premature study termination.

#### 3.6 Prior palliative therapy

In patients with recurrent dysphagia after first-line palliative radiotherapy, SEMS placement is considered the main treatment [73]. However, the association between prior palliative therapy and stent-related adverse events remains controversial. Several studies have reported that prior chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy increase the risk of life-threatening adverse events after SEMS placement, whereas other studies have shown the risk of adverse events to be unaffected [29, 34, 74–82]. Pneumonia, fistula formation, and stent-related pain may be increased in patients with prior therapy who receive stents [29, 34, 80–82].

The increased risk of adverse events has been explained by pulmonary toxicity and radiation-induced changes, which increase the susceptibility to pressure necrosis [29, 79, 81–85]. The potential role of radiotherapy-induced changes is supported by the increase in the rate of adverse events with a corresponding increase in radiation dosage [82, 83]. Regardless, the increased adverse event rate may also be partially explained by advanced disease stage, which is known to be related to an increased risk of life-threatening bleeding and fistula formation [34, 79].

## 4 Benign disease

## 4.1 Refractory benign esophageal strictures

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends against the use of SEMSs as first-line therapy for the management of benign esophageal strictures because of the potential for adverse events, the availability of alternative therapies, and their cost. Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE suggests consideration of temporary placement of self-expandable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures.

Weak recommendation, moderate quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE suggests that fully covered SEMS fixation by endoscopic suturing or over-the-scope clips be considered in patients with previous stent migration.

Weak recommendation, low quality evidence.

The use of esophageal stents for the treatment of benign esophageal strictures has mainly been investigated in the context of refractory or recurrent benign esophageal strictures (RBESs; **Table 3s**). As defined by Kochman et al., these patients either fail to reach a target diameter of 14mm after biweekly dilations over 5 weeks or fail to maintain the target diameter up to 4 weeks after the last dilation [86]. Esophageal stent placement has a potential benefit because of its continuous expansion force, which may lead to stricture remodeling. Although stent placement has not been compared with dilation in treatment-naïve patients, it is generally accepted that esophageal stent placement should only be considered as a secondline approach owing to its relatively high rate of adverse events and its cost.

In a recent meta-analysis, the outcomes of 18 studies with a total of 444 patients were pooled [87]. The clinical success rate after stent placement was 40.5% (95% confidence interval [CI] 31.5%–49.5%). Stent migration was the most common stent-related adverse event, occurring in 28.6% (95%CI 21.9%–37.1%). Other adverse events occurred in 20.6% (95%CI 15.3%–28.1%). Treatment outcomes did not differ among the SEMS, SEPS, and BDS groups.

To reduce the risk of SEMS migration, endoscopic stent fixation by endoscopic suturing or over-the-stent clips has been investigated (**Table 4s**). In general, endoscopic stent fixation is highly successful (96.7%; 95%CI 92.3%–98.6%) and safe (procedure-related adverse events, 3.7%; 95%CI 1.6%–8.2%) [88]. In the largest study of RBES patients, endoscopic suturing of the FCSEMS led to a reduction in stent migration rate compared with no suturing (9.4% vs. 39.5%; P=0.01) [89]. It remains unclear if there is a benefit of routine stent fixation, and it may be considered in patients with prior stent migration.

Another method to reduce the risk of stent migration is the use of lumen-apposing metal stents (LAMSs). It is believed that the typical wide flanges and short lengths of LAMSs may prevent stent migration. To date, LAMSs have only been investigated in mixed study populations restricted by small sample sizes [90–94]. More studies are needed to evaluate their potential benefit in RBES patients.

🖗 Thieme

#### 4.1.1 Factors predicting successful treatment

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE does not recommend permanent stent placement for refractory benign esophageal stricture; stents should usually be removed at a maximum of 3 months following insertion.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE suggests that fully covered SEMSs be preferred over partially covered SEMSs for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures because of their very low risk of embedment and ease of removability. Weak recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE does not recommend the use of biodegradable stents over SEMSs in the treatment of benign esophageal strictures.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove partially covered SEMSs that are embedded in the esophageal wall.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

The current literature provides some evidence that patient characteristics affect outcomes following stent placement in RBES patients. The previously mentioned meta-analysis showed a tendency toward a higher clinical success rate in studies that included a larger proportion of patients with radiotherapy-induced strictures and anastomotic strictures [87]. A similar trend was observed for the risk of stent-related adverse events, with the risk seeming to be lower in anastomotic stricture etiology, cervical stricture location and increasing stricture length have been reported to be associated with lower clinical success rates [95–97]. Because most studies do not take into account patient characteristics when reporting study outcomes, their specific impact remains unclear.

The optimal stent duration for the management of RBES patients has not been formally tested. It is recommended that stents remain in place for at least 6–8 weeks, but not longer than 10–12 weeks after stent placement. It is believed that this stent duration provides sufficient time to induce stricture remodeling and at the same time prevents stent embedment. One retrospective study investigated the influence of stent duration on the safety of stent removal but found no such association [98]. Stent design was the only independent predictor

of complicated stent removal. Adverse events were more common with PCSEMSs (odds ratio [OR] 8.83; 95%CI 3.29–23.70) and SEPSs (OR 4.71; 95%CI 1.39–15.97) when compared with FCSEMSs. The use of BDSs has been suggested to obviate stent removal, but compelling evidence for BDSs over other stent types is lacking [96,99].

Different methods for endoscopic removal of an embedded PCSEMS have been described [100–106]. Most studies have reported on the use of the stent-in-stent technique, which relies on the placement of an additional FCSEMS fully overlapping the location of the embedded PCSEMS. To induce pressure necrosis, the stent diameter of the additional FCSEMS should be at least that of the embedded PCSEMS. In >90% of patients, both SEMSs can be safely removed 10–14 days after placement of the additional FCSEMS is unsuccessful, the stent-in-stent technique can be reattempted.

#### 4.1.2 Combined approach

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with additional techniques (e.g. corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should not be undertaken in an attempt to improve the longterm benefit of temporary stenting.

Weak recommendation, very low quality evidence.

Concurrent endoscopic incisional therapy, corticosteroid injection, and mitomycin-C application are reported to enhance treatment outcomes of endoscopic dilation therapy. Data on the use of these endoscopic interventions in combination with esophageal stent placement are scarce. Only one study has reported on the outcomes of corticosteroid injection in combination with FCSEMS placement but no clear benefit was found [107].

4.1.3 Options after stent failure

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE suggests alternative treatment strategies such as self-dilation or surgical treatment for patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures that have not satisfactorily improved after two separate treatments with temporary stenting.

Weak recommendation, low quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

In poor surgical candidates, ESGE recommends selfdilation with rigid dilators.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

In patients with recurrent dysphagia after stent placement, repeated esophageal stent placement may be considered, but has not been shown to have significant incremental benefit [108, 109]. When repeat esophageal stent placement does not lead to satisfactory results, alternative treatment strategies should be considered. Surgical treatment represents a valid option in selected patients, depending on the stricture location and patient performance status. Furthermore, self-dilation is safe and effective in the majority of patients [110–112]. Treatment success with self-dilation relies on patient compliance, restricting its use to self-motivated patients and poor surgical candidates.

#### 4.2 Leaks, fistulas, and perforations

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends that temporary stent placement can be considered for the treatment of leaks, fistulas, and perforations. No specific type of stent can be recommended, and the duration of stenting should be individualized.

Strong recommendation, low quality of evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends esophageal stents be placed as early as possible for the treatment of leaks, fistulas, and perforations.

Strong recommendation, moderate quality evidence.

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends including stent placement in a multimodality treatment protocol for leaks, fistulas, and perforations to optimize the healing success rate and minimize the risk of adverse events.

Strong recommendation, low quality evidence.

Esophageal stents are increasingly used in the management of esophageal perforations [113]. Based on three systematic reviews on the use of PCSEMSs, FCSEMSs, and SEPSs in anastomotic leaks and perforations, the clinical success rate of esophageal stent placement is 81%–87%, with no difference among the stent types [114–116]. Even though the clinical success rates are comparable, SEMSs are reported to perform better than SEPSs in leaks and perforations, with higher technical success (95% vs. 91%; P = 0.03), and reduced risk of migration (16% vs. 24%; P=0.001) and stent repositioning (3% vs. 11%; P<0.001), as well as a reduced risk of perforation when considering anastomotic leaks only (0% vs. 2%; P=0.01) [116]. Data on the use of BDSs in these patients are restricted to a few small retrospective studies (**Table 5s**) [117–119].

To identify patients who may benefit from esophageal stent placement, van Halsema et al. developed a clinical prediction

rule based on four clinical parameters: etiology (leak, fistula, perforation), location, orifice size, and C-reactive protein (CRP) level [120]. In the validation cohort, the sensitivity and specificity for a 70 % predicted probability of clinical success were 33 % and 89 %, respectively. Multivariable logistic regression showed fistulas and orifice size of >2 cm to be associated with a lower rate of clinical success. The observed difference between anastomotic leaks and fistulas emphasizes that leaks, fistulas, and perforations are different entities and may require an individual approach. For instance, in fistula patients, SEMS placement is usually performed in combination with other therapies and a longer stent duration may be needed in anastomotic leaks compared with perforations [121, 122]. Nevertheless, the current literature provides insufficient data to formulate separate recommendations.

No study has investigated the optimal stent duration. Stents are usually removed 6–8 weeks after insertion and repeated stent placement is needed in 11% of patients [114–116]. In patients who are endoscopically treated for benign esophageal perforations, early diagnosis (<24 hours) has been shown to be associated with a lower need for re-intervention and intensive care admission, and a shorter hospital stay [123].

Recently, the outcomes of SEMS placement have been compared with endoscopic vacuum therapy for the treatment of post-surgical leaks [124]. The use of endoscopic vacuum therapy was associated with a higher leak closure rate, more endoscopic device changes, shorter duration of treatment, and lower in-hospital mortality. Because the management of these patients may be challenging and often requires a multimodality approach, esophageal stent placement may still be considered in addition to other endoscopic techniques to optimize treatment outcomes [119].

#### 4.2.1 Safety

Stent migration is the most common stent-related adverse event and tends to be higher when FCSEMSs (26%) and SEPSs are used (31%) compared with PCSEMSs (12%) [114]. The use of large-diameter SEMSs has been suggested to reduce the risk of stent migration in anastomotic leaks [119]. Furthermore, suturing of FCSEMSs may render migration rates similar to those of PCSEMSs, without the difficulties associated with the removal of PCSEMSs and with a lower risk of adverse events [125]. Other stent-related adverse events include the development of a stricture, stent erosion, perforation, and bleeding [114–116]. Repeated endoscopic intervention is needed in 17%–25% of patients and 7%–13% require surgical intervention [114–116].

#### 4.3 Acute variceal bleeding

#### RECOMMENDATION

ESGE recommends considering placement of a fully covered large-diameter SEMS for the treatment of esophageal variceal bleeding refractory to medical, endoscopic, and/or radiological therapy, or as initial therapy for patients with massive bleeding.

Strong recommendation, moderate quality evidence.

🖗 Thieme

Esophageal stent placement for acute variceal bleeding has mainly been investigated in small retrospective studies using a dedicated stent design (SX-ELLA stent DANIS) for the treatment of refractory bleeding (**Table 6s**). Stent duration is reported to range from 1–30 days [126]. Pooled data analysis shows that SEMS placement leads to control of bleeding in >80% of patients, without severe stent-related adverse events [126, 127]. In 21% of patients, bleeding reoccurs within 6 weeks after SEMS placement [128]. Only one RCT has performed a direct comparison of SEMSs and balloon tamponade [129]. In this study of 28 patients, SEMS placement led to a higher rate of control of bleeding during the first 15 days (85% vs. 47%; P =0.04) and a lower rate of adverse events (31% vs. 73%; P = 0.02).

Despite its effectiveness, the 30-day mortality rate after SEMS placement may be as high as 36%, also reflecting the severity of the underlying condition [127]. Accordingly, SEMSs have been proposed as a bridge to transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunting (TIPS) or liver transplantation.

#### Disclaimer

The legal disclaimer for ESGE guidelines [130] applies to this Guideline.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Dr. Cesare Hassan, Nuovo Regina Margherita Hospital, Rome, Italy, and Professor Konstantinos Triantafyllou, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece, for their review of this manuscript; and for comments received from Dr. David Karsenti on behalf of the French Society of Digestive Endoscopy (SFED), Dr. Tony C. K. Tham on behalf of the Irish Society of Gastroenterology (ISG), and Dr. Endrit Shahini, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Bari, Italy.

#### **Competing interests**

T.H. Baron has been a speaker and consultant for Boston Scientific and Cook Endoscopy (2014 to present). A. Repici has been on the advisory board and provided consultancy to Boston Scientific and Medtronic, and provided consultancy to ERBE (all 2017 to present). P.D. Siersema receives research support from Pentax, The eNose company, Norgine, Motus GI, and MicroTech; he is Editor-in-Chief of Endoscopy. M.C.W. Spaander has received research support from Boston Scientific (2013 to present). J.E. van Hooft has provided consultancy to Boston Scientific (2014 to 2017) and Olympus (2021), has received lecture fees from Medtronics (2014, 2015, and 2019) and Cook Medical (2019); her department has received research grants from Cook Medical (2014 to 2019) and Abbott (2014 to 2017). D. Albers, D. Blero, M. Conio, L. Czakó, A. de Ceglie, S. Everett, L. Fuccio, J.-C. Garcia-Pagán, A. Ginès, M. Jovani, E. Rodrigues-Pinto, R.D. van der Bogt declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I et al. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394–424

- [3] International Agency for Research on Cancer. Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today; 2020. https://gco.iarc.fr/today/online-analysis-table (accessed: 25 March 2021)
- [4] Daly JM, Fry WA, Little AG et al. Esophageal cancer: results of an American College of Surgeons patient care evaluation study. J Am Coll Surg 2000; 190: 562–572 discussion 572-563
- [5] Enzinger PC, Mayer RJ. Esophageal cancer. NEJM 2003; 349: 2241– 2252
- [6] Dai Y, Li C, Xie Y et al. Interventions for dysphagia in oesophageal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014: CD005048
- [7] Spaander MC, Baron TH, Siersema PD et al. Esophageal stenting for benign and malignant disease: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Clinical Guideline. Endoscopy 2016; 48: 939–948
- [8] Alderson D, Wright PD. Laser recanalization versus endoscopic intubation in the palliation of malignant dysphagia. Br J Surg 1990; 77: 1151–1153
- [9] Carter R, Smith JS, Anderson JR. Laser recanalization versus endoscopic intubation in the palliation of malignant dysphagia: a randomized prospective study. Br J Surg 1992; 79: 1167–1170
- [10] Fuchs KH, Freys SM, Schaube H et al. Randomized comparison of endoscopic palliation of malignant esophageal stenoses. Surg Endosc 1991; 5: 63–67
- [11] Adam A, Ellul J, Watkinson AF et al. Palliation of inoperable esophageal carcinoma: a prospective randomized trial of laser therapy and stent placement. Radiology 1997; 202: 344–348
- [12] Aoki T, Osaka Y, Takagi Y et al. Comparative study of self-expandable metallic stent and bypass surgery for inoperable esophageal cancer. Dis Esophagus 2001; 14: 208–211
- [13] Dallal HJ, Smith GD, Grieve DC et al. A randomized trial of thermal ablative therapy versus expandable metal stents in the palliative treatment of patients with esophageal carcinoma. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 54: 549–557
- [14] Bergquist H, Wenger U, Johnsson E et al. Stent insertion or endoluminal brachytherapy as palliation of patients with advanced cancer of the esophagus and gastroesophageal junction. Results of a randomized, controlled clinical trial. Dis Esophagus 2005; 18: 131–139
- [15] Homs MY, Steyerberg EW, Eijkenboom WM et al. Single-dose brachytherapy versus metal stent placement for the palliation of dysphagia from oesophageal cancer: multicentre randomised trial. Lancet 2004; 364: 1497–1504
- [16] Fuccio L, Mandolesi D, Farioli A et al. Brachytherapy for the palliation of dysphagia owing to esophageal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Radiother Oncol 2017; 122: 332–339
- [17] Fuccio L, Guido A, Hassan C et al. Underuse of brachytherapy for the treatment of dysphagia owing to esophageal cancer. An Italian survey. Dig Liver Dis 2016; 48: 1233–1236
- [18] Jeene PM, Vermeulen BD, Rozema T et al. Short-course external beam radiotherapy versus brachytherapy for palliation of dysphagia in esophageal cancer: a matched comparison of two prospective trials. | Thorac Oncol 2020; 15: 1361–1368
- [19] Penniment MG, De leso PB, Harvey JA et al. Palliative chemoradiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone for dysphagia in advanced oesophageal cancer: a multicentre randomised controlled trial (TROG 03.01). Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 3: 114–124
- [20] Driver RJ, Handforth C, Radhakrishna G et al. The Glasgow prognostic score at the time of palliative esophageal stent insertion is a predictive factor of 30-day mortality and overall survival. J Clin Gastroenterol 2018; 52: 223–228

- [21] Steyerberg EW, Homs MY, Stokvis A et al. Stent placement or brachytherapy for palliation of dysphagia from esophageal cancer: a prognostic model to guide treatment selection. Gastrointest Endosc 2005; 62: 333–340
- [22] Park JH, Woodley N, McMillan DC et al. Palliative stenting for oesophagogastric cancer: tumour and host factors and prognosis. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2019; 9: 332–339
- [23] Bergquist H, Johnsson A, Hammerlid E et al. Factors predicting survival in patients with advanced oesophageal cancer: a prospective multicentre evaluation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008; 27: 385–395
- [24] Rosenblatt E, Jones G, Sur RK et al. Adding external beam to intraluminal brachytherapy improves palliation in obstructive squamous cell oesophageal cancer: a prospective multi-centre randomized trial of the International Atomic Energy Agency. Radiother Oncol 2010; 97: 488–494
- [25] Wang C, Wei H, Li Y. Comparison of fully-covered vs partially covered self-expanding metallic stents for palliative treatment of inoperable esophageal malignancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Cancer 2020; 20: 73
- [26] Persson J, Smedh U, Johnsson A et al. Fully covered stents are similar to semi-covered stents with regard to migration in palliative treatment of malignant strictures of the esophagus and gastric cardia: results of a randomized controlled trial. Surg Endosc 2017; 31: 4025–4033
- [27] Pandit S, Samant H, Morris J et al. Efficacy and safety of standard and anti-reflux self-expanding metal stent: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2019; 11: 271–280
- [28] Didden P, Reijm AN, Erler NS et al. Fully vs. partially covered selfexpandable metal stent for palliation of malignant esophageal strictures: a randomized trial (the COPAC study). Endoscopy 2018; 50: 961–971
- [29] Reijm AN, Didden P, Schelling SJC et al. Self-expandable metal stent placement for malignant esophageal strictures - changes in clinical outcomes over time. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 18–29
- [30] Hurtgen M, Herber SCA. Treatment of malignant tracheoesophageal fistula. Thorac Surg Clin 2014; 24: 117–127
- [31] Rodriguez AN, Diaz-Jimenez JP. Malignant respiratory-digestive fistulas. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2010; 16: 329–333
- [32] Spigel DR, Hainsworth JD, Yardley DA et al. Tracheoesophageal fistula formation in patients with lung cancer treated with chemoradiation and bevacizumab. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 43–48
- [33] Gore E, Currey A, Choong N. Tracheoesophageal fistula associated with bevacizumab 21 months after completion of radiation therapy. J Thorac Oncol 2009; 4: 1590–1591
- [34] Didden P, Spaander MC, Kuipers EJ et al. Safety of stent placement in recurrent or persistent esophageal cancer after definitive chemoradiotherapy: a case series. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 76: 426–430
- [35] Balazs A, Kupcsulik PK, Galambos Z. Esophagorespiratory fistulas of tumorous origin. Non-operative management of 264 cases in a 20year period. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2008; 34: 1103–1107
- [36] Sarper A, Oz N, Cihangir C et al. The efficacy of self-expanding metal stents for palliation of malignant esophageal strictures and fistulas. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2003; 23: 794–798
- [37] Chen YH, Li SH, Chiu YC et al. Comparative study of esophageal stent and feeding gastrostomy/jejunostomy for tracheoesophageal fistula caused by esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. PLoS One 2012; 7: e42766
- [38] Hu Y, Zhao YF, Chen LQ et al. Comparative study of different treatments for malignant tracheoesophageal/bronchoesophageal fistulae. Dis Esophagus 2009; 22: 526–531

- [39] May A, Ell C. Palliative treatment of malignant esophagorespiratory fistulas with Gianturco-Z stents. A prospective clinical trial and review of the literature on covered metal stents. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93: 532–535
- [40] Dumonceau JM, Cremer M, Lalmand B et al. Esophageal fistula sealing: choice of stent, practical management, and cost. Gastrointest Endosc 1999; 49: 70–78
- [41] Shin JH, Song HY, Ko GY et al. Esophagorespiratory fistula: long-term results of palliative treatment with covered expandable metallic stents in 61 patients. Radiology 2004; 232: 252–259
- [42] Kim PH, Kim KY, Song HY et al. Self-expandable metal stent use to palliate malignant esophagorespiratory fistulas in 88 patients. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2018; 29: 320–327
- [43] Ribeiro MSI, da Costa Martins B, Simas de Lima M et al. Self-expandable metal stent for malignant esophagorespiratory fistula: predictive factors associated with clinical failure. Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 87: 390–396
- [44] Wlodarczyk JR, Kuzdzal J. Safety and efficacy of airway stenting in patients with malignant oesophago-airway fistula. J Thorac Dis 2018; 10: 2731–2739
- [45] Freitag L, Tekolf E, Steveling H et al. Management of malignant esophagotracheal fistulas with airway stenting and double stenting. Chest 1996; 110: 1155–1160
- [46] Colt HG, Meric B, Dumon JF. Double stents for carcinoma of the esophagus invading the tracheo-bronchial tree. Gastrointest Endosc 1992; 38: 485–489
- [47] Huang PM, Lee JM. Are single or dual luminal covered expandable metallic stents suitable for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma with esophago-airway fistula? Surg Endosc 2017; 31: 1148–1155
- [48] Sjoquist KM, Burmeister BH, Smithers BM et al. Survival after neoadjuvant chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy for resectable oesophageal carcinoma: an updated meta-analysis. Lancet Oncol 2011; 12: 681–692
- [49] Walsh TN. Oesophageal cancer: who needs neoadjuvant therapy? Lancet Oncol 2011; 12: 615–616
- [50] Anandavadivelan P, Lagergren P. Cachexia in patients with oesophageal cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2016; 13: 185–198
- [51] Kazemi-Bajestani SM, Mazurak VC, Baracos V. Computed tomography-defined muscle and fat wasting are associated with cancer clinical outcomes. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2016; 54: 2–10
- [52] Hebuterne X, Lemarie E, Michallet M et al. Prevalence of malnutrition and current use of nutrition support in patients with cancer. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2014; 38: 196–204
- [53] Arends J, Bachmann P, Baracos V et al. ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients. Clin Nutr 2017; 36: 11–48
- [54] Weimann A, Braga M, Harsanyi L et al. ESPEN Guidelines on Enteral Nutrition: Surgery including organ transplantation. Clin Nutr 2006; 25: 224–244
- [55] Senesse P, Assenat E, Schneider S et al. Nutritional support during oncologic treatment of patients with gastrointestinal cancer: who could benefit? Cancer Treat Rev 2008; 34: 568–575
- [56] Nagaraja V, Cox MR, Eslick GD. Safety and efficacy of esophageal stents preceding or during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for esophageal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Oncol 2014; 5: 119–126
- [57] Siddiqui AA, Sarkar A, Beltz S et al. Placement of fully covered selfexpandable metal stents in patients with locally advanced esophageal cancer before neoadjuvant therapy. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 76: 44–51
- [58] van den Berg MW, Walter D, de Vries EM et al. Biodegradable stent placement before neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy as a bridge to surgery in patients with locally advanced esophageal cancer. Gastrointest Endosc 2014; 80: 908–913

- [59] Mariette C, Gronnier C, Duhamel A et al. Self-expanding covered metallic stent as a bridge to surgery in esophageal cancer: impact on oncologic outcomes. J Am Coll Surg 2015; 220: 287–296
- [60] Ahmed O, Bolger JC, O'Neill B et al. Use of esophageal stents to relieve dysphagia during neoadjuvant therapy prior to esophageal resection: a systematic review. Dis Esophagus 2020; 33: doz090. doi:10.1093/dote/doz090
- [61] Helminen O, Kauppila JH, Kyto V et al. Preoperative esophageal stenting and short-term outcomes of surgery for esophageal cancer in a population-based study from Finland and Sweden. Dis Esophagus 2019; 32: doz005. doi:10.1093/dote/doz005
- [62] Rodrigues-Pinto E, Ferreira-Silva J, Sousa-Pinto B et al. Self-expandable metal stents in esophageal cancer before preoperative neoadjuvant therapy: efficacy, safety, and long-term outcomes. Surg Endosc 2020: doi:10.1007/s00464-020-08002-8
- [63] Jarvinen T, Ilonen I, Ylikoski E et al. Preoperative stenting in oesophageal cancer has no effect on survival: a propensity-matched casecontrol study. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2017; 52: 385–391
- [64] Loser C, Aschl G, Hebuterne X et al. ESPEN guidelines on artificial enteral nutrition-percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG). Clin Nutr 2005; 24: 848–861
- [65] Toussaint E, van Gossum A, Ballarin A et al. Enteral access in adults. Clin Nutr 2015; 34: 350–358
- [66] Arvanitakis M, Gkolfakis P, Despott EJ et al. Endoscopic management of enteral tubes in adult patients – Part 1: Definitions and indications. European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline. Endoscopy 2021; 53: 81–92
- [67] Bergquist H, Johnsson E, Nyman J et al. Combined stent insertion and single high-dose brachytherapy in patients with advanced esophageal cancer – results of a prospective safety study. Dis Esophagus 2012; 25: 410–415
- [68] Hirdes MM, van Hooft JE, Wijrdeman HK et al. Combination of biodegradable stent placement and single-dose brachytherapy is associated with an unacceptably high complication rate in the treatment of dysphagia from esophageal cancer. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 76: 267–274
- [69] Song HY, Lee DH, Seo TS et al. Retrievable covered nitinol stents: experiences in 108 patients with malignant esophageal strictures. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2002; 13: 285–293
- [70] Tinusz B, Soos A, Hegyi P et al. Efficacy and safety of stenting and additional oncological treatment versus stenting alone in unresectable esophageal cancer: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Radiother Oncol 2020; 147: 169–177
- [71] Nishimura Y, Nagata K, Katano S et al. Severe complications in advanced esophageal cancer treated with radiotherapy after intubation of esophageal stents: a questionnaire survey of the Japanese Society for Esophageal Diseases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003; 56: 1327–1332
- [72] Yang ZM, Geng HT, Wu H. Radioactive stent for malignant esophageal obstruction: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2020: doi:10.1089/lap.2020.0666
- [73] van der Bogt RD, Vermeulen BD, Reijm AN et al. Palliation of dysphagia. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2018; 36–37: 97–103
- [74] Iwasaki H, Mizushima T, Suzuki Y et al. Factors that affect stentrelated complications in patients with malignant obstruction of the esophagus or gastric cardia. Gut Liver 2017; 11: 47–54
- [75] Siersema PD, Hop WC, Dees J et al. Coated self-expanding metal stents versus latex prostheses for esophagogastric cancer with special reference to prior radiation and chemotherapy: a controlled, prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc 1998; 47: 113–120
- [76] Medeiros VS, Martins BC, Lenz L et al. Adverse events of self-expandable esophageal metallic stents in patients with long-term survival from advanced malignant disease. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 86: 299–306

- [77] Sgourakis G, Gockel I, Radtke A et al. The use of self-expanding stents in esophageal and gastroesophageal junction cancer palliation: a meta-analysis and meta-regression analysis of outcomes. Dig Dis Sci 2010; 55: 3018–3030
- [78] Homs MY, Hansen BE, van Blankenstein M et al. Prior radiation and/ or chemotherapy has no effect on the outcome of metal stent placement for oesophagogastric carcinoma. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004; 16: 163–170
- [79] Sumiyoshi T, Gotoda T, Muro K et al. Morbidity and mortality after self-expandable metallic stent placement in patients with progressive or recurrent esophageal cancer after chemoradiotherapy. Gastrointest Endosc 2003; 57: 882–885
- [80] Fuccio L, Scagliarini M, Frazzoni L et al. Development of a prediction model of adverse events after stent placement for esophageal cancer. Gastrointest Endosc 2016; 83: 746–752
- [81] Iraha Y, Murayama S, Toita T et al. Self-expandable metallic stent placement for patients with inoperable esophageal carcinoma: investigation of the influence of prior radiotherapy and chemotherapy. Radiat Med 2006; 24: 247–252
- [82] Lecleire S, Di Fiore F, Ben-Soussan E et al. Prior chemoradiotherapy is associated with a higher life-threatening complication rate after palliative insertion of metal stents in patients with oesophageal cancer. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006; 23: 1693–1702
- [83] Qiu G, Tao Y, Du X et al. The impact of prior radiotherapy on fatal complications after self-expandable metallic stents (SEMS) for malignant dysphagia due to esophageal carcinoma. Dis Esophagus 2013; 26: 175–181
- [84] Muto M, Ohtsu A, Miyata Y et al. Self-expandable metallic stents for patients with recurrent esophageal carcinoma after failure of primary chemoradiotherapy. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2001; 31: 270–274
- [85] Park JY, Shin JH, Song HY et al. Airway complications after covered stent placement for malignant esophageal stricture: special reference to radiation therapy. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2012; 198: 453–459
- [86] Kochman ML, McClave SA, Boyce HW. The refractory and the recurrent esophageal stricture: a definition. Gastrointest Endosc 2005; 62: 474–475
- [87] Fuccio L, Hassan C, Frazzoni L et al. Clinical outcomes following stent placement in refractory benign esophageal stricture: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy 2016; 48: 141–148
- [88] Law R, Prabhu A, Fujii-Lau L et al. Stent migration following endoscopic suture fixation of esophageal self-expandable metal stents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc 2018; 32: 675– 681
- [89] Bick BL, Imperiale TF, Johnson CS et al. Endoscopic suturing of esophageal fully covered self-expanding metal stents reduces rates of stent migration. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 86: 1015–1021
- [90] Bazerbachi F, Heffley JD, Abu Dayyeh BK et al. Safety and efficacy of coaxial lumen-apposing metal stents in the management of refractory gastrointestinal luminal strictures: a multicenter study. Endosc Int Open 2017; 5: E861–E867
- [91] Irani S, Jalaj S, Ross A et al. Use of a lumen-apposing metal stent to treat GI strictures (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 85: 1285–1289
- [92] Nogales O, Clemente A, Caballero-Marcos A et al. Endoscopically placed stents: a useful alternative for the management of refractory benign cervical esophageal stenosis. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2017; 109: 510–515
- [93] Yang D, Nieto JM, Siddiqui A et al. Lumen-apposing covered self-expandable metal stents for short benign gastrointestinal strictures: a multicenter study. Endoscopy 2017; 49: 327–333
- [94] Larson B, Adler DG. Lumen-apposing metal stents for gastrointestinal luminal strictures: current use and future directions. Ann Gastroenterol 2019; 32: 141–146

- [95] Repici A, Hassan C, Sharma P et al. Systematic review: the role of self-expanding plastic stents for benign oesophageal strictures. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010; 31: 1268–1275
- [96] Canena JM, Liberato MJ, Rio-Tinto RA et al. A comparison of the temporary placement of 3 different self-expanding stents for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures: a prospective multicentre study. BMC Gastroenterol 2012; 12: 70
- [97] Kappelle WF, van Hooft JE, Spaander MCW et al. Treatment of refractory post-esophagectomy anastomotic esophageal strictures using temporary fully covered esophageal metal stenting compared to repeated bougie dilation: results of a randomized controlled trial. Endosc Int Open 2019; 7: E178–E185
- [98] van Halsema EE, Wong Kee Song LM, Baron TH et al. Safety of endoscopic removal of self-expandable stents after treatment of benign esophageal diseases. Gastrointest Endosc 2013; 77: 18–28
- [99] van Boeckel PG, Vleggaar FP, Siersema PD. A comparison of temporary self-expanding plastic and biodegradable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 9: 653–659
- [100] Hirdes MM, Siersema PD, Houben MH et al. Stent-in-stent technique for removal of embedded esophageal self-expanding metal stents. Am J Gastroenterol 2011; 106: 286–293
- [101] DaVee T, Irani S, Leggett CL et al. Stent-in-stent technique for removal of embedded partially covered self-expanding metal stents. Surg Endosc 2016; 30: 2332–2341
- [102] Peng GY, Kang XF, Lu X et al. Plastic tube-assisted gastroscopic removal of embedded esophageal metal stents: a case report. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 6505–6508
- [103] Liu XQ, Zhou M, Shi WX et al. Successful endoscopic removal of three embedded esophageal self-expanding metal stents. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 9: 494–498
- [104] Chandnani M, Cohen J, Berzin TM. Combined approach of cryoablation and stent-in-stent technique for removal of an embedded esophageal stent. Case Rep Gastrointest Med 2018; 2018: 8619252
- [105] Hill C, Khalil BK, Barola S et al. Inversion technique for the removal of partially covered self-expandable metallic stents. Obes Surg 2018; 28: 161–168
- [106] Dumonceau JM, Deviere J. Treatment of Boerhaave's syndrome using the ultraflex self-expandable stent. Gastrointest Endosc 2000; 51: 773–774
- [107] Wilson JL, Louie BE, Farivar AS et al. Fully covered self-expanding metal stents are effective for benign esophagogastric disruptions and strictures. J Gastrointest Surg 2013; 17: 2045–2050
- [108] Hirdes MM, Siersema PD, van Boeckel PG et al. Single and sequential biodegradable stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures: a prospective follow-up study. Endoscopy 2012; 44: 649– 654
- [109] Repici A, Small AJ, Mendelson A et al. Natural history and management of refractory benign esophageal strictures. Gastrointest Endosc 2016; 84: 222–228
- [110] Qin Y, Sunjaya DB, Myburgh S et al. Outcomes of oesophageal selfdilation for patients with refractory benign oesophageal strictures. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 48: 87–94
- [111] Dzeletovic I, Fleischer DE. Self-dilation for resistant, benign esophageal strictures. Am J Gastroenterol 2010; 105: 2142–2143
- [112] Dzeletovic I, Fleischer DE, Crowell MD et al. Self-dilation as a treatment for resistant, benign esophageal strictures. Dig Dis Sci 2013; 58: 3218–3223
- [113] Thornblade LW, Cheng AM, Wood DE et al. A nationwide rise in the use of stents for benign esophageal perforation. Ann Thorac Surg 2017; 104: 227–233

- [114] van Boeckel PG, Sijbring A, Vleggaar FP et al. Systematic review: temporary stent placement for benign rupture or anastomotic leak of the oesophagus. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011; 33: 1292–1301
- [115] Dasari BV, Neely D, Kennedy A et al. The role of esophageal stents in the management of esophageal anastomotic leaks and benign esophageal perforations. Ann Surg 2014; 259: 852–860
- [116] Kamarajah SK, Bundred J, Spence G et al. Critical appraisal of the impact of oesophageal stents in the management of oesophageal anastomotic leaks and benign oesophageal perforations: an updated systematic review. World J Surg 2020; 44: 1173–1189
- [117] Kones O, Oran E. Self-expanding biodegradable stents for postoperative upper gastrointestinal issues. JSLS 2018; 22: e2018.00011
- [118] Cerna M, Kocher M, Valek V et al. Covered biodegradable stent: new therapeutic option for the management of esophageal perforation or anastomotic leak. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2011; 34: 1267– 1271
- [119] Rodrigues-Pinto E, Pereira P, Sousa-Pinto B et al. Retrospective multicenter study on endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks. Gastrointest Endosc 2020: doi:10.1016/j.gie.2020.10.015
- [120] van Halsema EE, Kappelle WFW, Weusten B et al. Stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations, and fistulae: a clinical prediction rule for successful leakage control. Endoscopy 2018; 50: 98–108
- [121] Debourdeau A, Gonzalez JM, Dutau H et al. Endoscopic treatment of nonmalignant tracheoesophageal and bronchoesophageal fistula: results and prognostic factors for its success. Surg Endosc 2019; 33: 549–556
- [122] Huh CW, Kim JS, Choi HH et al. Treatment of benign perforations and leaks of the esophagus: factors associated with success after stent placement. Surg Endosc 2018; 32: 3646–3651

- [123] Vermeulen BD, van der Leeden B, Ali JT et al. Early diagnosis is associated with improved clinical outcomes in benign esophageal perforation: an individual patient data meta-analysis. Surg Endosc
- 2020: doi:10.1007/s00464-020-07806-y
  [124] Scognamiglio P, Reeh M, Karstens K et al. Endoscopic vacuum therapy versus stenting for postoperative esophago-enteric anastomotic leakage: systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy 2020; 52:
- [125] Ngamruengphong S, Sharaiha R, Sethi A et al. Fully-covered metal stents with endoscopic suturing vs. partially-covered metal stents for benign upper gastrointestinal diseases: a comparative study. . Endosc Int Open 2018; 6: E217–E223

632-642

- [126] Mohan BP, Chandan S, Khan SR et al. Self-expanding metal stents versus TIPS in treatment of refractory bleeding esophageal varices: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endosc Int Open 2020; 8: E291–E300
- [127] Marot A, Trepo E, Doerig C et al. Systematic review with meta-analysis: self-expanding metal stents in patients with cirrhosis and severe or refractory oesophageal variceal bleeding. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2015; 42: 1250–1260
- [128] Rodrigues SG, Cardenas A, Escorsell A et al. Balloon tamponade and esophageal stenting for esophageal variceal bleeding in cirrhosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Semin Liver Dis 2019; 39: 178–194
- [129] Escorsell A, Pavel O, Cardenas A et al. Esophageal balloon tamponade versus esophageal stent in controlling acute refractory variceal bleeding: A multicenter randomized, controlled trial. Hepatology 2016; 63: 1957–1967
- [130] Hassan C, Ponchon T, Bisschops R et al. European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Publications Policy – Update 2020. Endoscopy 2020; 52: 123–126

Thieme

# Supplementary material

Table 1s - Overview of key questions.

#### Malignant disease section

Taskforce 1: Esophageal stent placement for the treatment of malignant dysphagia

- Is there new evidence to support/reject/change previous guideline recommendations? 1.
- Is there sufficient evidence to provide recommendations regarding the use of novel stent types, such as biodegradable stents? 2.
- Are there any patient characteristics that should be taken into account when selecting the best palliative approach/stent design? Can we reliably identify patients with a longer expectancy? If yes, which factors can be used to predict patient survival? 3.
- 4.
- Is there an alternative to brachytherapy if brachytherapy is not available? If yes, are these therapies directly interchangeable? 5.
- 6. Are there any clinical characteristics related to the risk of stent-related adverse events?

Taskforce 2: Esophageal stent placement for the treatment of fistula and as a bridge to surgery

- Is there new evidence to support/reject/change previous guideline recommendations
- 2 What is the optimal stent design for the management of these patients?

Taskforce 3: Esophageal stent placement in patients undergoing concomitant palliative therapy or with a history of (palliative) therapy

- Is there new evidence to support/reject/change previous guideline recommendations? Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the use of irradiated stents? 1.
- 2.
- 3. Does prior palliative therapy affect the outcomes of esophageal stent placement?

#### Benign disease section

Taskforce 4: Esophageal stent placement for the treatment of (refractory) benign esophageal strictures

- Is there new evidence to support/reject/change previous guideline recommendations?
- 2. Is early timing of esophageal stent placement justifiable in patients that are deemed likely to be refractory to other therapies?
- What is the optimal stent design for the management of these patients? 3.
- Should stent fixation be routinely performed? 4.

Taskforce 5: Esophageal stent placement in combination with other strategies and options after stent failure in (refractory) benign esophageal strictures

- Is there new evidence to support/reject/change previous guideline recommendations? 1.
- 2. Should we use a different stent type after initial failure?

Taskforce 6: Esophageal stent placement for the treatment of leaks, fistulas, perforations, and acute variceal bleeding

- Is there new evidence to support/reject/change previous guideline recommendations? 1.
- 2 What is the optimal stent design for the management of these patients?
- Which clinical characteristics should be taken into account when determining the stent duration in individual patients? 3.

1

# Supplementary material

Table 2s - Overview of randomized controlled trials comparing esophageal stent placement to other treatment strategies for palliation of malignant dysphagia due to esophageal cancer.

First author, year	Interventions	Clinical success	Adverse event	Recurrent dysphagia	Other findings	Level of evidence
Alderson, 1990 [1]	SEMS (n=20) Laser therapy (n=20)	SEMS: 90% Laser therapy: 85%	SEMS: 5% Laser therapy: 25%	SEMS: 10% Laser therapy: 80%	-	Moderate
Carter, 1990 [2]	SEMS (n=20) Laser therapy (n=20)	SEMS: 90% Laser therapy: 90%	SEMS: 20% Laser therapy: 25%	SEMS: 20% Laser therapy: 10%	Patients treated by laser required more readmissions	Moderate
Fuchs, 1991 [3]	SEMS (n=23) Laser therapy (n=17)	SEMS: 83% Laser therapy: 88%	SEMS: 22% Laser therapy: 47%	-1	Length of initial hospital stay and rate of readmission were higher in the SEMS group.	Moderate
Adam, 1997 [4]	Covered SEPS(n=23) Uncovered SEPS (n=19) Laser therapy (n=18)	Covered SEPS <sup>a</sup> : 1 Uncovered SEPS <sup>a</sup> : 1 Laser therapy <sup>a</sup> : 2	Covered SEPS: 9% Uncovered SEPS: 5% Laser therapy: 11%	Covered SEPS: 12% Uncovered SEPS: 20% Laser therapy: 12%	а.	Moderate
Aoki, 2001 [5]	SEMS (n=13) Bypass surgery (n=10)	SEMS: 77% Bypass surgery: 50%		2	SEMS group had a higher duration of possible food intake and lower in- hospital mortality	Moderate
Dallal, 2001 [6]	Photodynamic therapy (n=34) SEMS (n=31)	Photodynamic therapy <sup>b</sup> : 0 SEMS <sup>b</sup> : 0	Photodynamic therapy: 18% SEMS: 26%	Photodynamic therapy: 21% SEMS: 13%	Length of hospital stay and costs were higher in the photodynamic therapy group	Moderate
Homs, 2004 [7]	SEMS (n=108) Brachytherapy (n=101)	SEMS: 76% Brachytherapy: 73%	SEMS: 33% Brachytherapy: 21%	SEMS: 40% Brachytherapy: 43%	Total medical costs and hospital stay were comparable.	High
					Brachytherapy was beneficial on most quality of life subscales.	
Bergquist, 2005 [8]	SEMS (n=34) Brachytherapy (n=31)	No differences were observed in regard to improvement of dysobagia scores	(w)	2	SEMS placement led to a more rapid relief of dysphagia based on self- reported outcomes	High
		e tebringlin secres.			Brachytherapy offers better quality of life in long-term survivors.	

<sup>8</sup>Median dysphagia score after treatment; a higher score indicates more severe dysphagia symptoms.
<sup>b</sup>Median change in dysphagia score after treatment; a higher change indicates greater effectiveness.
SEMS, self-expandable metallic stent; SEPS, self-expandable plastic stent; -, not reported.

#### Thieme

# Supplementary material

Table 3s - Outcomes of stent placement in RBES patients.

First author, year	Study design	Participants	Stent type(s)	Clinical success	Migration rate	Adverse event	Level of evidence
Bakken, 2010 [9]	R	25	FCSEMS	56%	45%		Low
Repici, 2010 [10]	Ρ	21	BDS	42.9%	9.5%	19%	Low
Eloubeidi, 2011 [11]	R	19	FCSEMS	21%	34%	36.9%	Low
Van Boeckel, 2011 [12]	R	38	BDS (n=18) SEPS (n=20)	BDS: 33% SEPS: 30%	BDS: 22% SEPS: 25%	BDS: 29% SEPS: 15%	Low
Van Hooft, 2011 [13]	Р	10	BDS	60%	0%	0%	Low
Canena, 2012 [14]	Ρ	30	BDS (n=10) FCSEMS (n=10) SEPS (n=10)	BDS: 30% FCSEMS: 40% SEPS: 10%	BDS: 20% FCSEMS: 30% SEPS: 60%	BDS: 50% FCSEMS: 60% SEPS: 70%	Low
Hirdes, 2012 [15]	Ρ	28	1 <sup>st</sup> BDS (n=28) 2 <sup>nd</sup> BDS (n=13) 3 <sup>rd</sup> BDS (n=7)	1 <sup>st</sup> : 25% 2 <sup>nd</sup> : 15% 3 <sup>rd</sup> : 0	1 <sup>st</sup> : 11% 2 <sup>nd</sup> : 8% 3 <sup>rd</sup> : 0%	1 <sup>st</sup> : 43% 2 <sup>nd</sup> : 8% 3 <sup>rd</sup> : 29%	Low
Hirdes, 2012 [16]	Ρ	15	FCSEMS	0%	33%	53%	Low
Liu, 2012 [17]	R	24	FCSEMS	75%	3.4%	72.4%	Low
Chaput, 2013 [18]	Ρ	41	FCSEMS	10%	29%	29%	Low
Dan, 2014 [19]	R	25	FCSEMS	26%	40%		Low
Dhar, 2014 [20]	RCT	17	BDS (n=10) Dilatation (n=7)	BDS: 1.17 <sup>a</sup> Dilatation: 0 <sup>a</sup>			Moderate
Gangloff, 2015 [21]	R	23	PCSEMS (n=17) FCSEMS (n=23)	PCSEMS: 23.5% FCSEMS: 34.7%	PCSEMS: 17.6% FCSEMS: 17.4%	PCSEMS: 35% FCSEMS: 9%	Low
Van Halsema, 2015 [22]	Rev	232 (8 studies)	BDS (n=77) FCSEMS (n=85) SEPS (n=70)	BDS 32.9% FCSEMS 14.1% SEPS 27.1%	BDS: 14.3% FCSEMS: 31.8% SEPS: 27.1%	BDS: 14.3% FCSEMS: 31.8% SEPS: 27.1%	Moderate
Fuccio, 2016 [23]	МА	444 (18 studies)	BDS (n=77) FCSEMS (n=227) SEPS (n=140)	BDS: 32.9% FCSEMS: 40.1% SEPS: 46.2%	BDS: 15.3% FCSEMS: 31.5% SEPS: 33.3%	BDS: 21.9% FCSEMS: 21.9% SEPS: 19.4%	High
Yano, 2017 [24]	Ρ	18	BDS	3 months: 87.5% 6 months: 18.8%	0	-	Moderate
Saeed, 2018 [25]	R	17	BDS (n=5) FCSEMS (n=17)	FCSEMS: 47% BDS: 53%	FCSEMS: 11.8% BDS: 20%	54.6%	Low
Walter, 2018 [26]	RCT	66	BDS (n=32) Dilatation (n=34)	Fewer dilatations at 3 months in BDS group	BDS: 3%		Moderate
Kappelle, 2019 [27]	RCT	18	Dilatation (n=9) FCSEMS (n=9)	-	FCSEMS: 22%	2	Moderate

<sup>a</sup>Average dysphagia score during the first six months; a higher score indicates more severe dysphagia symptoms. BDS, biodegradable stent; FCSEMS, fully covered self-expandable metallic stent; MA, meta-analysis; P, prospective; PCSEMS, partially covered self-expandable metallic stent; R, retrospective; RBES, refractory benign esophageal stricture; RCT, randomized controlled trial; Rev, review SEPS, self-expandable plastic stent; -, not reported.

# Supplementary material

#### Table 4s - Outcomes of endoscopic stent fixation in benign esophageal strictures.

First author, year	Study design	Participants	Intervention(s)	Migration rate	Adverse event	Level of evidence
Vanbiervliet, 2012 [28]	R	44 (18 benign strictures)	FCSEMS (n=21) OTSC-FCSEMS (n=23)	FCSEMS: 57% OTSC FCSEMS: 13%	0%	Low
Irani, 2014 [29]	R	3	OTSC-FCSEMS	67%	0%	Low
Sharaiha, 2015 [30]	R	47 (14 benign esophageal strictures)	ES-SEMS	6.1%%	12.7%	Low
Bick, 2016 [31]	R	101	FCSEMS <sup>a</sup> (n=59) PCSEMS <sup>a</sup> (n=30) ES-FCSEMS <sup>a</sup> (n=25)	FCSEMS: 39.5% PCSEMS: 21.1% ES-FCSEMS: 9.4%	FCSEMS: 14.9% PCSEMS: 15.8% ES-FCSEMS: 3.1%	Low
Ngamruengphong, 2016 [32]	R	125 (56 benign strictures)	ES-FCSEMS (n=44) FCSEMS (n=81)	ES-FCSEMS: 16% FCSEMS: 33%	ES-FCSEMS: 18% FCSEMS: 19%	Low
Law, 2018 [33]	MA	212 (14 studies; 100 benign strictures)	ES-FCSEMS	15.9%	3.7%	Moderate

<sup>2</sup>Some patients underwent placement of multiple stent types ES, endoscopically sutured; FCSEMS, fully covered self-expandable metallic stent; MA, meta-analysis; OTSC, over-the-scope clipped; PCSEMS, partially covered self-expandable metallic stent; R, retrospective; SEMS, self-expandable metallic stent.

# Supplementary material

ruble 33 Outcomes of coopilagear stelle placement in reaks, installas and periorations	Table 5s - Outcomes of	esophageal ste	ent placement in le	eaks, fistulas and	perforations.
--	------------------------	----------------	---------------------	--------------------	---------------

First author year	Studu dosign	Study nonulation	Intor	vention(s)	Clinical		Advarca ov	onto	Louid of ouido	
Cerna, 2012 [34]	R R	Leaks and perforations	BDS (	n=5)	80%	success	Migration:	60%	Level of evide	nce
Anikhindi, 2016 [35]	R	Leaks and fistulas	Fixat	ed SEPS (n=12)	75%		Stent migra Esophagea	ation: 33.3% stricture: 25%	Low	
Dickinson, 2016 [36]	R	Perforations	ES-FC	CSEMS (n=6)	100%				Low	
Persson, 2016 [37]	R	Leaks	FCSE	MS (n=46)	63%		All-cause m	ortality: 26%	Low	
Suzuki, 2016 [38]	R	Leaks, fistulas, and perforations	SEMS	6 (n=42)	64.3%		45.2%		Low	
Biancari, 2017 [39]	R	Perforations	FCSE	MS (n=43)	46.5%ª		Stent migra In-hospital	ntion: 59.2% mortality: 4.6%	Low	
Choi, 2017 [40]	R	Leaks	FCSE	MS (n=7)	100%		Stent migra Esophagea	ation: 0% stricture: 14.2%	Low	
Glatz, 2017 [41]	Ρ	Perforations	PCSE (=16)	MS + drainage	50%		Esophagea In-hospital	stenosis: 48% mortality: 13%	Low	
Persson, 2017 [42]	SR	Leaks, perforations, and ruptures	SEMS Surge	6 (n=371) ery (n=368)	SEMS: 8 Surgery:	8% : 83%	In-hospital SEMS: 7.5% Surgery: 17	mortality %	Low	
Silon, 2017 [43]	R	Fistulas (benign + malignant)		FCSEMS (n=16)	)	56.3%		37.5%		Low
Huh, 2018 [44]	R	Leaks and perfora	tions	FCSEMS (n=29) PCSEMS (n=2)	)	FCSEMS: 79 PCSEMS: 0%	.3% 6	Overall: 12.9% All-cause mortali	ity: 22.6%	Low
Köneş, 2018 [45]	R	Leaks and stricture	es	BDS (n=13)		85%		Pain: 100%		Low
Oprisanescu, 2018 [46]	R	Fistulas		FCSEMS (n=21)	)	76%		Stent migration: Pain: 62% Stent-induced ul	42% cer: 19%	Low
van Halsema, 2018 [47]	R	Leaks, fistulas, and perforations	d	SEMS (n=204)		59%		Mortality: 26.5%		Low
Anderloni, 2019 [48]	R	Leaks		FCSEMS (n=14) PCSEMS (n=35	)	FCSEMS: 57 PCSEMS: 64	.1% .7%	FCSEMS: 50% PCSEMS: 34.4%		Low
								Overall mortality 13.0%	t.	
Berlth, 2019 [49]	R	Leaks		EVT (n=34) FCSEMS (n=77)	)	EVT: 85.7% FCSEMS: 72	.4%	Early adverse eve EVT: 15% FCSEMS: 26%	<u>ents</u>	Low
								Late adverse eve EVT: 3.7% FCSEMS: 26%	ents	

🖗 Thieme

# Supplementary material

Debourdeau, 2019 [50]	R	Fistulas	FCSEMS (n=20) OTSC (n=8)	(	FCSEMS: 559 OTSC: 75%	6	Serious adverse e FCSEMS: 45%	<u>vents</u>	Low
Moraveji, 2019 [51]	R	Perforations	SEMS (n=80) Surgery (n=85)		SEMS: 88.7% Surgery: 95.3	3%	Procedural adver: SEMS: 3.8% Surgery: 15%	se events	Low
							Late AE SEMS: 31.2% Surgery: 10.6%		
							<u>Mortality</u> SEMS: 2.5% Surgery: 10.6%		
Plum, 2019 [52]	R	Leaks	SEMS (n=70)		70%		28.6%		Low
Azevedo, 2020 [53]	R	Leaks	FCSEMS (n=31) PCSEMS (n=22)		62.3%		Stent migration FCSEMS: 16.1% PCSEMS: 9.1%		Low
							Stent related mor Overall: 5.6%	rality	
Bohle, 2020 [54]	R	Leaks	SEMS (n=34)		76%		Stent migration: 2 Severe adverse en	24% vents: 14.7%	Low
Kamarajah, 2020 [55]	SR	Leaks and perforations (66 studies)	FCSEMS (n=810) SEPS (n=185)	87%		Stent migra Stent perfo Bleeding: C Stent erosi Overall mo	ation: 12% rration: 0.7% 1.6% on: 4% rtality: 20%	Moderate	
Rodrigues-Pinto, 2020 [56]	R	Leaks	BDS (n=8) SEMS (n=178)	BDS: 37. FCSEMS: PCSEMS	5% : 69.9% : 28.5%	Stent migra BDS: 25% FCSEMS: 2 PCSEMS: 1	ation 5.2% 2.6%	Low	
Scognamiglio, 2020 [57]	MA	Leaks (five studies)	EVT (n=88) SEMS (n=157)	EVT: 81. SEMS: 6	8% 1.1%	Early adver EVT: 17.8% SEMS: 22.8	rse events %	High	
						<u>Severe adv</u> EVT: 5.6% SEMS: 17.5	erse events %		
						In-hospital EVT: 11.2% SEMS: 22.2	mortality %		

<sup>a</sup>Proportion of patients not requiring an additional intervention. BDS, biodegradable stent; ES, endoscopically sutured; EVT, endoscopic vacuum therapy; FCSEMS, fully covered self-expandable metallic stent; MA, meta-analysis; OTSC, over-the-scope clips; P, prospective; PCSEMS, partially covered self-expandable metallic stent; SEPS, self-expandable plastic stent; SR, systematic-review.

#### Thieme

# **Supplementary material**

Tab	le 6	s - (	Dutcomes of	esop	hagea	stent	placement	in re	fractory	variceal	bleeding.
-----	------	-------	-------------	------	-------	-------	-----------	-------	----------	----------	-----------

First author, year	Design	Participants	Intervention(s)	Clinical success	Adverse events	Stent migration	Mortality	Level of evidence
Hubmann, 2006 [58]	R	20	FCSEMS	100%	5%	25%	10% (30-day)	Low
Zehetner, 2008 [59]	R	39*	FCSEMS	97%	3%	18%	27% (30-day)	Low
Wright, 2010 [60]	R	10	FCSEMS	70%	10%	10%	50% (6-week)	Low
Dechêne, 2012 [61]	R	8	FCSEMS	88%	12%	0	75% (60-day)	Low
Holster, 2013 [62]	R	5	FCSEMS	80%	40%	20%	40% (in-hospital)	Low
Fierz, 2013 [63]	R	7	FCSEMS	89%	0	22%	71% (6-week)	Low
Marot, 2015 [64]	MA	146	FCSEMS	82%	*	28%	36% (30-day)	High
Zakaria, 2013 [65]	R	16	FCSEMS	88%	15%	38%	25% (in-hospital)	Low
Jain, 2015 [66]	R	3	FCSEMS	100%	0	33%	33% (in-hospital)	Low
Müller, 2015 [67]	R	11	FCSEMS	100%	18%	63.6%	27% (6-week)	Low
Escorsell, 2016 [68]	RCT	13	BT (n=15)	BT: 47%	BT: 73%	0	BT: 60% (6-week)	Moderate
Goenka, 2017 [69]	R	12	FCSEMS (n=13) FCSEMS	100%	8.3%	0%	41.7% (30-day)	Low
Maiwall, 2018 [70]	R	35	FCSEMS	89%	2	( <b>1</b> )	74.3% (6-week)	Low
Pfisterer, 2019 [71]	R	34	FCSEMS	79.4%	11.8%	38.2%	47.1% (6-week)	Low
Rodrigues, 2019 [72]	MA	758 (23 studies)	BT (n=570) FCSEMS (n=188)	BT: 80.2% FCSEMS: 89.7%	-	-		Moderate
Mohan, 2020 [73]	MA	574 (21 studies)	FCSEMS (n=176) TIPS (n-398)	FCSEMS: 84.5% TIPS: 97.9%	FCSEMS: 36.9% TIPS: 41.4%	FCSEMS: 31.8% TIPS: n/a	FCSEMS: 43.6% TIPS: 27.9%	Moderate

8T, balloon tamponade; FCSEMS, fully covered self-expandable metallic stent; n/a, not applicable; MA, meta-analysis; R, retrospective; RCT, randomized controlled trial; TIPS, transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunting; -, not reported.

#### Supplementary References

- Alderson D, Wright PD. Laser recanalization versus endoscopic intubation in the palliation of malignant dysphagia. Br J Surg 1990; 77: 1151–1153
- 2 Carter R, Smith JS, Anderson JR. Laser recanalization versus endoscopic intubation in the palliation of malignant dysphagia: a randomized prospective study. Br J Surg 1992; 79: 1167–1170
- 3 Fuchs KH, Freys SM, Schaube H et al. Randomized comparison of endoscopic palliation of malignant esophageal stenoses. Surg Endosc 1991; 5: 63–67
- 4 Adam A, Ellul J, Watkinson AF et al. Palliation of inoperable esophageal carcinoma: a prospective randomized trial of laser therapy and stent placement. Radiology 1997; 202: 344–348
- 5 Aoki T, Osaka Y, Takagi Y et al. Comparative study of self-expandable metallic stent and bypass surgery for inoperable esophageal cancer. Dis Esophagus 2001; 14: 208–211
- 6 Dallal HJ, Smith GD, Grieve DC et al. A randomized trial of thermal ablative therapy versus expandable metal stents in the palliative treatment of patients with esophageal carcinoma. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 54: 549–557

# Supplementary material

- 7 Homs MY, Steyerberg EW, Eijkenboom WM et al. Single-dose brachytherapy versus metal stent placement for the palliation of dysphagia from oesophageal cancer: multicentre randomised trial. Lancet 2004; 364: 1497–1504
- 8 Bergquist H, Wenger U, Johnsson E et al. Stent insertion or endoluminal brachytherapy as palliation of patients with advanced cancer of the esophagus and gastroesophageal junction. Results of a randomized, controlled clinical trial. Dis Esophagus 2005; 18: 131–139
- 9 Bakken JC, Wong Kee Song LM, de Groen PC et al. Use of a fully covered self-expandable metal stent for the treatment of benign esophageal diseases. Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 72: 712–720
- 10 Repici A, Vleggaar FP, Hassan C et al. Efficacy and safety of biodegradable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures: the BEST (Biodegradable Esophageal Stent) study. Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 72: 927–934
- 11 Eloubeidi MA, Talreja JP, Lopes TL et al. Success and complications associated with placement of fully covered removable self-expandable metal stents for benign esophageal diseases (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2011; 73: 673–681
- 12 van Boeckel PG, Vleggaar FP, Siersema PD. A comparison of temporary self-expanding plastic and biodegradable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 9: 653–659
- 13 van Hooft JE, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Rauws EA et al. Endoscopic treatment of benign anastomotic esophagogastric strictures with a biodegradable stent. Gastrointest Endosc 2011; 73: 1043–1047
- 14 Canena JM, Liberato MJ, Rio-Tinto RA et al. A comparison of the temporary placement of 3 different self-expanding stents for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures: a prospective multicentre study. BMC Gastroenterol 2012; 12: 70
- 15 Hirdes MM, Siersema PD, van Boeckel PG et al. Single and sequential biodegradable stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures: a prospective follow-up study. Endoscopy 2012; 44: 649–654
- 16 Hirdes MM, Siersema PD, Vleggaar FP. A new fully covered metal stent for the treatment of benign and malignant dysphagia: a prospective follow-up study. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 75: 712–718
- 17 Liu J, Hu Y, Cui C et al. Removable, fully covered, self-expandable metal stents for the treatment of refractory benign esophagogastric anastomotic strictures. Dysphagia 2012; 27: 260–264
- 18 Chaput U, Heresbach D, Audureau E et al. Comparison of a standard fully covered stent with a super-thick silicone-covered stent for the treatment of refractory esophageal benign strictures: A prospective multicenter study. United European Gastroenterol J 2013; 1: 93–102
- 19 Dan DT, Gannavarapu B, Lee JG et al. Removable esophageal stents have poor efficacy for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures (RBES). Dis Esophagus 2014; 27: 511–517
- 20 Dhar A, Close H, Viswanath YK et al. Biodegradable stent or balloon dilatation for benign oesophageal stricture: pilot randomised controlled trial. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 18199–18206

# Supplementary material

- 21 Gangloff A, Lecleire S, Di Fiore A et al. Fully versus partially covered self-expandable metal stents in benign esophageal strictures. Dis Esophagus 2015; 28: 678–683
- 22 van Halsema EE, van Hooft JE. Clinical outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal diseases: A pooled analysis of the literature. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015; 7: 135–153
- 23 Fuccio L, Hassan C, Frazzoni L et al. Clinical outcomes following stent placement in refractory benign esophageal stricture: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy 2016; 48: 141–148
- 24 Yano T, Yoda Y, Nomura S et al. Prospective trial of biodegradable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures after curative treatment of esophageal cancer. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 86: 492–499
- 25 Saeed KM, Khattak S, Syed AA et al. Oesophageal stents for the treatment of radiation and anastomotic oesophageal strictures. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2018; 81: 361–365
- 26 Walter D, van den Berg MW, Hirdes MM et al. Dilation or biodegradable stent placement for recurrent benign esophageal strictures: a randomized controlled trial. Endoscopy 2018; 50: 1146–1155
- 27 Kappelle WF, van Hooft JE, Spaander MCW et al. Treatment of refractory post-esophagectomy anastomotic esophageal strictures using temporary fully covered esophageal metal stenting compared to repeated bougie dilation: results of a randomized controlled trial. Endosc Int Open 2019; 7: E178–E185
- 28 Vanbiervliet G, Filippi J, Karimdjee BS et al. The role of clips in preventing migration of fully covered metallic esophageal stents: a pilot comparative study. Surg Endosc 2012; 26: 53–59
- 29 Irani S, Baron TH, Gluck M et al. Preventing migration of fully covered esophageal stents with an over-the-scope clip device (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2014; 79: 844–851
- 30 Sharaiha RZ, Kumta NA, DeFilippis EM et al. A large multicenter experience with endoscopic suturing for management of gastrointestinal defects and stent anchorage in 122 patients: a retrospective review. J Clin Gastroenterol 2016; 50: 388–392
- 31 Bick BL, Imperiale TF, Johnson CS et al. Endoscopic suturing of esophageal fully covered self-expanding metal stents reduces rates of stent migration. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 86: 1015–1021
- 32 Ngamruengphong S, Sharaiha RZ, Sethi A et al. Endoscopic suturing for the prevention of stent migration in benign upper gastrointestinal conditions: a comparative multicenter study. Endoscopy 2016; 48: 802–808

# Supplementary material

- 33 Law R, Prabhu A, Fujii-Lau L et al. Stent migration following endoscopic suture fixation of esophageal self-expandable metal stents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc 2018; 32: 675–681
- 34 Cerna M, Kocher M, Valek V et al. Covered biodegradable stent: new therapeutic option for the management of esophageal perforation or anastomotic leak. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2011; 34: 1267–1271
- 35 Anikhindi SA, Ranjan P, Sachdeva M et al. Self-expanding plastic stent for esophageal leaks and fistulae. Indian J Gastroenterol 2016; 35: 287–293
- 36 Dickinson KJ, Buttar N, Wong Kee Song LM et al. Utility of endoscopic therapy in the management of Boerhaave syndrome. Endosc Int Open 2016; 4: E1146–E1150
- 37 Persson S, Rouvelas I, Kumagai K et al. Treatment of esophageal anastomotic leakage with self-expanding metal stents: analysis of risk factors for treatment failure. Endosc Int Open 2016; 4: E420–E426
- 38 Suzuki T, Siddiqui A, Taylor LJ et al. Clinical outcomes, efficacy, and adverse events in patients undergoing esophageal stent placement for benign indications: a large multicenter study. J Clin Gastroenterol 2016; 50: 373–378
- 39 Biancari F, Tauriainen T, Ylikotila T et al. Outcome of stent grafting for esophageal perforations: single-center experience. Surg Endosc 2017; 31: 3696–3702
- 40 Choi CW, Kang DH, Kim HW et al. Full covered self-expandable metal stents for the treatment of anastomotic leak using a silk thread. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017; 96: e7439
- 41 Glatz T, Marjanovic G, Kulemann B et al. Management and outcome of esophageal stenting for spontaneous esophageal perforations. Dis Esophagus 2017; 30: 1–6
- 42 Persson S, Rouvelas I, Irino T et al. Outcomes following the main treatment options in patients with a leaking esophagus: a systematic literature review. Dis Esophagus 2017; 30: 1–10
- 43 Silon B, Siddiqui AA, Taylor LJ et al. Endoscopic management of esophagorespiratory fistulas: a multicenter retrospective study of techniques and outcomes. Dig Dis Sci 2017; 62: 424–431
- 44 Huh CW, Kim JS, Choi HH et al. Treatment of benign perforations and leaks of the esophagus: factors associated with success after stent placement. Surg Endosc 2018; 32: 3646–3651
- 45 Kones O, Oran E. Self-expanding biodegradable stents for postoperative upper gastrointestinal issues. JSLS 2018; 22: e2018.00011
- 46 Oprisanescu D, Bucur D, Sandru V et al. Endoscopic treatment of benign esophageal fistulas using fully-covered metallic esophageal stents. Chirurgia (Bucur) 2018; 113: 108–115

# Supplementary material

- 47 van Halsema EE, Kappelle WFW, Weusten B et al. Stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations, and fistulae: a clinical prediction rule for successful leakage control. Endoscopy 2018; 50: 98–108
- 48 Anderloni A, Genco C, Massidda M et al. Self-expanding metal stents for the treatment of post-surgical esophageal leaks: a tertiary referral center experience. Dig Surg 2019; 36: 309–316
- 49 Berlth F, Bludau M, Plum PS et al. Self-expanding metal stents versus endoscopic vacuum therapy in anastomotic leak treatment after oncologic gastroesophageal surgery. J Gastrointest Surg 2019; 23: 67–75
- 50 Debourdeau A, Gonzalez JM, Dutau H et al. Endoscopic treatment of nonmalignant tracheoesophageal and bronchoesophageal fistula: results and prognostic factors for its success. Surg Endosc 2019; 33: 549–556
- 51 Moraveji S, Adler DG, Dargan A et al. Endoscopic therapy compared to surgical repair for the treatment of acute esophageal perforations. Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol 2019; 65: 193–199
- 52 Plum PS, Herbold T, Berlth F et al. Outcome of self-expanding metal stents in the treatment of anastomotic leaks after Ivor Lewis esophagectomy. World J Surg 2019; 43: 862–869
- 53 Azevedo R, Coelho M, Gouveia C et al. Clinical score predicting a successful endoscopic approach of esophageal anastomotic leaks: external validation. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 32: 490–495
- 54 Bohle W, Louris I, Schaudt A et al. Predictors for treatment failure of self-expandable metal stents for anastomotic leak after gastroesophageal resection. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2020; 29: 145–149
- 55 Kamarajah SK, Bundred J, Spence G et al. Critical appraisal of the impact of oesophageal stents in the management of oesophageal anastomotic leaks and benign oesophageal perforations: an updated systematic review. World J Surg 2020; 44: 1173–1189
- 56 Rodrigues-Pinto E, Pereira P, Sousa-Pinto B et al. Retrospective multicenter study on endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.10.015
- 57 Scognamiglio P, Reeh M, Karstens K et al. Endoscopic vacuum therapy versus stenting for postoperative esophago-enteric anastomotic leakage: systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy 2020; 52: 632–642
- 58 Hubmann R, Bodlaj G, Czompo M et al. The use of self-expanding metal stents to treat acute esophageal variceal bleeding. Endoscopy 2006; 38: 896–901
- 59 Zehetner J, Shamiyeh A, Wayand W et al. Results of a new method to stop acute bleeding from esophageal varices: implantation of a selfexpanding stent. Surg Endosc 2008; 22: 2149–2152
- 60 Wright G, Lewis H, Hogan B et al. A self-expanding metal stent for complicated variceal hemorrhage: experience at a single center. Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 71: 71–78

Spaander Manon CW et al. Esophageal stenting for ... Endoscopy 2021; 53: 1–12 | © 2021. Thieme. All rights reserved.

11

# Supplementary material

- 61 Dechene A, El Fouly AH, Bechmann LP et al. Acute management of refractory variceal bleeding in liver cirrhosis by self-expanding metal stents. Digestion 2012; 85: 185–191
- 62 Holster IL, Kuipers EJ, van Buuren HR et al. Self-expandable metal stents as definitive treatment for esophageal variceal bleeding. Endoscopy 2013; 45: 485–488
- 63 Fierz FC, Kistler W, Stenz V et al. Treatment of esophageal variceal hemorrhage with self-expanding metal stents as a rescue maneuver in a swiss multicentric cohort. Case Rep Gastroenterol 2013; 7: 97–105
- 64 Marot A, Trepo E, Doerig C et al. Systematic review with meta-analysis: self-expanding metal stents in patients with cirrhosis and severe or refractory oesophageal variceal bleeding. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2015; 42: 1250–1260
- 65 Zakaria MS, Hamza IM, Mohey MA et al. The first Egyptian experience using new self-expandable metal stents in acute esophageal variceal bleeding: pilot study. Saudi J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 177–181
- 66 Jain M, Balkrishanan M, Snk C et al. SX-Ella Danis stent in massive upper gastrointestinal bleeding in cirrhosis a case series. Clin Exp Hepatol 2018; 4: 97–99
- 67 Muller M, Seufferlein T, Perkhofer L et al. Self-expandable metal stents for persisting esophageal variceal bleeding after band ligation or injection-therapy: a retrospective study. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0126525
- 68 Escorsell A, Pavel O, Cardenas A et al. Esophageal balloon tamponade versus esophageal stent in controlling acute refractory variceal bleeding: A multicenter randomized, controlled trial. Hepatology 2016; 63: 1957–1967
- 69 Goenka MK, Goenka U, Tiwary IK et al. Use of self-expanding metal stents for difficult variceal bleed. Indian J Gastroenterol 2017; 36: 468–473
- 70 Maiwall R, Jamwal KD, Bhardwaj A et al. SX-Ella Stent Danis effectively controls refractory variceal bleed in patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. Dig Dis Sci 2018; 63: 493–501
- 71 Pfisterer N, Riedl F, Pachofszky T et al. Outcomes after placement of a SX-ELLA oesophageal stent for refractory variceal bleeding-A national multicentre study. Liver Int 2019; 39: 290–298
- 72 Rodrigues SG, Cardenas A, Escorsell A et al. Balloon tamponade and esophageal stenting for esophageal variceal bleeding in cirrhosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Semin Liver Dis 2019; 39: 178–194
- 73 Mohan BP, Chandan S, Khan SR et al. Self-expanding metal stents versus TIPS in treatment of refractory bleeding esophageal varices: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endosc Int Open 2020; 8: E291–E300

# ESGE esophageal stenting guideline update – key questions

I. Esophageal stents in malignant disease – Efficacy Supervisor Fuccio	
ESGE recommends placement of partially or fully covered self-expandin palliation of malignant dysphagia over laser therapy, photodynamic the bypass (strong recommendation, high quality evidence).	g metal stents (SEMSs) for rapy, and esophageal
ESGE recommends against the placement of nonexpendable and expan palliation of malignant esophageal strictures (strong recommendation,	dable plastic stents for the high quality of evidence).
Questions	Experts
<ul><li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li><li>b. Are there any clinical characteristics that should be taken into</li></ul>	Conio, Jovani
account when selecting the best palliative approach/stent design?	
c. Is there sufficient evidence to provide recommendations regarding	
the use of novel stent types, such as biodegradable stents?	
II. Esophageal stents in malignant disease – Safety	
Supervisor Fuccio	
in addition to stenting in esonbageal cancer nationts with malignant dy	sphagia Brachytherany may
provide a survival advantage and possibly a better quality of life compa	red to SEMS placement
alone. (Strong recommendation, high quality evidence)	
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this	Conio, Jovani
recommendation?	
b. Can we reliably identify patients with a longer life expectancy? If yes,	
which factors can be used to predict patient survival? If no, are there other factors that can guide treatment allocation?	
c. Is there an alternative to brachytherapy when brachytherapy is not available? If yes, is this alternative therapy directly interchangeable	
with brachytherapy?	
d. Are there any clinical characteristics related to the risk of stent-	
related adverse events?	
e. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?	

III. Esophageal stents in malignant disease – Fistula Supervisor Fuccio	
Esophageal SEMS placement is recommended as the preferred treatment tracheoesophageal or bronchoesophageal fistula (strong recommendati	nt for sealing malignant on, low quality of evidence).
Application of double stenting (esophagus and airways) can be consider	ed when fistula occlusion is
not achieved by esophageal or airway prosthesis alone (strong recomme	endation, low quality
evidence)	
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?	Siersema, Czako
b. What is the optimal stent design in the management of these	
patients?	
c. Should stent fixation be performed when there is no presence of a significant stenosis?	
IV. Esophageal stents in malignant disease – Bridge to surgery Supervisor Fuccio	
ESGE does not recommend SEMS placement as a bridge to surgery or pri	ior to preoperative
chemoradiotherapy. It is associated with a high incidence of adverse even	ents. and other satisfactory
options such as placement of a feeding tube are preferable. (Strong reco	ommendation. low quality
evidence.)	,
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this	Siersema, Czako
recommendation?	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
V. Esophageal stents in malignant disease – Concomitant palliative Supervisor Fuccio	therapy
ESGE does not recommend the concurrent use of radiotherany if an eso	nhageal stent is present
(strong recommendation, low quality of evidence)	bildgedi sterit is present
ESGE suggest that SEMS placement with concurrent single-dose brachyt	herapy is safe and effective
for relief of dysphagia (weak recommendation, low quality evidence)	
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these	de Ceglie, Gines
recommendations?	<i>C</i> ,
b. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the	
use of radioactive/drug-eluting stents?	
c. What is the optimal timing of esophageal stent placement when a	
patient is eligible for palliative chemotherapy?	
VI. Esophageal stents in malignant disease – Prior palliative therapy	/
Supervisor Fuccio	
a. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the	de Ceglie, Gines

# use of esophageal stents in patients who underwent prior palliative therapy? b. Does prior palliative therapy affect the outcomes of esophageal stent placement? If yes, does this affect the role of esophageal stent placement in the management of dysphagia and can we provide any recommendations on the (minimum) time interval between prior therapy and stent placement?

VII. Benign disease – Refractory strictures Supervisor Baron	
ESGE recommends against the use of SEMs as first-line therapy for the m	nanagement of benign
esophageal strictures because of the potential for adverse events, the av	vailability of alternative
therapies, and costs (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).	
ESGE suggests consideration of temporary placement of self-expandable	e stents for refractory
benign esophageal strictures (weak recommendation, moderate quality	evidence).
ESGE does not recommend a specific type of expandable stent (covered biodegradable) because none has been shown to be superior to any other	metal, plastic, or for this indication (strong
recommendation, moderate quality evidence).	
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these	Repici, Albers
recommendations?	
b. Is early timing of esophageal stent placement justifiable in patients	
that are deemed likely to be refractory to other therapies?	
c. Should we discourage the use of plastic stents for its higher	
migration rate?	
VIII. Benign disease – Factors predicting successful treatment	
Supervisor Baron	
ESGE does not recommend permanent stent placement for refractory b	enign esophageal stricture;
stents should usually be removed at a maximum of 3 months (strong re	commendation, weak
quality evidence).	
ESGE suggests that FCSEMSs be preferred over PCSEMSs for the treatme	ent of refractory benign
esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of re	emovability (weak
esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)	emovability (weak
esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence) ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that	emovability (weak t are embedded in the
esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence) ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).	are embedded in the
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with addition</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with additi corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should mage.</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with addit corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should mimprove the long-term benefit of temporary stenting (weak recommended)</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to dation, very low quality of
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with additic corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should mimprove the long-term benefit of temporary stenting (weak recommended)</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to dation, very low quality of
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with addit corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should mimprove the long-term benefit of temporary stenting (weak recommender)</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to dation, very low quality of Everett, Blero
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with additic corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should mimprove the long-term benefit of temporary stenting (weak recommendation?</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this recommendation?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to dation, very low quality of Everett, Blero
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with additic corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should no improve the long-term benefit of temporary stenting (weak recommendation?</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this recommendation?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to dation, very low quality of Everett, Blero
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with additic corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should mimprove the long-term benefit of temporary stenting (weak recommendation?</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this recommendation?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to dation, very low quality of Everett, Blero
<ul> <li>esophageal stricture, because of their lack of embedment and ease of recommendation, low quality evidence)</li> <li>ESGE recommends the stent-in-stent technique to remove PCSEMS that esophageal wall (strong recommendation, low quality evidence).</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change these recommendations?</li> <li>b. Should biodegradable stents be preferred over metal stents for obviating the need of stent removal?</li> <li>c. Should stent fixation be routinely performed?</li> <li>d. Is there sufficient evidence to provide any recommendations on the preferred technique of stent removal in case of stent migration?</li> <li>IX. Benign disease – Combined approaches Supervisor Baron</li> <li>ESGE suggests that a combined approach of stent placement with additic corticosteroid injection, chemotherapeutic topical application) should no improve the long-term benefit of temporary stenting (weak recommendation?</li> <li>a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this recommendation?</li> </ul>	emovability (weak t are embedded in the Repici, Albers ional techniques (e.g., not be used in an attempt to dation, very low quality of Everett, Blero

X. Benign disease – Options after stent failure Supervisor Baron	
If refractory benign esophageal stricture has not satisfactorily improved treatments with temporary stenting, ESGE suggests alternative treatmen dilatation or surgical treatment (weak recommendation, low quality evi candidates, ESGE recommends self-dilatation with rigid dilators (strong quality evidence).	after 2 separate nt strategies such as self- dence). In poor surgical recommendation, low
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this	Everett, Blero
b. Should we use a different stent type after initial failure?	
XI. Benign disease – Leaks, fistulas, and perforations Supervisor Baron	
ESGE recommends that temporary stent placement can be considered for	or treatment of leaks,
fistulas, and perforations. No specific type of stent can be recommended	d and the duration of
stenting should be individualized. (Strong recommendation, low quality	of evidence).
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this	Rodrigues-Pinto,
recommendation?	Garcia-Pagán
b. Which clinical characteristics should be taken into account when	
determining the stent duration in individual patients?	
XII. Benign disease – Acute variceal bleeding	
Supervisor Baron	
ESGE recommends considering placement of a SEMS for the treatment of	of esophageal variceal
bleeding refractory to medical, endoscopic, and/or radiological therapy,	, or as initial therapy for
patients with massive bleeding (strong recommendation, moderate qua	lity evidence).
a. Is there new evidence to support/reject/ change this	Rodrigues-Pinto,
recommendation?	Garcia-Pagán
b. Which stent type should be used?	

# C) Self-expanding metal stents in postoperative esophageal leaks

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, Pedro Pereira, Armando Ribeiro, Pedro

Moutinho-Ribeiro, Susana Lopes, Guilherme Macedo

Rev Esp Enferm Dig. 2016 Mar;108(3):133-7 doi: 10.17235/reed.2016.3987/2015.

Cited by 12 articles

(Google Scholar, 2022, January 16)

Impact factor 1.366

(Thomson-Reuters, 2016)

Rank 78 of 150 on Gastroenterology journals (Q3)

(Scimago Journal & Country Rank, 2016)

1130-0108/2016/108/3/133-137 Revista Española de Enfermedades Digestivas Copyright © 2016 Arán Ediciones, S. L.

ORIGINAL PAPERS

Rev Esp Enferm Dig (Madrid) Vol. 108, N.º 3, pp. 133-137, 2016

# Self-expanding metal stents in postoperative esophageal leaks

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, Pedro Pereira, Armando Ribeiro, Pedro Moutinho-Ribeiro, Susana Lopes and Guilherme Macedo Department of Gastroenterology. Centro Hospitalar São João. Porto, Portugal

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Postoperative esophageal leaks have a high morbidity and mortality. Self-expanding metal stents (SEMS) have been used as an alternative to re-operation.

**Aim:** Evaluating predictors of success of SEMS in postoperative esophageal leaks.

**Methods:** Retrospective study of patients with postoperative esophageal leaks referred for SEMS placement in a reference center during a period of 3 years. Technical success was defined as closure of the leak in barium swallow at 15 days. Clinical success was considered as endoscopic and/or radiographic confirmation of closure after stent removal.

**Results:** Thirteen patients placed SEMS. Median follow-up was 58 days. Leaks had a median size of 20 mm. Time between surgery and SEMS placement was 20 days. One patient died 2 days after SEMS placement and one had worsening of the fistula after SEMS expansion. Time till stent migration was 9 days. Technical success was achieved in 9 of 11 patients, with clinical success without recurrence in 5 patients. All leaks with less than 20 mm were solved endoscopically. Technical and clinical success was higher when time between surgery and SEMS placement was lower, even though without statistical significance (respectively, p = 0.228 and 0.374). In the 8 patients who died during follow-up, median survival was 59 days.

**Conclusions:** Technical success of SEMS was higher than 80%; however, due to high morbidity and mortality, only 45% of patients had their stent removed. Lower time from diagnosis to SEMS placement and leak size less than 20 mm may be associated with better results.

**Key words:** Postoperative esophageal leaks. Self-expanding metal stents. Survival.

#### INTRODUCTION

Postoperative esophageal leaks can develop after esophagectomy, gastrectomy or mediastinal surgeries with esophageal laceration. Intrathoracic leak rates after esophageal resection occur in 7.9% of the surgeries (1) and

e-mail: edu.gil.pinto@gmail.com

after gastrectomy in 4% to 27% (2,3). Endoscopy is useful in diagnosis because the defect, integrity of surrounding tissue, and infection in the adjacent tissue can be assessed. Early diagnosis significantly reduces the rate of complications and mortality (4-7). Clinical manifestations vary depending on the location of the leak and time elapsing from the perforation or rupture. Fever, systemic inflammatory response syndrome, and abnormal C-reactive protein, white blood cell count, and albumin are indicators of postoperative esophageal leak (8,9).

Despite aggressive therapy, mortality rate of postoperative esophageal leaks remain as high as 20% (1,10), with treatment delays being associated with increased mortality rates (11). Traditionally, management of leaks with more than 5 mm has been prompt surgery, consisting on surgical drainage and repair, nothing by mouth, parenteral nutrition, and antibiotics; however, up to 30% of repairs demonstrate a persistent leak and may require additional esophageal procedures (12).

Fibrin glue or endoscopic clip placement can be considered for small defects, although patients with dehiscence of 30% to 70% of the esophageal circumference likely warrant stent placement. Self-expanding metal stents (SEMS) placement has become a well-established treatment, by excluding the defect to allow healing and oral feeding. However, SEMS placement can be complicated by inadequate defect closure, stent migration, and difficult removal. Leak of the proximal cervical esophagus, stent traversing the gastro-esophageal junction, esophageal leak with more than 6 cm and anastomotic leak associated with a more distal conduit leak have been associated with failure of leak resolution (13).

The aim of our study was to evaluate the safety, efficacy, and technical and clinical success of SEMS placement in the management of postoperative esophageal leaks.

\_\_\_\_\_

*Received:* 31-08-2015 *Accepted:* 24-12-2015

Correspondence: Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto. Department of Gastroenterology. Centro Hospitalar São João. Al. Prof. Hernâni Monteiro. 4200-319 Porto, Portugal

Rodrigues-Pinto E, Pereira P, Ribeiro A, Moutinho-Ribeiro P, Lopes S, Macedo G. Self-expanding metal stents in postoperative esophageal leaks. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2016;108:133-137.

134

E. RODRIGUES-PINTO ET AL.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

Retrospective study based on medical records from patients with postoperative esophageal leaks referred for SEMS placement in a reference center between January 2011 and December 2014. Only patients submitted to esophageal, gastric or mediastinal surgeries were included. The diagnosis was made based on clinical symptoms (fever, respiratory distress, hemodynamic shock, and increased output of external drainage) combined with the findings of the computed tomography scan and/or a barium swallow that confirmed the leak. Leak size was measured endoscopically.

Technical success was defined as closure of the leak in barium swallow at 15 days. Clinical success was considered as endoscopic and/or radiographic confirmation of closure after stent removal. Timing for stent removal was individualized by patient according to co-morbidities, nutritional status, size, and location of the esophageal fistula. All the stents were fully covered (Hanarostent M.I. Tech Co., Inc, Seoul, South Korea), with 20 mm diameter, with proximal and distal flares with 26 mm, and were mounted on 18 Fr (6 mm) delivery systems. A .035-inch or .038-inch guidewire was inserted distal to the leak, and stent deployment was performed under direct endoscopic visualization. Clips were not used to anchor the stent to the esophageal mucosa. The length of the stent was chosen to extend each edge of the stent at least 2 cm beyond the proximal and distal extent of the esophageal leak. Nasogastric tubes were not routinely placed after esophageal stent insertion. Barium studies were routinely performed prior to patients' discharge.

Collected data included baseline patient and leak characteristics, type of surgery performed, location of the leak, SEMS extension, time between surgery and SEMS placement, adverse events, technical and clinical success and survival.

#### **Statistics**

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize our population. Categorical variables were described through absolute and relative frequencies and continuous variables were described as mean and standard deviation, median, percentiles, minimum and maximum. Hypotheses were tested about the distribution of continuous variables with non-normal distribution, by using the nonparametric Mann-Whitney and Kruskal-Wallis test, depending on the nature of the hypotheses about independence of categorical variables, as appropriate. Kaplan-Meyer analysis was used to calculate survival. All the reported p values were two-sided, and p values of < 0.05 were considered as statistically significant. All data were arranged, processed and analyzed with SPSS<sup>®</sup> v.20.0 data (Statistical Package for Social Sciences).

## RESULTS

#### Population

A total of 13 patients (11 males) were analyzed, with a median age of 63 year-old (20-83). Median follow-up was 58 days (IQR: 19-134). Four of the patients were on intensive care units, 3 were on intermediate care units and 6 were on the general ward. Baseline characteristics of patients are present in table I.

Leaks had a median size of 20 mm (8-40), being secondary to Ivor-Lewis esophagectomy in 6 patients, total gastrectomy in 2, thoracic surgery in 2, Nissen fundoplication in 1, after cervical esophagostomy reconstruction in 1 and excision of esophageal diverticulum in 1. Ten of the leaks were located at the level of the anastomosis, with 2 being in the proximal esophagus and 1 in the distal esophagus.

#### SEMS placement and adverse events

Eight patients placed SEMS longer than 11 cm, with the remaining 5 placing SEMS shorter or with 11 cm.

Time between surgery and SEMS placement was 20 days (8-64). One patient died 2 days after SEMS placement (death not related to stent placement or fistula existence) and one had worsening of the fistula after SEMS expansion. Four patients had migration of the stent, with placement of a second stent in 3 of them and repositioning of the first stent in the other one. Time till stent migration was 9 days (2-23). Migration was not influenced by SEMS extension (25% vs. 33%, p = 0.777).

Technical success was achieved in 9 of 11 patients, with clinical success without recurrence in 5 patients (stent removal in median 46 days after placement). All leaks with less than 20 mm were solved endoscopically. Technical and clinical success was higher when time between surgery and SEMS placement was lower, even though without statistical significance (respectively, 10 days [8-27] *vs.* 48 days [10-64], p = 0.228 and 12 days [8-21] *vs.* 20 days [10-64], p = 0.374) (Fig. 1). Clinical success was not influenced by SEMS extension (50% *vs.* 33%, p = 0.599).

In the 8 patients who died during follow-up, median survival was 59 days ( $CI_{95\%}$ : 45-73). Mortality at the 1<sup>st</sup> month was 31% (n = 4) and at 3 months was 46% (n = 6).

#### DISCUSSION

Postoperative esophageal leaks remain the most important complication after upper gastroesophageal surgery. The constant leakage of gastric juices and saliva into the pleural and mediastinal cavities make this a life-threatening condition responsible for 40% of postoperative mortality (14). The incidence of leak with an intrathoracic anastomosis reported in the literature varies between 3% and 25%, even though published guidelines recommend that the incidence of anastomotic leak should not exceed 5% (15). The choice between surgical or alternative (conservative or endoscopic) management remains controversial. The main goals of surgery in this context are closure of the defect by primary repair (eventually reinforced by tissue interposition) and cleaning of the mediastinal or pleural space through

REV ESP ENFERM DIG 2016; 108 (3): 133-137

		F	able I. B	aseline cha	racteristi	c of patients wit	h postoper:	ative esophageal	l leaks				
Age/gender	Previous surgery	Surgery indication	Ward	Time from surgery to SEMS	Leak size	Leak location	SEMS extension	Adverse events other than migration	Migration	Time until migration	Technical success	Clinical success	Survival
1-72/Male	Total gastrectomy	Gastric neoplasia	ICU	27 days	25 mm	El anastomosis	15 cm	AN	No	NA	Yes	No	Death
2-63/M	lvor-Lewis esophagectomy	Esophageal neoplasia	IMCU	8 days	25 mm	EG anastomosis	15 cm	AN	Yes	2 days	Yes	No	Death
3-63/M	Thoracic surgery	Substernal goiter surgery	ICU	10 days	40 mm	Proximal esophagus	11 cm	AA	No	NA	Yes	No	Death
4-55/M	lvor-Lewis esophagectomy	Esophageal neoplasia	IMCU	29 days	25 mm	EG anastomosis	11 cm	AN	Yes	7 days	No	No	Death
5-65/M	Total gastrectomy	Gastric neoplasia	ICU	10 days	30 mm	El anastomosis	14 cm	AN	Yes	23 days	No	No	Death
6-46/M	lvor-Lewis esophagectomy	Esophageal neoplasia	MĐ	27 days	10 mm	EG anastomosis	15 cm	AN	No	NA	Yes	No	Death
7-74/M	Excision of esophageal diverticulum	Esophageal diverticulum	GW	9 days	40 mm	EG anastomosis	14 cm	AA	Yes	5 days	Yes	Yes	Alive
8-83/F	Thoracic surgery	Aortic valve substitution	ICU	64 days	20 mm	Proximal esophagus	11 cm	Death 2 days after	No	NA	NA	AN	Death
9-74/F	Nissen fundoplication	GERD and hiatus hernia	IMCU	20 days	20 mm	Distal esophagus	14 cm	Fistula worsening after SEMS expansion	N	AN	AN	NA	Death
10-20/M	Cervical esophagostomy reconstruction	Eosinophilic esophagitis perforation	GW	21 days	8 mm	El anastomosis	8 cm	AA	N	AN	Yes	Yes	Alive
11-57/M	lvor-Lewis esophagectomy	Esophageal neoplasia	МЭ	21 days	15 mm	EG anastomosis	14 cm	AN	No	NA	Yes	Yes	Alive
12-45/M	Mckewon esophagectomy	Esophageal neoplasia	МЭ	14 days	10 mm	EG anastomosis	14 cm	AN	No	NA	Yes	Yes	Alive
13-60/M	lvor-Lewis esophagectomy	Esophageal neoplasia	М	8 days	8 mm	EG anastomosis	11 cm	NA	No	AA	Yes	Yes	Alive
ICU: Intensive o	are unit; IMCU: Interm	rediate care unit; GV	N: General	l ward; El: Esop	hago-intesti	inal; EG: Esophagogas	tric; NA: Not a	pplicable.					

SELF-EXPANDING METAL STENTS IN POSTOPERATIVE ESOPHAGEAL LEAKS

#### E. RODRIGUES-PINTO ET AL.

REV ESP ENFERM DIG (MADRID)



Fig. 1. A. Technical success and B. Clinical success considering time between surgery and SEMS placement. Technical and clinical success was higher when time between surgery and SEMS placement was lower.

surgical debridement and drainage. In more complex or extensive leakage a delayed reconstruction after diversion with a cervical esophagostomy may be required. However, surgical reintervention is associated with high morbidity and mortality (16-18) and prolonged intensive care unit and hospital stays, particularly in patients with a delayed diagnosis and mediastinal and pleural contamination.

Endoscopy can define whether intrathoracic leakage is secondary to gastric conduit necrosis, conduit staple line dehiscence, or esophagogastric anastomosis dehiscence. Insertion of an esophageal stent across the leakage region is the most popular and effective method to seal leaks and avoid surgery, with the use of temporary fully covered SEMS being well documented in various report series (19-21). Migration rate may be explained by the fact that stents used are not designed specifically for the indication of esophageal leakage or fistula. In our study, even though the majority of patients were on intensive or intermediate care units, technical success of SEMS in esophageal leaks was higher than 80%. However, postoperative esophageal leaks were associated with a high morbidity and mortality, partially explained by patients' co-morbidities, as well as surgery adverse events, with mortality rates at 1<sup>st</sup> month being 31% and at 3 months 46%. Literature suggests that stents should be left in place for 6 to 8 weeks in postoperative esophageal leaks. Considering these, clinical success was low, with only 45% of the patients having their stent removed, once the remaining 4 patients died before removal. However, all the patients who achieved clinical success were alive at the end of follow-up. SEMS seem to be a safe and effective option in the endoscopic sealing of leaks, allowing feeding, nutritional and clinical improvement. Better results seem to be achievable when time from initial diagnosis to SEMS placement is lower and leak size is less than 20 mm. These patients probably benefit the most from SEMS, allowing resolution of leaks and surgery avoidance.

Limitations of our study include its retrospective nature, with results reporting data only from a tertiary and single center, with possible selection bias that may preclude generalizability to community practice, as well as the small number of patients and heterogeneous population of patients. However, it reflects only patients with postoperative esophageal leaks and addresses clinical and endoscopic factors associated with endoscopic resolution of leaks.

#### REFERENCES

- Rutegård M, Lagergren P, Rouvelas I, et al. Intrathoracic anastomotic leakage and mortality after esophageal cancer resection: A population-based study. Ann Surg Oncol 2012;19:99-103. DOI: 10.1245/ s10434-011-1926-6
- Lang H, Piso P, Stukenborg C, et al. Management and results of proximal anastomotic leaks in a series of 1,114 total gastrectomies for gastric carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 2000;26:168-71. DOI: 10.1053/ ejso.1999.0764
- Nowakowski P, Ziaja K, Ludyga T, et al. Self-expandable metallic stents in the treatment of post-esophagogastrostomy/post-esophagoenterostomy fistula. Dis Esophagus 2007;20:358-60. DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2007.00688.x
- White RK, Morris DM. Diagnosis and management of esophageal perforations. Am Surg 1992;58:112-9.
- Reeder LB, DeFilippi VJ, Ferguson MK. Current results of therapy for esophageal perforation. Am J Surg 1995;169:615-7. DOI: 10.1016/ S0002-9610(99)80232-3
- Sawyer R, Phillips C, Vakil N. Short- and long-term outcome of esophageal perforation. Gastrointest Endosc 1995;41:130-4. DOI: 10.1016/ S0016-5107(05)80594-2
- Shaker H, Elsayed H, Whittle I, et al. The influence of the "golden 24-h rule" on the prognosis of oesophageal perforation in the modern era. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2010;38:216-22. DOI: 10.1016/j. ejcts.2010.01.030
- Noble F, Curtis N, Harris S, et al. South Coast Cancer Collaboration

   Oesophago-Gastric (SC-OG). Risk assessment using a novel score
   to predict anastomotic leak and major complications after oesopha

Vol. 108, N.º 3, 2016

geal resection. J Gastrointest Surg 2012;16:1083-95. DOI: 10.1007/ s11605-012-1867-9

- Tsujimoto H, Ono S, Takahata R, et al. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome as a predictor of anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy. Surg Today 2012;42:141-6. DOI: 10.1007/s00595-011-0049-9
- Bhatia P, Fortin D, Inculet RI, et al. Current concepts in the management of esophageal perforations: A twenty-seven year Canadian experience. Ann Thorac Surg 2011;92:209-15. DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.03.131
- 11. Alanezi K, Urschel JD. Mortality secondary to esophageal anastomotic leak. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;10:71-5
- Karl RC, Schreiber R, Boulware D, et al. Factors affecting morbidity, mortality, and survival in patients undergoing Ivor-Lewis esophagogastrectomy. Ann Surg 2000;231:635-43. DOI: 10.1097/00000658-200005000-00003
- Freeman RK, Ascioti AJ, Giannini T, et al. Analysis of unsuccessful esophageal stent placements for esophageal perforation, fistula, or anastomotic leak. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;94:959-64. Discussion 964-5. DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.05.047
- Page RD, Shackcloth MJ, Russell GN, et al. Surgical treatment of anastomotic leaks after oesophagectomy. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;27:337-43. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.10.053
- Junemann-Ramírez M, Awan MY, Khan ZM, et al. Anastomotic leakage post-esophagogastrectomy for esophageal carcinoma: Retrospective analysis of predictive factors, management and influence on

long term survival in a high volume centre. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;27:3-7. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.09.018

- Freeman RK, Van Woerkom JM, Ascioti AJ. Esophageal stent placement for the treatment of iatrogenic intrathoracic esophageal perforation. Ann Thorac Surg 2007;83:2003-7. Discussion 2007-8. DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.02.025
- Dai YY, Gretschel S, Dudeck O, et al. Treatment of oesophageal anastomotic leaks by temporary stenting with self-expanding plastic stents. Br J Surg 2009;96:887-91. DOI: 10.1002/bjs.6648
- Schubert D, Scheidbach H, Kuhn R, et al. Endoscopic treatment of thoracic esophageal anastomotic leaks by using silicone-covered, self-expanding polyester stents. Gastrointest Endosc 2005;61:891-6. DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(05)00325-1
- Swinnen J, Eisendrath P, Rigaux J, et al. Self-expandable metal stents for the treatment of benign upper GI leaks and perforations. Gastrointest Endosc 2011;73:890-9. DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.12.019
- El Hajj II, Imperiale TF, Rex DK, et al. Treatment of esophageal leaks, fistulae, and perforations with temporary stents: Evaluation of efficacy, adverse events, and factors associated with successful outcomes. Gastrointest Endosc 2014;79:589-98. DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.08.039
- Orive-Calzada A, Calderón-García Á, Bernal-Martínez A, et al. Closure of benign leaks, perforations, and fistulas with temporary placement of fully covered metal stents: A retrospective analysis. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2014;24:528-36. DOI: 10.1097/SLE. 0b013e318293c4d8
## D) International multicenter expert survey on endoscopic treatment of upper gastrointestinal anastomotic leaks.

**Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto,** Alessandro Repici, Gianfranco Donatelli, Guilherme Macedo, Jacques Devière, Jeanin E. van Hooft, Josemberg M. Campos, Manuel Galvão Neto, Marco Silva, Pierre Eisendrath, Vivek Kumbhari, Mouen A. Khashab

Endosc Int Open. 2019 Dec;7(12):E1671-E1682

doi: 10.1055/a-1005-6632

Cited by 14 articles (Google scholar, 2022, January 16)

## International multicenter expert survey on endoscopic treatment of upper gastrointestinal anastomotic leaks

## $\odot$

#### Authors

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto<sup>1</sup>, Alessandro Repici<sup>2</sup>, Gianfranco Donatelli<sup>3</sup>, Guilherme Macedo<sup>1</sup>, Jacques Devière<sup>4</sup>, Jeanin E. van Hooft<sup>5</sup>, Josemberg M. Campos<sup>6</sup>, Manoel Galvao Neto<sup>7</sup>, Marco Silva<sup>1</sup>, Pierre Eisendrath<sup>8</sup>, Vivek Kumbhari<sup>9</sup>, Mouen A. Khashab<sup>9, °</sup>

## Institutions

- 1 Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar São João, Porto, Portugal
- 2 Digestive Endoscopy Unit, Humanitas Research Hospital, Rozzano, Milan; Humanitas University, Rozzano, Milan, Italy
- 3 Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Hôpital Privé des Peupliers Paris, France
- 4 Department of Gastroenterology Hepatopancreatology, and Digestive Oncology, Erasme University Hospital, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium
- 5 Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Amsterdam University Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- 6 Department of Surgery, University of Pernambuco, Recife, Pernambuco, Brazil
- 7 Herbert Wertheim College of Medicine at Florida International University, Department of Surgery, Miami, Florida, United States
- 8 Department of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, CHU Saint Pierre, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium
- 9 Department of Medicine and Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, Maryland, United States

submitted 29.5.2019 accepted after revision 5.8.2019

#### Bibliography

DOI https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1005-6632 | Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671–E1682 © Georg Thieme Verlag KG Stuttgart · New York eISSN 2196-9736

## Supplementary material Online content viewable at: https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1005-6632

\* Full list of collaborators ordered alphabetically at the end of the article.

## Corresponding author

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, MD, Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar São João, Porto. Al. Prof. Hernâni Monteiro 4200 – 319, Porto, Portugal Fax: +351 22 551 3601 edu.gil.pinto@gmail.com

#### ABSTRACT

**Background and study aims** A variety of endoscopic techniques are currently available for treatment of upper gastrointestinal (UGI) anastomotic leaks; however, no definite consensus exists on the most appropriate therapeutic approach. Our aim was to explore current management of UGI anastomotic leaks.

**Methods** A survey questionnaire was distributed among international expert therapeutic endoscopists regarding management of UGI anastomotic leaks.

**Results** A total of 44% of 163 surveys were returned; 69% were from gastroenterologists and 56% had >10 years of experience. A third of respondents treat between 10 and 19 patients annually. Fifty-six percent use fully-covered self-expandable metal stents as their usual first option; 80 % use techniques to minimize migration; 4 weeks was the most common reported stent dwell time. Sixty percent perform epithelial ablation prior to over-the-scope-clip placement or suturing. Regarding endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT), 56% perform balloon dilation and intracavitary EVT in patients with large cavities but small leak defects. Regarding endoscopic septotomy, 56% consider a minimal interval of 4 weeks from surgery and 90% consider the need to perform further sessions. Regarding endoscopic internal drainage (EID), placement of two stents and shorter stents is preferred. Persistent inflammation with clinical sepsis was the definition most commonly reported for endoscopic failure. EVT/stent placement and EVT/EID were the therapeutic options most often chosen in patients with previous oncologic surgery and previous bariatric surgery, respectively.

**Conclusions** There is a wide variation in the management of patients with UGI anastomotic leaks. Future prospective studies are needed to move from an expert- to evidenceand personalization-based care.

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert ... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671-E1682

**Original article** 

## Introduction

Gastrointestinal leaks are abnormal communications between the intraluminal and extraluminal compartments as a result of a defect in the integrity of the gastrointestinal wall [1]. They usually occur due to defects at surgical suture sites, being associated with a high risk of mortality and morbidity. Leaks are responsible for the majority of surgical mortality [2–4]. In addition, delayed closure of leaks may result in chronic fistulae formation, which are difficult to manage endoscopically.

Prevalence of upper gastrointestinal (UGI) anastomotic leaks has increased in recent years. Leaks related to oncologic surgery leaks have been reported in 8 % to 26 % after distal esophagectomy and in 3 % to 12 % after total gastrectomy [3, 5]; bariatric surgery leaks have been reported in 2 % to 5 % of patients after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) and in 1 % to 2 % after sleeve gastrectomy [6, 7].

Treatment of UGI anastomotic leaks remains controversial, as indications for surgical, conservative and endoscopic therapy remain non-standardized. Traditionally, surgical therapy 🖗 Thieme

has been the mainstay of treatment for anastomotic leaks; however, it tends to be complex and is plagued by high rates of morbidity [8]. Over the last decade, interventional endoscopy has evolved as an effective and less invasive alternative to primary surgery, changing the management paradigm for UGI leaks. A variety of techniques are currently available to reestablish the continuity of the digestive tract, prevent or treat infection related to the leak, prevent further contamination, drain potential collections, and provide nutritional support [9]. Endoscopic options include stent placement (metallic, plastic and biodegradable), endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT), endoscopic internal drainage (EID), through-the-scope [TTS] and over-thescope clips [OTSC], endoscopic suturing, endoscopic septotomy plus balloon dilation and tissue sealants [9]. Theoretically, all of these can be used alone or with a multimodality approach, with the approach chosen being tailored to the clinical and morphologic presentation but also largely institutional dependent and based upon availability of devices and accessories.

Even though endoscopic therapy may be associated with an improved outcome and better quality of life, there is no definite



▶ Fig. 1 a Clinical case 1: 52-year-old man with subcutaneous emphysema and respiratory insufficiency after lvor-Lewis esophagectomy due to esophagus squamous-cell carcinoma; chest CT with oral contrast revealed a 12-cm intrathoracic collection with communication with the gastric tube; upper endoscopy revealed a severe anastomotic leakage 29 cm from the incisors. b Clinical case 2: 42-year-old woman, body mass index 38 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, who underwent laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy, without drain placement; 10 days later, she presented with a left pneumonia; chest CT with oral contrast revealed a 4-cm intrathoracic collection with the gastric tube; upper endoscopy revealed a 20-mm anastomotic leakage 35 cm from the incisors; no stricture was present at the level of the incisura angularis. c Clinical case 3: 38-year-old man, with a body mass index of 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, who underwent a Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, and presented 6 days later with fever and leukocytosis; CT with oral contrast revealed an 8 cm intraabdominal collection with communication with the gastric pouch; upper endoscopy revealed a nanastomotic leakage 44 cm from the incisors; d Clinical case 4: 72-year-old man with recurrent leukocytosis and fever after total gastrectomy; CT with oral contrast revealed contrast extravasation between the gastrointestinal lumen and the intra-abdominal cavity; upper endoscopy revealed a severe anastomotic leakage 41 cm from the incisors.

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert ... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671–E1682

	5				, ,				
	First most used	Second most used	Third most used	Fourth most used	Fifth most used	Sixth most used	Seventh most used	Total	Average ranking
Stent placement	52.1%	32.4%	8.5%	4.2%	-	1.4%	-	70	6.3
Endoscopic vacuum therapy	15.5%	14.1%	7 %	7 %	8.5%	15.5%	11.3%	56	4.1
Endoscopic suturing	1.4%	8.5%	9.9%	14.1%	11.3%	15.5%	11.3%	51	3.4
Tissue sealants	7 %	5.6%	11.3%	14.1%	15.5%	21.1%	12.7%	62	3.4
Over-the-scope clips	4.2%	16.9%	33.8%	21.1%	9.9%	2.8%	2.8%	65	4.6
Endoscopic septotomy plus balloon dilation	2.8%	11.3%	4.2%	8.5%	15.5%	8.5%	16.9%	48	3.3
Endoscopic internal drainage	16.9%	9.9%	21.1%	16.9%	14.1%	-	2.8%	60	4.7
Not applicable	_	1.4%	4.2%	14.1%	25.4%	35.2%	42.3%		

**Table 1** Techniques rating from the most frequently used to the less frequently used.

consensus on the most appropriate therapeutic approach in management of UGI anastomotic leaks. The current study was designed to explore the current practices in the management of UGI anastomotic leaks of a panel comprising international expert therapeutic endoscopists with experience in leaks to help design and inform future prospective studies.

## Methods

An online survey was developed to assess the opinion and practice of a panel of international expert therapeutic endoscopists regarding management of UGI anastomotic leaks. The participants were selected based on publications published on PubMed between January 2013 and April 2018 regarding endoscopic treatment of UGI anastomotic leaks. A total of 226 publications were found, corresponding to 182 different authors with available emails (first, last or corresponding authors). The survey was initially distributed, tested and optimized among 12 selected therapeutic endoscopists (ERP, AR, GD, GM, JD, JEVH, JMC, MGN, MS, PE, VK and MAK). Nineteen of the 182 obtained e-mail addresses were inactive. In August 2018, 163 participants were invited via an e-mail link to an online survey programme (http://www.surveymonkey.com), followed by a total of 3-weekly reminders.

The survey consisted of 35 opinion-probing questions (**Appendix 1**) and 4 short clinical cases (**> Fig. 1**). With regard to the clinical vignettes, participants were asked to choose one option between the different endoscopic therapies available.

The final percentage in multiple-choice questions may exceed 100%, as several respondents have chosen more than one answer. Average ranking (AR) in > Table 1 and Supplementary Table 1 was calculated to determine which therapeutic choice was most preferred overall. It was calculated as follows, where "w = weight of ranked position" and "x = response count for answer choice"; weights are applied in reverse:

$$\frac{x_1w_1 + x_2w_2 + x_3w_3 \dots x_nw_n}{Total}$$

Ideal patient characteristics for each endoscopic technique were based on the majority of respondents' answers (**> Table 2**). Data were collected non-anonymously and analyzed using the graphical and analytical features of www.surveymonkey. com and IBM SPSS Statistics, version 24.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, New York, United States). Answers were described as counts

and percentages for categorical variables. Continuous variables were summarized as medians and range. Regarding respondents who gave time ranges between treatment sessions, the median value of each range was used to determine the total median value.

This study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki. All authors reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

## Results

## Participants and endoscopic therapies characterization

A total of 163 surveys were sent and 71 (44%) were returned. Twenty-five countries on five different continents were represented. Sixty-nine percent of the respondents (n=49) were gastroenterologists, with the remaining 31% (n=22) being surgeons. Eighty-two percent of respondents (n=58) worked in academic hospitals and 18% (n=13) in non-academic teaching hospitals. The number of patients with anastomotic leaks treated within each therapeutic endoscopy unit in 1 year ranged from 1 to 4at nine centers (13%) to >40 at five hospitals (7%) ( $\triangleright$  Fig.2). Respondents had a median of 10 years [1-36] of experience.

Placement of self-expandable metal stents (SEMS) was the technique most available in each department (97%), followed by OTSC (89%) and EID (79%) (**> Fig. 3**). Stent placement was

Electronic reprint for personal use

Original article

Thieme

		en endoscopie teem	inque.			
	Ideal patient	characteristics <sup>1</sup>				
	Stent	OTSC	EVT	Suture	Septotomy	EID
Time of leak						
Acute	93.8%	96.8%	48.7%	89.5%	3.2%	54.3%
Chronic	17.2%	19%	71.8%	31.6%	100%	65.2%
<ul> <li>NO/NI</li> </ul>	n = 7	n = 8	n=32	n = 33	n=40	n = 25
Leak size						
• 0-1cm	54.1%	77%	25%	64.7%	51.9%	63.6%
• 1-2 cm	63.9%	47.5%	40 %	50%	63%	65.9%
■ 2-3cm	55.7%	9.8%	67.5%	47.1%	51.9%	45.5%
• >3 cm	42.6%	-	77.5%	35.3%	63%	38.6%
<ul> <li>NO/NI</li> </ul>	n = 10	n = 10	n=31	n = 37	n = 44	n=27
Leak location						
<ul> <li>Intrathoracic</li> </ul>	93.2%	64%	92.5%	58.6%	25%	66%
<ul> <li>Intraabdominal</li> </ul>	45.8%	92 %	60%	96.6%	92.9%	83%
<ul> <li>NO/NI</li> </ul>	n = 12	n = 21	n = 31	n = 42	n=43	n=24
Associated collection						
<ul> <li>Yes</li> </ul>	11.3%	7 %	95.2%	11.1%	90%	97.9%
<ul> <li>No</li> </ul>	88.7%	93%	4.8%	88 n = 35.9 %	10%	2.1%
<ul> <li>NO/NI</li> </ul>	n = 9	n = 14	n=29		n=41	n=24
Previous surgery						
Bariatric	78.6%	87.8%	81.6%	96.6%	100%	95.5%
<ul> <li>Oncologic</li> </ul>	75%	71.4%	84.2%	72.4%	25.9%	59.1%
<ul> <li>NO/NI</li> </ul>	n = 15	n=22	n=33	n=42	n = 44	n=27

► Table 2 Ideal patient characteristics for each endoscopic technique

EID, endoscopic internal drainage; EVT, endoscopic vacuum therapy; OTSC, over-the-scope clip; NO/NI, no experience/no information <sup>1</sup> Final percentage may be higher than 100% as many respondents considered more than one option.



► Fig. 2 Respondents' answers to how many patients with anastomotic leaks does your therapeutic endoscopy unit usually treat in 1 year. the technique most frequently used (AR: 6.3), followed by EID (AR: 4.7), OTSC (AR: 4.6) and EVT (AR: 4.1) (► **Table 1**). AR for each continent, specialty, years of experience and patients treated per year are represented in **Supplementary Table 1**.

## Leaks characteristics

Location (94%), size (93%), chronicity (91%) and associated cavity (90%) were the most relevant characteristics considered by respondents to impact choice of treatment. Sixty-five percent of the respondents treat bariatric leaks differently from oncologic surgery leaks. Collections not reachable by endoscopy (69%) and insufficient internal drainage (66%) were the most common indications for need for additional percutaneous/surgical drainage (**Supplementary Table 2**).

## Self-expandable stents

Fifty-six percent of the 69 respondents with stent experience reported fully-covered SEMS (FC-SEMS) to be their usual first option, while 42% preferred partially-covered SEMS (PC-

Electronic reprint for personal use

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert ... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671–E1682



Fig. 3 Respondents' answers to techniques available in endoscopic departments.

SEMS). The majority (80%) used techniques to minimize stent migration, with 38% (n=21) of them using combined therapies; placement of PC-SEMS is usually the preferred technique (45%), followed by suture of the stent to the mucosa (33%) and anchoring the stent with TTS clips (25%) or OTSC (16%).

Additional techniques to minimize stent migration are considered in patients with previous stent migration (52%), if incomplete sealing between stent and esophageal wall (34%) and when stents placed across jejunal anastomoses (19%) (**► Table 3**).

The most common stent dwell time reported was 4 weeks (49%) (range: 2 – 10 weeks) (**> Table 3**).

Patients with acute leaks (94%), without associated collections (89%), with intra-thoracic location (93%) and less than 3 cm in diameter were considered ideal for stent placement; the majority of respondents considered both previous surgeries (bariatric or oncologic) suitable for stent placement (> Table 2).

## Over-the-scope clips

Sixty-six percent and 37% of the 64 participants with OTSC experience reported placing them in acute and early leaks, respectively; 17% reported always performing epithelial ablation/damage prior to OTSC application, with 62% performing it at least in half of procedures (> Table 3).

Patients without associated collections (93%), with intra-abdominal location (92%), up to 1 cm in diameter (77%) and resulting from previous bariatric surgery (88%) were considered ideal patients for OTSC placement (**> Table 2**).

## Endoscopic vacuum therapy

Seventy-five percent of the 40 respondents with EVT experience reported changing the polyurethane sponge every 3 to 5 days; 72% applied similar negative pressure for intra-thoracic and intra-abdominal leaks. Most commonly, negative pressures from 70 to 100 mm Hg (41%) and 100 to 125 mm Hg (~35%) were used (► Table 4).

Regarding patients with large cavities but small leak defects, 56% performed balloon dilation and intracavitary EVT, while 28% placed the sponge intraluminally; 37% considered stent-over-sponge if difficulties in directing the vacuum force towards the leak, while 37% considered it to seal the sponge from the gastrointestinal lumen (> Table 4).

Patients with chronic leaks (72%), with associated collections (95%), with intra-thoracic location (92%) and with more than 2 cm in diameter were considered ideal for EVT therapy; the majority of respondents considered both previous surgeries suitable for EVT ( $\triangleright$  Table 2).

## Endoscopic suture

Thirty-six percent of 36 respondents with suturing experience reported always performing epithelial ablation/damage prior to suturing, while 61% performed it in at least half of procedures (**► Table 3**).

Patients with acute leaks (89%), without associated collections (89%), up to 2 cm in diameter, with intra-abdominal location (97%) and resulting from previous bariatric surgery (97%) were considered ideal for endoscopic suturing (**> Table 2**).

Original article			
Original article	· · · ·	-	
			article
original article			ai cicie

Thieme

Technique	Question	Answer	%
Stents <sup>1</sup>	Self-expandable stent – first option	Fully-covered	56.5%
		Partially-covered	42%
		Plastic	1.4%
	Techniques to minimize stent migration	TTS clips/OTSC	36.2%
	(in patients without previous stent migration)	Suture	33.3%
		PC-SEMS	44.9%
		None	20.3%
	When to use additional techniques to minimize	Patients with previous stent migration	52.2%
	stent migration?	Incomplete sealing between stent and esophageal wall	34.3%
		Jejunal anastomoses	19.4%
		Never	11.9%
		Always	25.4%
	Common stent dwell time	2 weeks	6%
		4 weeks	49.3%
		6 weeks	28.4%
		≥8 weeks	16.4%
Over-the-scope clips <sup>2</sup>	Time limit between leak and OTSC placement	<7 days (acute leaks)	65.6%
		1 to 6 weeks (early leaks)	37.5%
		6 to 12 weeks (late leaks)	6.3%
		>12 weeks (chronic leaks)	9.4%
		Not relevant	20.3%
	Epithelial ablation prior to OTSC placement	Always	17%
		>90% of the cases	20.8%
		75 % to 90 % of the cases	13.2%
		50 % to 75 % of the cases	11.3%
		< 50% of the cases	20.8%
		Never	17%
Endoscopic	Epithelial ablation prior to suture	Always	36.1%
suture <sup>3</sup>		>90% of the cases	16.7%
		75 % to 90 % of the cases	5.6%
		50 % to 75 % of the cases	2.8%
		< 50 % of the cases	25%
		Never	13.9%
OTSC, over-the-sco	pe clip; PC-SEMS, partially covered self-expandable metal ste	nt; TTS, through-the-scope	

Table 7 D

<sup>1</sup> Two to four endoscopists reported no experience with stents placement. <sup>2</sup> Seven to 18 respondents reported no experience with OTSC placement. <sup>3</sup> Thirty-five respondents reported no experience with endoscopic suture.

E1676

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert ... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671–E1682

### Endoscopic septotomy

Discussion

Fifty-six percent of the 32 respondents with septotomy experience reported that the minimal time interval from surgery should be 4 weeks; 53% considered that limits of septotomy should be defined on a case-by-case basis. Regarding patients with previous sleeve gastrectomy, 13% always performed additional balloon dilation, while 81% only performed it if associated transgastric hyper-pressure. Ninety percent considered the need to perform further septotomy sessions, with presence of residual septum (50%) and incomplete drainage (30%) being the main indications; a median of 11 days (6–35) between treatments was reported ( $\triangleright$  Table 4).

Patients with chronic leaks (100%), with associated collections (90%), with intra-abdominal location (93%) and resulting from previous bariatric surgery (100%) were considered the ideal patients for endoscopic septotomy; all leak sizes were considered amenable to endoscopic septotomy (**> Table 2**).

## Endoscopic internal drainage

The majority of respondents with EID experience reported preferring placement of two plastic stents (82% of 45) and shorter stents (62% of 21) for drainage; 30% of 56 respondents referred to never performing necrosectomy. A median of 14 days (1– 90) between stents exchange was reported. A median of 4.5 days (0–42) until oral diet resumption was reported, with 21% of respondents (n = 9) starting the day of procedure or day after (**► Table 4**).

Patients with chronic leaks (65%), with associated collections (97%), with intra-abdominal location (83%), up to 2 cm in diameter and resulting from previous bariatric surgery (95%) were considered ideal for endoscopic internal drainage (**> Table 2**).

#### Endoscopic failure

Persistent inflammation with clinical sepsis (55%) was the definition most commonly reported for endoscopic failure, followed by inability to resume oral feeding (42%), duration of treatment (39%), chronic reepithelized fistula (37%), number of endoscopic sessions (30%) and closure not achieved after 1 month of treatment with one single technique (28%).

## Clinical cases

EVT was the therapeutic option most often chosen (27%) in post Ivor-Lewis esophagectomy with an intra-thoracic associated collection (clinical case 1), followed by stent placement plus drainage (23%) and stent placement (14%) ( $\triangleright$  Fig.4a); EVT and EID were the therapeutic options most often chosen in postsleeve gastrectomy 2 cm in diameter (clinical case 2) and post RYGB with an intraabdominal associated collection (clinical case 3) (21% and 20%, respectively), followed by stent placement plus drainage (17% and 14%) ( $\triangleright$  Fig.4b,  $\triangleright$  Fig.4c); surgery was the therapeutic option most often chosen in post total gastrectomy (clinical case 4) (24%), followed by stent placement with or without drainage (19%) ( $\triangleright$  Fig.4d). Therapeutic endoscopy plays a major role in management of UGI anastomotic leaks, offering an effective treatment alternative to repeat surgery [10]. The available endoscopic approaches range from primary to secondary closure techniques, with varying degrees of technical and clinical success and adverse events, generating a lack of consensus regarding the most appropriate endoscopic management [11].

This survey shows that placement of stents, specifically SEMS, is the technique most available and most frequently used in almost every department. Even though OTSC are also well-represented, they are not a common first option, as represented in the clinical cases section. This is probably related to the need for pliable tissue for successful placement, as well as risk of leak recurrence due to OTSC displacement [8, 12]. Other reasons for failed closure may be related to poor integrity of the tissue surrounding the leak as a result of ischemia and inflammation as well as poor/partial placement over often large defects. On the other hand, EID and EVT seem to be increasingly used techniques; this is probably related to the fact that closing leaks with tissue apposition techniques or diversion therapy does not seem to be the ideal treatment strategy in some cases, especially in late or chronic leaks. EVT and EID allow optimal drainage of the cavity, ensuring granulation, utilizing the concept of keeping the leak open [12].

The majority of participants considered that bariatric leaks should be treated differently from oncologic leaks, with location, size, chronicity, and associated cavity being the most relevant leak characteristics. Need for additional percutaneous/surgical drainage is almost always considered when closure techniques (tissue apposition or diversion techniques) are chosen, as internal drainage is not achieved, either by the collection not being reachable (69%) or sealed (66%). All of these is reflected in clinical cases choices. EVT and stent placement, with or without percutaneous/surgical drainage, were the therapeutic options most often chosen in patients with previous oncologic surgery, while EVT and EID were the therapeutic options most often chosen in patients with previous bariatric surgery. Interestingly, surgery was the first option in post-total gastrectomy case (24% of respondents), despite no previous endoscopic treatment failure nor presence of uncontained leak. This might be explained by the almost complete leak of the anastomosis.

Regarding self-expandable stents, both FC (56%) and PC-SEMS (42%) were similarly selected as first options, even in patients without previous stent migration; besides PC-SEMS, 35% of respondents used other additional techniques to minimize stent migration (in patients without previous stent migration), with endoscopic suturing of FC-SEMS being the preferred technique, as it seems to lower rates of stent migration [13]. Optimal duration of stent dwell is unknown and is likely related to leak classification and size as well as patient-related factors [14]. Stent dwell time ranged from 4 to 6 weeks in 77% of respondents.

Regarding endoscopic suturing, respondents believed it provides the ability to close larger defects than OSTC (2 cm versus

Thieme

Technique	Question	Answer		%
Endoscopic	Approach in patients with large	Intraluminal EVT	28.2%	
vacuum therapy <sup>1</sup>	cavities but small leak defects	Balloon dilation and intraca	vitary EVT	56.4%
		EVT plus stent		15.4%
	How often change sponge in EVT	<3 days	5%	
-		Every 3 to 5 days	75%	
		Every 5 to 7 days	15%	
		Case by case		5%
	Negative pressure for intra-	<70 mm Hg		16.2%
	thoracic/intra-abdominal leaks	70 mm to 100 mm Hg		40.5%
		100 mm to 125 mm Hg		35.9%/35.1%
		> 125 mm Hg	7.7%/8.1%	
	When stent-over-sponge	If difficulties in directing vac	cuum force towards the leak	36.7%
		To seal the sponge from the	gastrointestinal lumen	36.7%
		Never		43.3%
Endoscopic	When perform additional balloon	If associated transgastric hy	80.6%	
septotomy <sup>2</sup>	dilation	Always	12.9%	
-		Never	6.5%	
	Minimal time interval since	2 weeks	15.6%	
	surgery	4 weeks		56.3%
		>6 weeks		28.1%
	Limits of septotomy	Cavity length behind septur	47.1%	
		Case-by-case		52.9%
	Need for further sessions	Yes	90%	
		No	10%	
	When further situations	Leak clearance	30%	
		Residual septum	50%	
		If cavity is not healing	5 %	
		Larger collections	15%	
	Time between sessions	Median, range (n=20)		11 days (6–35)
Endoscopic	When to perform necrosectomy	Always	5.4%	
internal drainage <sup>3</sup>		If presence of necrosis	64.3%	
		Never	30.4%	
	Which stents	Number	Single	11.1%
			Double	82.2%
			One or the other	6.7%
		Length	Shorter	61.9%
			Longer	33.3%
			One or the other	4.8%
	Time between sessions	Median, range (n = 47)		14 days (1 – 90)
	Time until oral diet resumption	Median, range (n = 42)		4.5 days (0 – 42)
		End of treatment		12.5%

Table 4 Deer

EVT, endoscopic vacuum therapy <sup>1</sup> Thirty-one to 41 endoscopists reported no experience with EVT. <sup>2</sup> Seven to 41 endoscopists reported no experience with endoscopic septotomy. <sup>3</sup> Five to 29 endoscopists reported no experience with endoscopic internal drainage.

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert ... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671–E1682



Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671-E1682

E1679

Electronic reprint for personal use

#### **Original article**

1 cm). Both require robust mucosa to hold the sutures when tissue is pulled in apposition [8]; epithelial ablation/damage to the defect edges before OTSC or suturing may increase procedure success and result in a more durable seal, with ~60% of respondents performing it in more than half of procedures.

Regarding EVT, sponges can be placed intracavitary and/or intraluminal, depending on the defect size and presence of an extraluminal cavity [1]. Even though intraluminal EVT might be easier and safer than intracavitary EVT [12], the majority (56%) of respondents preferred to perform balloon dilation and intracavitary EVT, as leak closure might be better [12]. One of the great disadvantages of EVT is the need for repeat endoscopic procedures, as the majority of respondents (90%) changed the polyurethane sponge every 3 to 5 days or 5 to 7 days.

Similar to peripancreatic collections drainage, an organized walled-off collection must be established for endoscopic septotomy to be safe and effective. This was reflected by the majority of respondents (56%), who only consider it at least 4 weeks after surgery. Management of the downstream stenosis within the sleeve that creates an unfavorable pressure gradient was also considered critical to enhance drainage and correction of one of the underlying physiologic defects that predisposed and perpetuated the leak. Need for repeated septotomy (90%) was mostly based on presence of residual septum (50%) or incomplete clearance of the cavity (30%).

Although EID with transgastric stents appears to be effective, controversies exist regarding optimal technique [15]. Even though necrosectomy may expedite clinical improvement, 30% of respondents reported never doing it. A median of 4.5 days until oral diet resumption was reported, with 21% starting it the day of or after procedure, as it is believed oral contents do not enter the perigastric cavity. Regarding stent exchange, while some saw no value in routine stent exchange unless necrosectomy was also performed [15], performance of multiple procedures may allow to evaluate treatment progression to adapt internal drainage, as well as promote healing by inducing trauma in the pseudocavity with exchange of the pigtail stents [16].

As there are no comparative studies between the different endoscopic techniques, it is difficult to establish a therapeutic algorithm in these patients. Determining optimal therapy for such patients requires careful examination of patient clinical status, anastomotic defect, and a review of all available options, local expertise, and previous experience. The approach to UGI anastomotic leaks should always be individualized and multidisciplinary. Considering the majority of respondents' answers, acute and small leaks without associated collections may be considered for stent placement (up to 3 cm), OSTC placement (up to 1 cm) or endoscopic suture (up to 2 cm). In the setting of associated collection, these techniques can still be considered if external drainage is also performed; if not, EVT, EID and endoscopic septotomy should be considered, with EVT and EID being an option in acute and chronic leaks, while endoscopic septotomy should only be performed in leaks with more than 4 weeks' duration. While endoscopic septotomy can be considered for all leak sizes, EID is ideal for leaks up to 2 cm

and EVT for leaks larger than 2 cm. Intrathoracic leaks may be better served with stents or EVT, and intraabdominal leaks with OTSC, suturing, septotomy or EID. Leaks resulting from previous bariatric surgery should ideally be treated with OTSC, suture, septotomy or EID, while stents and EVT can be considered for leaks related to bariatric and oncologic surgeries.

## Conclusion

In conclusion, this study provides an overview of the techniques used for endoscopic management of UGI leaks and shows that there is wide variation in management of patients with UGI anastomotic leaks, even among the most expert in the field, particularly concerning difficult-to-treat patients, possibly reflecting the poor quality of evidence available at the moment. Limitations of our study include a survey response rate of only 44% which may subject the study to bias, making interpretation of results more challenging. However, this study presents information which to date has not been available, with inclusion of experts from various countries, different opinion questions regarding each technique, and different clinical scenarios. Even though there is no consensus on the definition of endoscopic failure, persistent inflammation with clinical sepsis and impossibility to resume oral feeding should be strongly considered. Future prospective studies should address these issues, and for which transnational collaborations are urgently needed, so that we move from an expert- to an evidence- and personalizationbased care in endoscopic treatment of upper anastomotic leaks.

# Full list of collaborators ordered alphabetically

Abraham Mathew<sup>1</sup>, Alberto Fernández Villaverde<sup>2</sup>, Alfredo Daniel Guerron<sup>3</sup>, Andrea Tringali<sup>4</sup>, Bram Vermeulen<sup>5</sup>, Brian Louie<sup>6</sup>, Bruno Meduri<sup>7</sup>, Carmelo Luigiano<sup>8</sup>, Christoph Gubler<sup>9</sup>, Diane Lorenzo<sup>10</sup>, Eric M Pauli<sup>1</sup>, Giorgio Baretta<sup>11</sup>, Gottumukkala S Raju<sup>12</sup>, Gunnar Loske<sup>13</sup>, Guy Pines<sup>14</sup>, Haicam El Mourad<sup>15</sup>, Hany Shehab<sup>16</sup>, Hideki Kobara<sup>17</sup>, Hyuk Lee<sup>18</sup>, Hyunsoo Chung<sup>19</sup> I-Rue Lai<sup>20</sup>, Ioannis Rouvelas<sup>21</sup>, Jean-Michel Gonzalez<sup>10</sup>, Joan B Gornals<sup>22</sup>, Jochen Wedemeyer<sup>23</sup>, John M DeWitt<sup>24</sup>, Joo Young Cho25, Katerina Kotzampassi26, Ke-Neng Chen27, Lee L Swanström<sup>28</sup>, Majid A Almadi<sup>29</sup>, Marc Barthet<sup>10</sup>, María-Victoria Alvarez-Sánchez<sup>30</sup>, Mati Shnell<sup>31</sup>, Michael A Schweitzer<sup>32</sup>, Michael Christian Sulz<sup>33</sup>, Michael G Sarr<sup>34</sup>, Michael Talbot<sup>35</sup>, Milena Di Leo<sup>36</sup>, Mukesh Nasa<sup>37</sup>, Nick | Newton<sup>38</sup>, Nils Heits<sup>39</sup>, Paolo Giorgio Arcidiacono<sup>40</sup>, Pawel Rogalski<sup>41</sup>, Pedro Pereira<sup>42</sup>, Peter Bauerfeind<sup>9</sup>, Peter Siersema<sup>5</sup>, Piyush Ranjan<sup>43</sup>, Radu Pescarus<sup>44</sup>, Rahul Pannala<sup>45</sup>, Ravinder Ogra<sup>46</sup>, Richard Kozarek<sup>47</sup>, Ryan Law<sup>48</sup>, Shanda H Blackmon<sup>49</sup>, Shayan Irani<sup>47</sup>, Sigal Fishman<sup>31</sup>, Steven G Leeds<sup>50</sup>, Tolga Erim<sup>51</sup>, Victoria Gómez<sup>52</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Section of Minimally Invasive and Bariatric Surgery, Department of Surgery, Penn State Milton S. Hershey Medical Center, Hershey, Pennsylvania, United States

<sup>2</sup> Gastroenterology Department, POVISA Hospital, Vigo, Pontevedra, Spain

<sup>3</sup> Division of Metabolic and Weight Loss Surgery, Department of

Electronic reprint for personal use

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671-E1682

Surgery, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina, United States

<sup>4</sup> Digestive Endoscopy Unit. IRCCS, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli, Catholic University, Rome, Italy

<sup>5</sup> Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

<sup>6</sup> Division of Thoracic Surgery, Swedish Cancer Institute and Medical Center, Seattle, Washington, United States

<sup>7</sup> Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Hôpital Privé des Peupliers, Paris, France

<sup>8</sup> Digestive Endoscopy Unit, San Paolo Hospital, Milan, Italy9 Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Hospital Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

<sup>10</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Aix Marseille Univ-APHM-Hôpital Nord, Marseille, France

<sup>11</sup> Federal University of Parana, Curitiba, Parana, Brazil

<sup>12</sup> The University of Texas Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences at Houston and MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, Texas, United States

<sup>13</sup> Department for General, Abdominal, Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Katholisches Marienkrankenhaus Hamburg gGmbH, Hamburg, Germany

<sup>14</sup> Department of Surgery, Kaplan Medical Center, Rehovot and The Hebrew University School of Medicine, JerUnited Stateslem, Israel

<sup>15</sup> Department of Bariatric Surgery, AZ Sint Blasius Medical Center, Dendermonde, Belgium

<sup>16</sup> Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Unit, Department of Gastroenterology, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

<sup>17</sup> Department of Gastroenterology and Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Kagawa University, Takamatsu, Japan

<sup>18</sup> Department of Medicine, Samsung Medical Center, Sungkyunkwan University School of Medicine, Seoul, Republic of Korea

<sup>19</sup> Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine and Liver Research Institute, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, Republic of Korea

<sup>20</sup> Department of Surgery, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

<sup>21</sup> Centre for Digestive Diseases, Karolinska University Hospital and Division of Surgery, Department of Clinical Intervention and Technology (CLINTEC), Karolinska Institutet, Stockhom, Sweden

<sup>22</sup> Endoscopy Unit, Department of Digestive Diseases, Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge, Bellvitge Biomedical Research Institute (IDIBELL), University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>23</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Endocrinology, Medical School Hannover, Hannover, Germany

<sup>24</sup> Division of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Indiana University, Indianapolis, Indiana, United States

<sup>25</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Cha Bundang Medical Center, Cha University College of Medicine, Seongnam-si, South Korea

<sup>26</sup> Department of Surgery, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, AHEPA Hospital, Thessaloniki, Greece

<sup>27</sup> Department of Thoracic Surgery I, Beijing University Cancer Hospital, Beijing, China <sup>28</sup> Gastrointestinal and Minimally Invasive Surgery, The Oregon Clinic, Portland, Oregon, United States

<sup>29</sup> Division of Gastroenterology, King Khalid University Hospital, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

<sup>30</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Complejo Hospitalario de Pontevedra, Pontevedra, Spain

<sup>31</sup> Obesity Service, Department of Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Tel Aviv Medical Center, affiliated with Sackler School of Medicine, Tel Aviv university, Tel Aviv, Israel

<sup>32</sup> Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, MD, United States

<sup>33</sup> Division of Gastroenterology, Kantonsspital St. Gallen, St. Gallen, Switzerland

<sup>34</sup> Department of Gastroenterologic and General Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota, United States

<sup>35</sup> Department of Surgery, University of New South Wales, St George Hospital, Kogarah, New South Wales, Australia

<sup>36</sup> Digestive Endoscopy Unit, Humanitas Research Hospital, Rozzano, Milan;Humanitas University, Rozzano, Milan, Italy

<sup>37</sup> Institute of Digestive and Hepatobiliary Sciences, Medanta -The Medicity, Gurgaon, Delhi Near Rajiv Chowk, India

 $^{\rm 38}$  Gastrointestinal Services, University College Hospital, London

<sup>39</sup> Department of General, Visceral, Thoracic, Transplantation and Pediatric Surgery, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

<sup>40</sup> Pancreato-Biliary Endoscopy and Endosonography Division, Pancreas Translational and Clinical Research Center, IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Milan, Italy

<sup>41</sup> Department of Gastroenterology and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

<sup>42</sup> Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar São João, Porto, Portu

<sup>43</sup> Institute of Liver, Gastroenterology, and Pancreaticobiliary Sciences, Sir Ganga Ram Hospital, Rajinder Nagar, New Delhi, India

<sup>44</sup> Département de Chirurgie, Division de Chirurgie Bariatrique, Hôpital du Sacré-Coeur de Montréal, Université de Montréal, Montréal, Canada

<sup>45</sup> Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Departments of Medicine, Mayo Clinic, Scottsdale, Arizona, United States

<sup>46</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Middlemore Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand

<sup>47</sup> Digestive Disease Institute, Virginia Mason Medical Center, and University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, United States

<sup>48</sup> Division of Gastroenterology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan, United States

<sup>49</sup> Division of General Thoracic Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota, United States

<sup>50</sup> Division of Minimally Invasive Surgery, Baylor University Medical Center at Dallas, Texas, United States

<sup>51</sup> Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Cleveland Clinic Florida, Weston, Florida

<sup>52</sup> Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, Florida, United States

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert ... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671–E1682

#### **Original article**

#### Competing interests

Alessandro Repici is a consultant for Boston Scientific. Jacques Devière is a consultant for Boston Scientific and Olympus. Jeanin E. van Hooft is a consultant for Medtronic and Boston Scientific and has a research grant from Cook Medical and Abbott, Manoel Galvao Neto is a consultant for Olympus. Ethicon Endosurgery, Apollo Endosurgery, Meditronics, Fractyl Laboratories, GI Dynamics, GI Windows, Alacer Biomedica, CMS/Sci-Tech, M.I.Tech and NitiNotes. Pierre Eisendrath received a research grant from Endo Tools Therapeutics. Vivek Kumbhari is a consultant for Apollo Endosurgery, Boston Scientific, Medtronic, Pentax Medial, ReShape Lifesciences and receives research support from ERBE and Apollo Endosurgery. Mouen A. Khashab is a consultant for Boston Scientific, Olympus and Medtronic. None of the authors disclosed personal conflicts of interest or financial relationships relevant to this publication.

#### References

- Bemelman WA, Baron TH. Endoscopic management of transmural defects (leaks/perforations/fistulae). Gastroenterology 2018; 154: 1938 – 1946.e1
- [2] Rutegård M, Lagergren P, Rouvelas I et al. Intrathoracic anastomotic leakage and mortality after esophageal cancer resection: a population-based study. Ann Surg Oncol 2012; 19: 99–103
- [3] Lang H, Piso P, Stukenborg C et al. Management and results of proximal anastomotic leak in a series of 1114 total gastrectomies for gastric carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 2000; 26: 168–71
- [4] Messager M, Warlaumont M, Renaud F et al. Recent improvements in the management of esophageal anastomotic leak after surgery for cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2017; 43: 258–269

- [5] Blencowe NS, Strong S, McNair AG et al. Reporting of short-term clinical outcomes after esophagectomy: a systematic review. Ann Surg 2012; 255: 658–66
- [6] Morales MP, Miedema BW, Scott JS et al. Management of postsurgical leaks in the bariatric patient. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am 2011; 21: 295 – 304
- [7] Gonzalez R, Sarr MG, Smith CD et al. Diagnosis and contemporary management of anastomotic leaks after gastric bypass for obesity. J Am Coll Surg 2007; 204: 47–55
- [8] Cho J, Sahakian AB. Endoscopic Closure of Gastrointestinal Fistulae and Leaks. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am 2018; 28: 233 – 249
- [9] Di Leo M, Maselli R, Ferrara EC et al. Endoscopic management of benign esophageal ruptures and leaks. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol 2017; 15: 268 – 284
- [10] Eisendrath P, Devière J. Digestive leaks: An approach tailored to both indication and anatomy. Endosc Int Open 2016; 4: E652 – E653
- [11] Vargas EJ, Abu Dayyeh BK. Keep calm under pressure: a paradigm shift in managing postsurgical leaks. Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 87: 438 – 441
- [12] Rodrigues-Pinto E, Morais R, Macedo G et al. Choosing the appropriate endoscopic armamentarium for treatment of anastomotic leaks. Am J Gastroenterol 2019; 114: 367–371
- [13] Bick BL, Imperiale TF, Johnson CS et al. Endoscopic suturing of esophageal fully covered self-expanding metal stents reduces rates of stent migration. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 86: 1015–1021
- [14] Kumbhari V, Cai JX, Schweitzer MA. Endoscopic management of bariatric surgical complications. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2015; 31: 359– 367
- [15] Kumbhari V, Abu Dayyeh BK. Keeping the fistula open: paradigm shift in the management of leaks after bariatric surgery? Endoscopy 2016; 48: 789 – 791
- [16] Donatelli G, Dumont JL, Cereatti F et al. Endoscopic internal drainage as first-line treatment for fistula following gastrointestinal surgery: a case series. Endosc Int Open 2016; 4: E647 – E651

E1682

Rodrigues-Pinto Eduardo et al. International multicenter expert ... Endoscopy International Open 2019; 07: E1671–E1682

## E) Retrospective multicenter study on endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks

**Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto,** Pedro Pereira, Bernardo Sousa-Pinto, Hany Shehab, Rolando Pinho, Michael C. Larsen, Shayan Irani, Richard A. Kozarek, Antonio Capogreco, Alessando Repici, Ealaf Shemmeri, Brian E. Louie, Pawel Rogalski, Andrzej Baniukiewicz, Andrzej Dabrowski, João Correia de Sousa, Silvia Barrias, Yervant Ichkhanian, Vivek Kumbhari, Mouen A. Khashab, Nicole Bowers, Allison R. Schulman, Guilherme Macedo

Gastrointest Endosc. 2021 Jun;93(6):1283-1299.e2 doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.10.015

Cited by 4 articles (Google Scholar, 2022, January 16)

Impact factor 9.427

(Thomson-Reuters, 2021)

Rank 12 of 144 on Gastroenterology journals (Q1) (Scimago Journal & Country Rank, 2020)

## **ORIGINAL ARTICLE: Clinical Endoscopy**

## Retrospective multicenter study on endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks



Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, MD,<sup>1</sup> Pedro Pereira, MD,<sup>1</sup> Bernardo Sousa-Pinto, MD, PhD,<sup>2,3</sup> Hany Shehab, MD,<sup>4</sup> Rolando Pinho, MD,<sup>5</sup> Michael C. Larsen, MD,<sup>6</sup> Shayan Irani, MD,<sup>6</sup> Richard A. Kozarek, MD,<sup>6</sup> Antonio Capogreco, MD,<sup>7</sup> Alessandro Repici, MD,<sup>7</sup> Ealaf Shemmeri, MD,<sup>8</sup> Brian E. Louie, MD,<sup>8</sup> Pawel Rogalski, MD, PhD,<sup>9</sup> Andrzej Baniukiewicz, MD, PhD,<sup>9</sup> Andrzej Dabrowski, MD, PhD,<sup>9</sup> João Correia de Sousa, MD,<sup>10</sup> Silvia Barrias, MD,<sup>10</sup> Yervant Ichkhanian, MD,<sup>11</sup> Vivek Kumbhari, MD,<sup>11</sup> Mouen A. Khashab, MD,<sup>11</sup> Nicole Bowers, MD,<sup>12</sup> Allison R. Schulman, MD,<sup>12</sup> Guilherme Macedo, MD, PhD<sup>1</sup>

Porto, Vila Nova de Gaia, Portugal; Cairo, Egypt; Seattle, Washington; Baltimore, Maryland; Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA; Milan, Italy; Bialystok, Poland

## **GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT**



**Background and Aims:** Therapeutic endoscopy plays a critical role in the management of upper GI (UGI) postsurgical leaks. Data are scarce regarding clinical success and safety. Our aim was to evaluate the effectiveness of endoscopic therapy for UGI postsurgical leaks and associated adverse events (AEs) and to identify factors associated with successful endoscopic therapy and AE occurrence.

**Methods:** This was a retrospective, multicenter, international study of all patients who underwent endoscopic therapy for UGI postsurgical leaks between 2014 and 2019.

**Results:** Two hundred six patients were included. Index surgery most often performed was sleeve gastrectomy (39.3%), followed by gastrectomy (23.8%) and esophagectomy (22.8%). The median time between index surgery and commencement of endoscopic therapy was 16 days. Endoscopic closure was achieved in 80.1% of patients after a median follow-up of 52 days (interquartile range, 33-81.3). Seven hundred seventy-five therapeutic endoscopies were performed. Multimodal therapy was needed in 40.8% of patients. The cumulative success of leak resolution reached a plateau between the third and fourth techniques (approximately 70%-80%); this was achieved after 125 days of endoscopic therapy. Smaller leak initial diameters, hospitalization in a general ward, hemodynamic stability, absence of respiratory failure, previous gastrectomy, fewer numbers of therapeutic endoscopies performed, shorter length of stay, and shorter times to leak closure were associated with better outcomes. Overall, 102 endoscopic therapy–related AEs occurred in 81 patients (39.3%), with most managed conservatively or endoscopically. Leak-related mortality rate was 12.4%.

**Conclusions:** Multimodal therapeutic endoscopy, despite being time-consuming and requiring multiple procedures, allows leak closure in a significant proportion of patients with a low rate of severe AEs. (Gastrointest Endosc 2021;93:1283-99.)

(footnotes appear on last page of article)

www.giejournal.org

Upper GI (UGI) postsurgical leaks are a life-threatening condition with high mortality rates ranging from 12% to 50%.<sup>1-3</sup> The frequency of UGI postsurgical leaks has been estimated at 8% to 26% after distal esophagectomy,<sup>4</sup> 3% to 12% after total gastrectomy,<sup>5</sup> .7% to 5% after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB), and 1% to 2% after sleeve gastrectomy.<sup>6,7</sup>

Early diagnosis has been reported to improve survival of such leaks,<sup>8</sup> although their management still remains controversial.<sup>9,10</sup> In fact, several modalities have been used in managing postsurgical leaks, with surgical treatment apparently associated with higher morbidity and mortality than endoscopic therapy. Therefore, the latter is often attempted first to avoid additional surgical morbidity. However, there is a wide diversity of endoscopic options, including stent placement, endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT), endoscopic internal drainage (EID), through-the-scope and over-the-scope clips (OTSCs), suturing, septotomy with or without balloon dilation, and tissue sealants. Theoretically, all these options can be used alone or with a multimodality approach.<sup>11</sup>

Currently, no consensus exists on the preferred endoscopic modality. Information on the clinical effectiveness of each modality is limited because of the diversity of therapeutic modalities but also by nonuniformity of leak definition, heterogeneity of leak characteristics, small sample sizes, or analysis of treatment of several transmural defects together. Therefore, in this study we aimed to assess the effectiveness of endoscopic therapy for UGI postsurgical leaks and associated adverse events (AEs) and to identify factors associated with successful endoscopic therapy and AE occurrence.

## **METHODS**

We conducted a multicenter, international, retrospective study of all patients who underwent endoscopic therapy for UGI postsurgical leaks between January 2014 and August 2019. Data were collected from 10 tertiary care centers, all with experience and expertise in the endoscopic management of surgery AEs. Leaks were defined as a dehiscence of the surgical site. Their diagnosis was made by the presence of contrast extravasation on fluoroscopy, CT, and/or dynamic oral contrast radiography or by identification of a defect at the surgical site in the upper endoscopy with leakage of contrast agent identified at fluoroscopy. Patients with incomplete follow-up, with ongoing treatment, or whose endoscopic therapy was started before referral to the study institution were excluded.

We reviewed electronic medical records of included participants, retrieving information on their gender, age, index surgery, need for additional surgeries, associated collections, additional percutaneous/surgical drainage, place of

hospitalization (ie, general ward or intensive care unit), associated shock, and leak characteristics. All endoscopic therapeutic sessions were analyzed, with information retrieved on the specifics of each procedure, therapeutic modality used at each procedure (self-expandable metal stent [SEMS], OTSC, EVT, EID, septotomy, suture, biodegradable stents, tissue sealant placement), total number of therapeutic sessions, need for multimodal treatment, total number of different therapeutic modalities, AE occurrence and its characterization, technical and clinical success, leak resolution, global leak closure, total number of days hospitalized, patient final status, and leak-related mortality. All dates of surgeries and endoscopic procedures were recorded.

No algorithmic protocol was followed regarding endoscopic management. Treatment was tailored to clinical and morphologic presentation, in addition to institutional availability of devices and accessories. Similarly, each center used its own clinical decision-making in assessing the need for repeat endoscopic therapy. Regarding endoscopic technique principles, stent placement diverts enteric contents past the leak while maintaining GI continuity. Clips and sutures are used to close luminal defects. EVT works by intraluminal and intracavitary apposition of wound edges, providing internal drainage by placement of a polyurethane sponge into the defect cavity and transnasal application of an external vacuum. EID consists of the temporary placement of a trans-GI plastic stent(s), similarly to peripancreatic collections, to adapt internal drainage and to promote healing by inducing trauma in the pseudocavity with the exchange of the pigtail stents. Endoscopic septotomy facilitates internal drainage of refractory leaks by incision and enlargement of the fistulous tract to equalize the pressures between the gastric lumen and perigastric collection. Sealants are used to obliterate the leak, by injection in the leak or in the submucosal tract. All of these techniques may require multiple endoscopic procedures.

Technical success was defined as successful completion of the endoscopic procedure as planned. Clinical success was defined as closure of the leak (lack of extraluminal air or extravasation of contrast on fluoroscopy, CT, and/ or dynamic oral contrast radiography); in patients who received a SEMS, clinical success could only be assessed after stent removal. Because some oncologic patientsbecause of a higher performance status, more advanced cancer staging, or residual disease-did not have their stents removed, we defined leak resolution as clinical success or having stents left in place without contrast extravasation. The definition of clinical success applies to endoscopic, radiologic, or surgical closure. Cessation of percutaneous/surgical drain output was not considered as an outcome. Multimodal treatment was considered when different endoscopic therapies were used. However, it was not considered in patients who had more than 1

Rodrigues-Pinto et al	
-----------------------	--

Characteristic	Value
Hospital	
	33 (16)
Cairo University Hospital, Cairo, Egypt	30 (14.6)
Hospital de Vila Nova de Gaia, Porto, Portugal	28 (13.6)
Virginia Mason Medical Center, Seattle, Washington, USA	24 (11.7)
Humanitas Research Hospital, Milan, Italy	21 (10.2)
Swedish Cancer Institute, Seattle, Washington,USA	21 (10.2)
Medical University Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland	16 (7.8)
Hospital Geral de Santo António, Porto, Portugal	15 (7.3)
Johns Hopkins Medical Institution, Baltimore, Maryland, USA	12 (5.8)
University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA	6 (2.9)
Male gender	105 (51)
Age at beginning of treatment, y, mean $\pm$ standard deviation	53.8 ± 14.5
Previous surgery	
Esophagectomy*	47 (22.8)
Gastrectomy	49 (23.8)
Sleeve gastrectomy	81 (39.3)
Gastric bypass	23 (11.2)
Other¶	6 (2.9)
Associated collection <sup>II</sup>	133 (64.6)
Collection size, mm	61 (41.75-99.5)
Need for additional surgery	86 (41.7)
Additional percutaneous/surgical drainagell	144 (69.9)
Hospitalization	
General ward	107 (51.9)
Intermediate care	30 (14.6)
Intensive care	56 (27.2)
No hospitalization	11 (5.3)
Unknown	2 (1)
Shock	44 (21.4)
Leukocytes at beginning of therapy, ×10 <sup>9</sup>	11.1 (8.5-16.2)
C-reactive protein at beginning of therapy, mg/L	148.7 (65.5-277.5)
Time between index surgery and beginning of endoscopic therapy, days	16 (9-30)
Leak chronicity	
Acute (<7 days)	23 (11.2)
Early (1-6 wk)	145 (70.4)
Late (7-12 wk)	19 (9.2)
Chronic (>12 wk)	15 (7.3)
Unknown	4 (1.9)
Leak location	
Esophagogastric anastomosis	54 (26.2)
Esophagojejunal anastomosis	45 (21.8)
Gastrojejunal anastomosis	5 (2.4)
Distal esophageal anastomosis	5 (2.4)
Sleeve, staple line	3 (1.5)
	(continued on the next page)

www.giejournal.org

Rodrigues-Pinto et al

TABLE 1. Continued	
Characteristic	Value
Sleeve, upper portion of remnant tube gastric	63 (30.6)
Sleeve, lower portion of remnant tube gastric	9 (4.4)
- RYGB, gastric pouch	15 (7.3)
- RYGB, gastrojejunal anastomosis	7 (3.4)
Leak initial size, mm	10 (5.3-20)
<10 mm	67 (32.57)
- 10-19 mm	56 (27.2)
20-39 mm	40 (19.4)
≥40 mm	5 (2.4)
Unknown	38 (18.4)
Number of hospitalizations	1 (1-2)
Total hospitalization days	26 (11-51)
Follow-up, days	303 (87.5-775)

Values are n (%) or median (interquartile range) unless otherwise defined.

RYGB, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass.

\*This group includes 31 Ivor-Lewis esophagectomies, 14 Mckeown esophagectomies, and 2 Akiyama esophagectomies.

†This group includes 45 total gastrectomies and 4 distal gastrectomies.

This group includes 80 gastric sleeves and 1 sleeve gastroplasty/stapled partitioning.

§This group includes 22 gastric bypasses and 1 minigastric bypass.

¶Other: Nissen fundoplication (n = 1), epiphrenic diverticulum excision (n = 4), surgery for Boerhave (n = 1). IINo information for 5 patients.

SEMS placed at different endoscopic attempts if SEMS placement was the only therapy used; it was also not considered when additional percutaneous or surgical drainage was performed or when endoscopic procedures were performed to manage AEs. AEs were defined as any unplanned event related to the procedure that required the patient to be medicated pharmacologically, admitted to the hospital, required to stay in the hospital longer than expected, or required to undergo other unplanned interventions; because of a lack of information on the length of hospitalization related to each AE, AEs were classified according to their management (conservative, need for repeat endoscopy, surgery, or death). Ten cases from 2 centers were previously published as original articles or case reports.<sup>12-15</sup> This study was approved by the institutional review board of each participating center.

#### Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were described using absolute and relative frequencies, whereas continuous variables were described using means and standard deviations or medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs). We built conditional logistic models to assess the association between each outcome variable (such as clinical success, leak resolution, AE occurrence) and each independent variable, clustering observations by hospital and adjusting for the time between surgery and endoscopy. Exponentials of regression coefficients were interpreted as odds ratio (OR). To further assess whether the number of performed therapeutic endoscopies were associated with success of the first technique, we built a classification tree based on recursive partitioning to allow the nonsupervised identification of different endoscopic success classes based on the number of performed endoscopic procedures.

Significance level was defined at P < .05. Statistical analysis was performed using software R (version 3.5.0; R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

### RESULTS

### Patients and leak characteristics

Demographics and leak characteristics of the 206 patients who underwent endoscopic therapy for postsurgical leaks are summarized in Table 1. Mean patient age at the beginning of endoscopic therapy was  $53.8 \pm 14.5$  years, and 51% were men. Most leaks were related to sleeve gastrectomy (39.3%; n = 81), followed by gastrectomy (23.8%; n = 49), esophagectomy (22.8%; n = 47), and RYGB (11.2%; n = 23).

Sixty-five percent of patients (n = 133) had associated collections to the leak. Forty-two percent of patients (n = 86) underwent additional surgery for washout, drainage, attempts of leak repair, or jejunostomy tube placement; 69.9% of patients (n = 144) had a surgical or percutaneous drain placed. Forty-two percent of patients (n = 86) were hospitalized in step-up or intensive care units.

The median time between index surgery and commencement of endoscopic therapy was 16 days (IQR, 9-30) with

1286 GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021

## TABLE 2. Characterization of number of therapeutic endoscopies, different endoscopic therapies, leak outcome, adverse event occurrence, and patient and leak mortality according to previous surgery performed

	Global (n = 206)	Esophagectomy* (n = 47)	Gastrectomy† (n = 49)	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass/minigastric bypass‡ (n = 23)	Sleeve gastrectomy/ sleeve gastroplasty§ (n = 81)	Other¶ (n = 6)
No. of therapeutic endoscopies	3 (2-4)	3 (2-5)	2 (1.5-3)	3 (2-4)	4 (2-5)	2 (2-5.5)
Multimodal treatment	84 (40.8)	17 (36.2)	5 (10.2)	11 (47.8)	50 (61.7)	1 (16.7)
No. of different endoscopic treatments						
1	122 (59.2)	30 (63.8)	44 (89.8)	12 (52.2)	31 (38.3)	5 (83)
2	58 (28.2)	9 (19.1)	4 (8.2)	9 (39.1)	36 (44.4)	0 (0)
3	18 (8.7)	3 (6.4)	1 (2)	2 (8.7)	11 (13.6)	1 (16.7)
4	6 (2.9)	4 (8.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (2.5)	0 (0)
5	2 (1)	1 (2.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.2)	0 (0)
Technical success	187 (90.8)	40 (85.1)	46 (93.9)	20 (87)	76 (93.8)	5 (83.3)
Leak outcome						
Endoscopic closure	165 (80.1)	38 (80.9)	38 (77.6)	15 (65.2)	70 (86.4)	4 (66.7)
Stent left in place (no leak)	7 (3.4)	0 (0)	6 (12.2)	0 (0)	1 (1.2)	0 (0)
Radiologic closure	1 (.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.2)	0 (0)
Spontaneous closure	1 (.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (4.3)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Surgical closure	12 (5.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (13)	8 (9.9)	1 (16.7)
Surgery without leak closure	2 (1)	0 (0)	1 (2)	1 (4.3)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Closure not achieved	18 (8.7)	9 (19.1)	4 (8.2)	3 (13)	1 (1.2)	1 (16.7)
Time until endoscopic leak closure, days	52 (33-81.3)	45.5 (29.7-74.2)	49 (36.7-63)	74 (42-103.3)	58 (32.5-111.7)	73.5 (49-110)
Global adverse events	81 (39.3)	20 (42.6)	10 (20.4)	9 (39.1)	39 (48.1)	3 (50)
No. of adverse events						
0	125 (60.7)	27 (57.4)	39 (79.6)	14 (60.9)	42 (51.9)	3 (50)
1	60 (29.1)	15 (31.9)	9 (18.4)	6 (26.1)	29 (35.8)	1 (16.7)
2	21 (10.2)	5 (10.6)	1 (2)	3 (13)	10 (12.3)	2 (33.3)
Death during follow-up	53 (26.6)	23 (48.9)	23 (47.9)	2 (9.1)	3 (3.9)	2 (33.3)
Leak-related mortality	25 (12.4)	9 (19.1)	10 (20.4)	2 (8.7)	2 (2.6)	2 (33.3)

Values are median (interquartile range) or n (%).

\*This group includes 31 Ivor-Lewis esophagectomies, 14 Mckeown esophagectomies, and 2 Akiyama esophagectomies.

†This group includes 22 gastric bypasses and 1 minigastric bypass.

‡This group includes 45 total gastrectomies and 4 distal gastrectomies.

SThis group includes 80 gastric sleeves and 1 sleeve gastroplasty/stapled partitioning.

 $\P$ Other: Nissen fundoplication (n = 1), epiphrenic diverticulum excision (n = 4), surgery for Boerhave (n = 1).

most leaks being acute (11.2%) or early (70.4%). The median leak initial diameter was 10 mm (IQR, 5.3-20), with most leaks of known size less than 20 mm in diameter (73%). Median hospitalization and follow-up periods were 26 days (IQR, 11-51) and 303 days (IQR, 87.5-775), respectively.

### **Procedure data**

Seven hundred seventy-five therapeutic endoscopies were performed, with a median of 3 endoscopies per patient (IQR, 2-4) (Table 2). Multimodal therapy was needed in 40.8% of patients (n = 84), with patients with previous bariatric surgery needing it more often (P < .001). Only patients with previous esophagectomy and sleeve gastrectomy needed to undergo a fourth and fifth different technique.

SEMSs (68.4% and 28.2%), EID (9.2% and 7.3%), OTSCs (6.8% and 5.3%), and EVT (4.9% and 2.4%) were the mostused options (in that order) both for first and second endoscopic techniques, with SEMS placement maintaining this preference for third (11.2%) and fourth (2.4%) endoscopic techniques (Supplementary Table 1, available online at www.giejournal.org). Characterization of endoscopic techniques used is summarized in Tables 3 and 4. AE characterization and their management are summarized in Table 5.

### Self-expandable metal stents

Two hundred forty-nine procedures for SEMS placement were performed in 178 patients over 3 different

Rodrigues-Pinto et al

TABLE 3. Characterization of e	ndoscopic techniques regarding prir	nary closure options		
Technique	Question	A	nswer	No. of cases (%)
Self-expandable metal stents (249 stents placed in 178 patients)	Clinical success after stent technique ( $n = 249$ )	Leal	s closure	103 (41.4)
		Leak p	persistence	138 (55.4)
		Stent left in place v	vithout leak persistence	8 (3.2)
	SEMS placement endoscopic attempts (178 patients)*	One	attempt	107 (60.1)
		Two	attempts	61 (34.3)
		Three	attempts	10 (5.6)
		Patients with previous stents placed ( $n = 71$ )	Stent placed after previous stent removal	54 (76)
			Stent in stent (previous stent still in place)	17 (24)
	No. of stents placed simultaneously (n $=$ 249)	Only	1 stent*	243 (97.6)
		Two overl	apping stents*	6 (2.4)
	Stent manufacturer (n $= 249$ )	MI Tech	Hanarostent (EPW $[n = 29] + NES [n = 3])$	32 (12.8)
			Gastroseal	7 (2.7)
			Diabolo-shape	1 (.4)
		Boston Scientific	Wallflex (n = 83) or Ultraflex (n = 6)	89 (35.7)
		Taewoong	Megastent	40 (16.1)
			Niti-S-Beta (n = 14) or unknown (n = 3)	17 (6.8)
		Merit	Endomaxx (n = 23) or Alimaxx (n = 3)	26 (10.4)
		ELLA-CS	SX-ELLA Stent Danis	2 (.8)
		No in	formation	5 (2)
	Stent cover (n $= 249$ )	Fully	covered	174 (69.9)
		Partial	ly covered	71 (28.5)
		Fully and p	artially covered	2 (.8)
		Un	known	2 (.8)
	Stent body diameter (n $=$ 249)	<1	7 mm	3 (1.2)
		18-	21 mm	78 (32.4)
		22-	24 mm	110 (45.6)
		25-	28 mm	50 (20.1)
		Un	known	3.2 (8)
	Stent extension (n = $249$ )	Mean $\pm$ stand	ard deviation, mm	147.15 ± 43.58
	Techniques to minimize stent migration ( $n = 249$ )		None	194 (77.9)
		Through-t	he-scope clips	23 (9.2)
		(	DISC	19 (7.6)
		S	uture	13 (5.2)
	Sten	it repositioned (n = $249$ )		26 (10.4)
	removal (n = 249)	No additional	technique needed	188 (75.5)
		Sten	t-in-stent	26 (10.4)
			(contin	ued on the next page

www.giejournal.org

1288 GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021

Rodrigues-Pinto et al

Endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks

Technique	Question	Answer	No. of cases (%)
		APC	11 (4.4)
		Stent-in-stent plus APC	3 (1.2)
		Surgical removal	1 (.4)
		Removal not tried	20 (8)
	Stent dwell time (n $=$ 249)	Median days (interquartile range)	35 (21-50)
		$\leq$ 2 wk	45 (18.1)
		2-4 wk	61 (24.5)
		4-6 wk	56 (22.5)
		6-8 wk	38 (15.3)
		8-10 wk	19 (7.6)
		>10 wk	30 (12)
	No. of therapeutic endoscopies (n $= 249$ )	Median (min-max)	2 (1-7)
		1	20 (8)
		2	174 (69.9)
		3	40 (16.1)
		≥4	15 (6)
OTSC (n $=$ 39)	Clinical success after OTSC technique	Leak closure	26 (66.7)
		Leak improvement	8 (20.5)
		Leak persistence	5 (12.8)
	No. of clips placed in the same procedure	1	36 (92.3)
		2	2 (5.1)
		3	1 (2.6)
	Epithelial ablation before OTSC placement	APC	21 (53.8)
		No	18 (46.2)
	OTSC placement technique	Aspiration	26 (66.7)
		Anchor device	5 (12.8)
		Twin grasper	7 (17.9)
		Unknown	1 (2.6)
	OTSC diameter	12 mm	37 (94.9)
		14 mm	1 (2.6)
		Unknown	1 (2.6)
Suture (n $=$ 13)	Clinical success after suture technique	Leak closure	5 (38.5)
		Leak improvement	5 (38.5)
		Leak persistence	3 (23.1)
	Epithelial ablation before suture	APC	7 (53.8)
		No	6 (46.2)
Tissue sealants (n $=$ 9)	Clinical success after sealant technique	Leak closure	2 (22.2)
		Leak persistence	7 (77.8)
	Which tissue sealant	Thrombin	3 (33.3)
		Fibrin glue	3 (33.3)
			(continued on the next page

www.giejournal.org

TABLE 3. Continued			
Technique	Question	Answer	No. of cases (%)
		Histoacryl	2 (22.2)
		Platelet rich plasma	1 (11.1)
	Pla	cement of mesh	5 (55.6)
	Location of sealant injection	Leak/fistula tract	8 (88.9)
		Submucosal injection	1 (11.1)
	No. of procedures	1	6 (66.7)
		2	3 (33.3)
	Time between procedures	Median, days (min-max)	4 (1-10)
Biodegradable stent (n $= 8$ )	Clinical success after biodegradable stent placement	Leak closure	3 (37.5)
		Leak improvement	4 (50)
		Leak persistence	1 (12.5)
	Biodegradable stent covering	Fully covered	2 (25)
		Partially covered	6 (75)
	Biodegradable stent body diameter	23 mm	2 (25)
		25 mm	6 (75)
	Biodegradable stent extension	80 mm	4 (50)
		100 mm	3 (37.5)
		135 mm	1 (12.5)
	Techniques to minimize stent migration	Clip	4 (50)
		None	4 (50)

APC, Argon plasma coagulation; OTSC, over-the-scope clip. \*Percentages calculated in function of the number of patients.

endoscopic attempts. In 6 of these procedures, 2 overlapping stents were placed. Thirty-four percent of patients (n = 61) underwent 2 different endoscopic attempts for SEMS placement and 5.6% (n = 10) underwent 3 different endoscopic attempts (Tables 3 and 4). Fully covered SEMSs (FC-SEMSs) and partially covered SEMSs were used in 69.9% (n = 174) and 28.5% (n = 71) of procedures, respectively. The median stent dwell time was 35 days (IQR, 21-50), with almost half (47%) placing them for 2 to 6 weeks. Sixteen percent of patients needed an additional technique for stent removal. Two perforations and 3 fistulas occurred in 2% of procedures.

In addition to placement of partially covered SEMSs, additional techniques to minimize stent migration were used in 20% of procedures (n = 55); however, migration still occurred in 12 procedures (21.7%). In the univariable regression model (Supplementary Table 2, available online at www.giejournal.org), SEMS migration was lower when larger diameter SEMSs were used (OR, .90; 95% confidence interval [CI], .82-1.00; P = .049) and higher when FC-SEMSs were used (OR, 2.44; 95% CI, 1.13-5.31; P = .024) or through-the-scope clips were used as an additional technique to minimize migration (OR, 2.59, 95% CI, 1.05-6.35; P = .038).

#### Effectiveness of endoscopic therapy and AEs

Technical success was achieved in 90.8% of patients (n = 187) (Table 2). Individual endoscopic leak closure was 41.4% for SEMSs (44.6% if we consider leak resolution), 66.7% for OTSCs, 38.5% for suture, 22.2% for tissue sealants, 37.5% for biodegradable stents, 23.8% for EVT, 52.6% for EID, and 66.7% for endoscopic septotomy (Tables 3 and 4). Overall endoscopic clinical success was achieved in 80.1% of patients (n = 161) and was lower in patients who had undergone RYGB (65.2%), although without statistical significance (P = .159). The median time to leak closure was 52 days (IQR, 33-81.3). In 7 patients (3.4%), a stent was left in place permanently, without evidence of leak persistence during follow-up (6 were oncologic patients with advanced disease and residual margins and 1 patient had a sleeve gastrectomy and died before stent removal).

When considering endoscopic leak resolution, success increased to 83.5%. Despite similarities in the percentage of leak resolution for each technique (43.7% [90/206] for the first endoscopic technique, 45.3% [48/106] for the second technique, 37.8% [17/45] for the third technique, and 59.1% [13/22] for the fourth technique), cumulative success of endoscopic leak resolution reached a plateau

<sup>1290</sup> GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021

TABLE 4. Characterizati	on of endoscopic techniques regarding sec	ondary closure options		
Technique	Question	Answer	No. of cases (%)	
Endoscopic vacuum therapy (n $= 21$ )	Clinical success after endoscopic vacuum therapy	Leak closure	5 (23.8)	
		Leak improvemer	nt	11 (52.4)
		Leak persistence		5 (23.8)
	Sponge initial location	Intracavitary		9 (42.9)
		Intraluminal Overtube (endosponge [n = 7], esosponge [n = 1]) Over-the-wire		12 (57.1)
	Placement technique			8 (38.1)
				2 (9.5)
		Dragged with endos	соре	11 (52.4)
	Time between sponge exchanges	Median, days (min-r	4 (3-7)	
	Negative pressure	100-125 mm Hg	I	11 (52.4)
		125 mm Hg		6 (28.6)
		175 mm Hg		4 (19)
	Stent-over-sponge	Performed		4 (19)
		Clinical success after stent-over-sponge	Leak improvement	3 (75)
			Leak persistence	1 (25)
		No. of days with stent-over-sponge	6	1 (25)
			15	1 (25)
			17	2 (50)
		Only 1 stent		2 (50)
		Stent-over-sponge changed every 4 days		2 (50)
	No. of procedures	Median (min-max)		4 (1-19)
Endoscopic internal drainage (n $=$ 38)	Clinical success after endoscopic internal drainage	Leak closure		20 (52.6)
		Leak improvemer	nt	8 (21.1)
		Leak persistence	2	10 (26.3)
	No. of plastic stents placed simultaneously	1		15 (39.5)
		2		17 (44.7)
		3		2 (5.3)
		4		4 (10.5)
	Stent length	Short		37 (97.4)
		Long		1 (2.6)
	Stent format	Double-pigtail		37 (97.4)
		Straight		1 (2.6)
	Asso	ciated necrosectomy		3 (7.9)
	Additi	ional flushing catheter		15 (39.5)
	Stents dwell time	Median, days (IQF	۲)	30 (15.7-53.2)
	Time until oral resumption	Median, days (IQF	२)	3 (2-21)
		Oral diet not starte	ed	7 (18.4)
	No. of procedures	Median (min-max	<)	1 (1-4)
Endoscopic septotomy $(n = 9)$	Clinical success after endoscopic septotomy	Leak closure		6 (66.7)
		Leak improvemer	nt	2 (22.2)
		Leak persistence	2	1 (11.1)
	Septotomy limits	End of cavity		7 (77.8)
			(continu	ied on the next page

Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021 GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY 1291

www.giejournal.org

Rodrigues-Pinto et al

TABLE 4. Continued				
Technique	Question	Answer		No. of cases (%)
		Partial		1 (11.1)
		Unknown		1 (11.1)
	Additional balloon dilation	Yes		8 (88.9)
		Balloon diameter	18 mm	1 (12.5)
			30 mm	3 (37.5)
			35 mm	2 (25)
			Unknown	2 (25)
	Need for further sessions	Yes		3 (33.3)
		Reason	Residual septum	2 (66.7)
			Incomplete drainage	1 (33.3)
	No. of procedures	Median (min-m	ax)	1 (1-7)
	Time between procedures	Median, days (min-max)		7 (6-14)
	Time until oral resumption	Median, days (l	Median, days (IQR)	
		Oral diet not sta	rted	2 (22.2)

IQR, Interquartile range.

between the third and fourth techniques (around 70%-80%); this was achieved after 125 days of endoscopic therapy (Fig. 1). Two percent of patients (n = 4) still achieved leak resolution with the fifth technique, with the only patient who underwent 6 techniques not achieving leak resolution. Although patients who had undergone previous sleeve surgery had an initial lower leak resolution with the first technique, similar endoscopic leak resolutions were achieved at the end of endoscopic treatment. Regarding the number of endoscopic procedures, higher chances of leak resolution were achieved in patients who had undergone between 2 and 9 procedures (Fig. 2). Leak resolution within each center is presented in Supplementary Figure 1 (available online at www.giejournal.org).

Fourteen patients (6.8%) underwent surgery after endoscopic treatment failure, with surgical leak closure possible in 12 of them. One patient underwent radiologic leak closure, and 1 patient had spontaneous closure. Global leak closure was observed in 186 patients (90.3%).

Overall, 102 endoscopic therapy–related AEs occurred in 81 patients (39.3%; 1 AE, n = 60; 2 AEs, n = 21) (Tables 2 and 5); SEMSs were responsible for 89 of 102 AEs observed (including patients who had 2 AEs), with only 13 of the remaining AEs associated with other endoscopic techniques. Most AEs were managed conservatively or endoscopically, with 6 AEs requiring surgery (n = 5) or leading to death (n = 2, 1 of which underwent surgery). During follow-up, 26.6% of patients (n = 53) died, most of whom were oncologic patients; leak-related mortality was 12.4% (n = 25).

## Predictive factors for clinical success, leak resolution, and AEs

Logistic regression analyses were performed to evaluate predictive factors for clinical success and leak resolution at the first endoscopic technique, at the end of 3 endoscopic techniques, and at the end of treatment (Table 6). Smaller leak initial diameters were found to be associated with clinical success at the first endoscopic technique (OR, .96; 95% CI, .92-1.00; P = .047), and hospitalization in a general ward was associated with clinical success at the end of 3 endoscopic techniques (OR, 2.11; 95% CI, 1.00-4.44; P = .049) and at the end of treatment (OR, 4.01; 95% CI, 1.69-9.52; P = .002). Hemodynamic stability was associated with clinical success at the end of treatment (OR, 4.25; 95% CI, 1.89-9.52; P < .001), and absence of respiratory failure was associated with leak resolution at the end of 3 endoscopic techniques (OR, 3.02; 95% CI, 1.33-6.85; P = .008) and clinical success at the end of treatment (OR, 6.71; 95% CI, 2.67-16.95; P < .001). Previous gastrectomy predicted leak resolution at the first endoscopic technique (OR, 3.27; 95% CI, 1.38-7.74; P = .007) and at the end of 3 endoscopic techniques (OR, 3.82; 95% CI, 1.31-11.15; P = .014). Fewer numbers of therapeutic endoscopies performed, shorter length of stay, and shorter times to leak closure were associated with clinical success and leak resolution at all time points. There was a trend for an earlier start to treatment being associated with clinical success (OR, .99; 95% CI, .98-1.00; P = .082) and leak resolution (OR, .99; 95% CI, .98-1.000; P = .069) at the first endoscopic technique, with previous RYGB associated with lower rates of

1292 GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021

Rodrigues-Pinto et al

ABLE 5. Adverse events characteriza	tion and severi	ty			
			Adverse event	management	
	Adverse events n (%)	Conservative treatment	Repeat endoscopy	Surgery	Fatal
SEMS (n = 249)					
Migration	54 (21.7)	9	45 (stent repositioning/ removal/new stent)	_	_
Stricture on stent-induced ulcers	13 (5.2)	6	7 (balloon dilation)	-	_
Pain	9 (3.6)	3	6 (early stent removal)	_	_
Bleeding	4 (1.6)	4	_	_	_
Nausea and vomiting	3 (1.2)	2	1 (early stent removal)	_	
Perforation	2 (.8)	_	1 (placement of 2 overlapping stents)	1 (duodenal perforation with surgical repair)	—
Tracheoesophageal fistula	1 (.4)	_	_	1 (surgical repair)	_
Aortoesophageal fistula	1 (.4)	_	_	_	1 (sepsis)
Gastrocolic fistula	1 (.4)	_	1 (over-the-scope clip closure)	_	_
Cholangitis	1 (.4)	1	_	_	_
Over-the-scope clip (n = $39$ )			-		
Leak worsening	2 (5.1)	_	2 (SEMS placement)		
Accidental release in the esophagus	1 (2.6)	1	-	_	_
Endoscopic internal drainage $(n = 38)$					
Stent migration with ileal perforation	1 (2.6)	-	-	_	1 (sepsis despit surgery)
Stent migration with spleen injury	1 (2.6)	-	1 (stent removal)		_
Stent migration into lumen	1 (2.6)	_	1 (stent removal)		_
Leak collection perforation by stent	1 (2.6)	_	-	1 (surgical irrigation and drainage)	_
Gastrobronchial fistula formation	1 (2.6)	_	-	1 (surgical closure)	_
Endoscopic vacuum therapy $(n = 21)$					
Tension pneumothorax	1 (4.8)	_	_	1 (chest tube placement)	—
Endoscopic suture (n $= 13$ )					
Bleeding	1 (7.7)	1	_		
Tissue sealants (n $=$ 9)					
Aspiration into left bronchus fistula	1 (11.1)	1	—	-	—
Endoscopic septotomy (n $=$ 9)	_	_	_	_	-
Biodegradable stents (n = 8)					
Migration	2 (25)	2	_	_	_

SEMS, Self-expandable metal stent; —, not applicable.

clinical success at the end of treatment (OR, .39; 95% CI, .14-1.11; P = .079).

Bigger leak initial diameters (OR, 1.05; 95% CI, 1.00-1.09; P = .016), higher numbers of therapeutic endoscopies performed (OR, 1.20; 95% CI, 1.06-1.37; P = .005), use of FC-SEMSs individually (OR, 2.12; 95% CI, 1.06-4.26; P = .035) or combined with other techniques (OR, 2.51; 95% CI, 1.22-5.16; P = .012), and longer length of stays (OR, 1.01; 95% CI, 1.00-1.02; P = .016) were associated with overall AE occurrence. However, previous gastrectomy was protective for its occurrence (OR, .20; 95% CI, .07-.53; P = .001).





Figure 1. A, Cumulative success of leak resolution with different endoscopic therapies according to surgery responsible for the leak. B, Cumulative success of leak resolution over time of endoscopic therapy. *RYGB*, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass.

## DISCUSSION

The variety of endoscopic approaches and devices, including closing, covering, and drainage methods, has transformed endoscopy into a first-line approach for the treatment of UGI postsurgical leaks. Despite this, there is wide variation in the management of these patients, even among experts in the field, particularly concerning difficult-to-treat patients, possibly reflecting the poor quality of evidence available at the moment.<sup>11</sup> The literature is limited to case reports, case series, and only a few retrospective observational cohort studies, which assess different transmural defects together or mainly based on a given center's experience.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the largest multicenter study including only patients with UGI postsurgical leaks. Clinical success and leak resolution were achieved in 80.1% and 83.5% of the 206 patients, respectively. This is consistent with the literature, with clinical success rates of 60% to 100% for various endoscopic modalities.<sup>12,16-19</sup> During endoscopic treatment, often more than 1 endoscopic approach is used concomitantly,<sup>12</sup> whereas in other cases, therapies are applied sequentially depending on the initial clinical response. For this reason, individual leak closure of each endoscopic technique should be interpreted with caution. Because many patients have already undergone different endoscopic techniques, clinical success may decrease with time, and these leaks

<sup>1294</sup> GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021





Figure 2. Probability of leak resolution at first endoscopic technique according to the number of therapeutic endoscopies performed: (A) classification tree; (B) line graph.

(by having already failed previous endoscopic techniques) may be more difficult to treat. Although it would be important to identify the most effective technique, our data suggest that this may be particularly difficult, especially in complex leaks, where several endoscopic techniques are used; in these cases, the endoscopic techniques should be considered complementary.

In a prospective study that evaluated an entirely endoscopic approach for management of 27 bariatric leaks, the first procedure was successful in 41%, with all patients eventually achieving resolution after a mean of 4.4 endoscopies at a mean of 86 days.<sup>20</sup> In our study, multimodal therapy was required in 40.8% of patients, with patients with previous bariatric surgery needing it more often. Around 44% of leaks were successfully treated with 1 endoscopic technique. Although the percentage of leak resolution with each technique was relatively similar, cumulative success of endoscopic leak resolution reached a plateau between the third and fourth techniques (around 70%-80%). The median time to leak closure was 52 days with a median of 3 endoscopies performed per patient.

Even though multiple endoscopic procedures should be considered before endoscopic failure,<sup>21</sup> the success rates of endoscopic treatment correlate with the duration of treatment. In one multicenter retrospective study,<sup>16</sup> the probability of successful endoscopic therapy in sleeve gastrectomy leaks decreased markedly with time, from 76.4% at 1 month to 48.5% at 6 months. In our study, only 10% of leaks were successfully closed after 125 days of treatment.

It is important to highlight that surgery still has a key role while addressing postsurgical leaks, both at initial stages (allowing irrigation and drainage of intraabdominal collections) and at later stages if endoscopic treatment is not successful; 42% of our cohort needed repeat surgery at earlier stages, whereas 7% of patients (n = 14) underwent surgery after endoscopic treatment failure, with leak closure achieved in 12 of them. Final leak closure was achieved in 90.3% of patients.

Several endoscopic techniques can be used to obtain leak closure. A recent survey showed that placement of stents, specifically SEMSs, is the most available technique and most frequently used in almost every department.<sup>1</sup> Our study confirmed this, because SEMS placement was the technique most frequently used until the fourth endoscopic approach. Thirty-four percent and 5.6% of our patients underwent 2 and 3 different attempts of SEMS placement, respectively. It should be noted, however, that persistent of leakage after positioning of the first stent has been associated with higher chances of therapeutic failure.<sup>17,22</sup> EID, OTSCs, and EVT were also common options, but always at percentages lower than 10%. Perhaps the fact that almost 70% of patients had a surgical or percutaneous drain placed before index endoscopy could explain a lower use of therapeutic

Rodrigues-Pinto et al

TABLE 6. Clinical success, leak resolution, and adverse event occurrence predictors								
	Clinical success predictors at first technique*		Leak resolution predictors at first technique*		Clinical success predictors at first 3 techniques*			
	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value		
Time between surgery and endoscopy	.993 (.985 - 1.001)	.082	.993 (.985 - 1.001)	.069	.999 (.998 - 1.001)	.447		
Female gender	1.034 (.529 - 2.023)	.921	.859 (.442 - 1.668)	.653	.719 (.278 - 1.864)	.497		
Age	1.005 (.982 - 1.030)	.656	1.010 (.986 - 1.034)	.407	.996 (.971 - 1.021)	.731		
Previous surgery				-				
Esophagectomy	.977 (.395 - 2.418)	.961	.692 (.283 - 1.692)	.419	1.075 (.421 - 2.744)	.879		
Roux-en-Y gastric bypass/minigastric bypass	.924 (.338 - 2.527)	.878	.833 (.304 - 2.278)	.722	.571 (.220 - 1.484)	.250		
Sleeve gastrectomy/gastroplasty	.541 (.245 - 1.193)	.128	.539 (.247 - 1.176)	.121	1.091 (.495 - 2.408)	.829		
Gastrectomy	2.076 (.898 - 4.800)	.088	3.270 (1.382 - 7.737)	.007	1.499 (.620 - 3.63)	.369		
Other	1.186 (.223 - 6.301)	.841	.937 (.179 - 4.911)	.938	.670 (.143 - 3.132)	.611		
Leak initial size	.961 (.923999)	.047	.966 (.929 - 1.004)	.078	.997 (.964 - 1.032)	.883		
Leak-associated collection	1.062 (.537 - 2.101)	.862	1.090 (.555 - 2.141)	.802	1.214 (.590 -2.499)	.598		
C-reactive protein at beginning of therapy	.998 (.994 - 1.001)	.251	.998 (.995 - 1.002)	.329	1.001 (.996 - 1.006)	.756		
Leukocytes at beginning of therapy	.998 (.952 - 1.055)	.933	.996 (.947 - 1.049)	.890	1.004 (.925 - 1.090)	.925		
Hemodynamic stability	1.228 (.581 - 2.597)	.590	.861 (.416 - 1.782)	.687	1.504 (.523 - 4.310)	.449		
Absence of respiratory failure	1.718 (.797 - 3.704)	.168	1.201 (.573 - 2.525)	.626	2.778 (.965 - 8.000)	.058		
Hospitalization				-				
General ward	1.151 (.577 - 2.295)	.689	.923 (.466 - 1.830)	.820	2.11 (1.004 - 4.435)	.049		
Intermediate/intensive care unit	.760 (.374 - 1.543)	.447	.968 (.481 - 1.948)	.927	.380 (.177816)	.013		
Intensive care unit	.616 (.299 - 1.268)	.188	.757 (.374 - 1.530)	.437	1.009 (.941 - 1.083)	.799		
No. of therapeutic endoscopies	.340 (.285561)	<.001	.323 (.219477)	<.001	.721 (.613849)	<.001		
Endoscopic technique			•					
partially covered SEMS (only)	.516 (.214 - 1.243)	.140	.573 (.244 - 1.346)	.201	.861 (.369 - 2.008)	.728		
FC-SEMS (only)	1.618 (.805 - 3.256)	.177	1.875 (.934 - 3.764)	.077	1.482 (.727 - 3.022)	.279		
Partially covered SEMS (any including it)	.515 (.218 - 1.220)	.131	.570 (.247 - 1.317)	.188	.943 (.407 - 2.188)	.892		
FC-SEMS (any including it)	1.686 (.831 - 3.422)	.148	1.958 (.968 - 3.962)	.062	1.510 (.740 - 3.077)	.257		
Over-the-scope clip (any including it)	1.825 (.676 - 4.928)	.235	1.543 (.572 - 4.164)	.392	1.524 (.513 - 4.530)	.448		
Endoscopic internal drainage	2.270 (.650 - 7.931)	.199	2.158 (.622 - 7.483)	.225	.646 (.195 - 2.136)	.474		
Endoscopic vacuum therapy	.192 (.022 - 1.650)	.132	.161 (.019 - 1.359)	.093	.280 (.071 - 1.109)	.070		
Hospitalization length of stay	.981 (.969993)	.002	.976 (.964989)	.002	.984 (.975993)	<.001		
Time until leak closure	.986 (.978994)	.001	.986 (.978994)	.001	1.006 (1.001 - 1.011)	.033		

OR, Odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; SEMS, self-expandable metal stent; FC, fully covered; ---, not applicable.

\*Results were clustered on the hospital and adjusted for the time between surgery and endoscopy.

options like EID and EVT, although emerging data suggest that secondary closure, using the concept of keeping the leak open,<sup>23</sup> may be superior to closure.<sup>18,24</sup>

Only a limited number of studies have compared the efficacy of different endoscopic modalities for management of leaks. Farnik et al<sup>25</sup> retrospectively compared FC-SEMSs and OTSCs, with leak closure in 69% and 31%, respectively; clinical success after primary intervention was 40% for FC-SEMSs and 70% for OTSCs. However, defects treated with FC-SEMSs were larger than those treated with an OTSC (12.6 mm vs 7.1 mm). Manta et al's<sup>19</sup> primarily approach for upper postsurgical leaks was OTSCs and OTSCs plus SEMSs, with leak closure

achieved in as many as 81% to 85% of cases treated with these approaches. However, similar success rates have been reported for EVT, with demonstrated superiority to stents in some studies<sup>26-29</sup> and lower mortality rates and shorter median treatment duration (23 vs 33 days).<sup>28</sup>

Proper selection of patients is critical for favorable outcomes. A precise diagnosis of the leak site and leak duration; understanding of the surgical anatomy, septic state, and associated collections; and an appropriate endoscopic approach to the leak are essential in the effective management of this condition.<sup>2,11</sup> In our study, smaller leak initial diameters, hospitalization in a general ward, hemodynamic stability, absence of respiratory failure, previous

1296 GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021

Lask recolution are	dictors	Clinical sussessme	dictors	Advorce event ere	urranca	
at first 3 techniques*		at end of treatm	ent*	predictors *		
OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value	OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value	OR (95% CI)	P value	
.999 (.998 - 1.001)	.416	1 (.998 - 1.003)	.773	1 (.998 - 1.001)	.639	
.935 (.448 - 1.952)	.858	1.862 (.833 - 4.162)	.130	1.041 (.525 - 2.063)	.909	
1.005 (.979 - 1.032)	.695	.982 (.953 - 1.011)	.212	.983 (.959 - 1.007)	.166	
.628 (.238 - 1.656)	.347	.958 (.338 - 2.711)	.935	2.303 (.891 - 5.953)	.085	
.489 (.188 - 1.269)	.141	.394 (.139 - 1.114)	.079 .804 (.306 - 2.116)		.659	
1.069 (.466 - 2.454)	.875	2.292 (.877 - 5.988)	.090	2.134 (.972 - 4.688)	.059	
3.817 (1.307 - 11.146)	.014	1.203 (.474 - 3.054)	.697	.196 (.073527)	.001	
.490 (.104 - 2.300)	.366	.422 (.088 - 2.014)	.279	.965 (.193 - 4.817)	.966	
1.014 (.971 - 1.058)	.540	.996 (.954 - 1.040)	.859	1.049 (1.001 - 1.090)	.016	
1.160 (.541 -2.488)	.703	1.131 (.494 - 2.587)	.771	.926 (.459 - 1.868)	.831	
.999 (.995 - 1.002)	.412	.997 (.994 - 1.001)	.997 (.994 - 1.001) .126 .999 (.995 - 1.00		.445	
.966 (.915 - 1.019)	.204	.977 (.924 - 1.033)	.408	1.009 (.953 - 1.068)	.763	
2.028 (.938-4.386)	.072	4.255 (1.893 - 9.524)	<.001	.904 (.428 - 1.908)	.791	
3.021 (1.331-6.849)	.008	6.711 (2.667 - 16.949)	<.001	.747 (.341 - 1.634)	.465	
1.449 (.676 - 3.108)	.340	4.006 (1.686 - 9.521)	.002	1.266 (.628 - 2.553)	.509	
.570 (.260 - 1.248)	.160	.221 (.090541)	<.001	.869 (.426 - 1.774)	.700	
.347 (.157765)	.008	.185 (.078438)	<.001	.693 (.333 - 1.443)	.327	
.649 (.537784)	<.001	.854 (.757963)	.010	1.203 (1.057 - 1.369)	.005	
.933 (.383 - 2.274)	.879	.606 (.231 - 1.590)	.309	.735 (.325 - 1.661)	.459	
1.835 (.856 - 3.935)	.119	1.070 (.484 - 2.378)	.862	2.120 (1.056 - 4.259)	.035	
1.030 (.425 - 2.496)	.948	.606 (.231 - 1.590)	.309	.661 (.295 - 1.482)	.315	
2.086 (.961 - 4.528)	.063	1.228 (.544 - 2.769)	.621	2.509 (1.219 - 5.162)	.012	
1.207 (.406 - 3.594)	.735	1.872 (.489 - 7.164)	.360	.636 (.228 - 1.771)	.386	
.599 (.181 - 1.983)	.401	6.070 (.700 - 52.63)	.102	.311 (.085 - 1.133)	.077	
.207 (.053815)	.024	.377 (.094 - 1.521)	.171	.746 (.184 - 3.023)	.682	
.979 (.969989)	<.001	.984 (.974993)	<.001	1.011 (1.002 - 1.020)	.016	
.991 (.985998)	.008	—	_	1.001 (.997 - 1.007)	.453	

gastrectomy, lower numbers of therapeutic endoscopies performed, shorter length of stays, and shorter times to leak closure were associated with better outcomes. Outcomes regarding hospitalization in a general ward and shorter length of stays are probably explained by patients being in better clinical condition (hemodynamically stable and without respiratory failure). There was also a trend for an earlier start to treatment being associated with better outcomes. Christophorou et al<sup>16</sup> and El Hajj et al<sup>1</sup> also reported better outcomes with a shorter time between diagnosis and treatment and smaller luminal openings<sup>1,16</sup> and interval between surgery and leak  $\leq 3$  days.<sup>16</sup> The heterogeneity of treatment management and the frequent combination of several different endoscopic techniques in the same patient meant that comparison of efficacy between the different techniques was not possible.

Leaks are associated with a high risk of morbidity and mortality.<sup>5,30,31</sup> In our study, the overall rate of AEs was 39.3% (102 AEs in 81/206 patients); however, only 6 AEs required surgery or led to death. Even though SEMSs were responsible for most AEs observed (89/102 AEs, occurring in 249 SEMS procedures), they were typically managed endoscopically, with only 2 requiring surgery and 1 leading to death. Migration was the main AE in SEMS placement, occurring in 21.7% of procedures,

although antimigration measures, such as partially covered SEMS placement and anchoring techniques, were used in 28.5% and 20% of our cohort, respectively, which is similar to previous reports.32,33 In a regression analysis, migration rates were higher when smaller SEMSs or FC-SEMSs were used. On the other hand, EID was associated with a 13.2% AE rate (5 AEs in 38 patients), of which 2 required surgery and 1 led to death. Other techniques were fraught by AE rates of 5% to 10%. Previous reports of exsanguinating hemorrhage after intracavitary sponge placement also highlight the potential for serious AEs related to EVT.<sup>26</sup> Bigger leak initial diameters, use of FC-SEMSs, higher numbers of therapeutic endoscopies performed, and longer length of stays predicted AE occurrence, whereas previous gastrectomy was protective for its occurrence. Although 26.6% of our cohort died during follow-up, more evident in oncologic patients, leakrelated mortality was 12.4%, with previous reports of 13% to 14%.17,34 In our study, it was slightly higher in oncologic patients.

This study is the largest multicenter series evaluating the efficacy of interventional endoscopy in the treatment of UGI postsurgical leaks. However, there are some limitations to the study. First, we included several surgery types responsible for the leaks, which prevented analysis and regression from being adjusted for a greater number of variables. Second, despite exhaustive data collection, the retrospective design of the study may have resulted in information bias, because patients were heterogeneously distributed between the different centers. Third, this is a multicenter retrospective cohort. The centers used a wide array of treatment modalities, and there was no single protocol or algorithm in place for the endoscopic management of leaks and no a priori definitions of failure or when to proceed with another endoscopic approach. We tried to address this limitation by analyzing data as "clustered by center" with conditional logistic regression models. Nevertheless, all included centers had experience and expertise in the endoscopic management of surgical AEs (with the exception of 1 center, all the others had leak resolution around 80%). The fact that all involved centers were tertiary hospitals with high endoscopic experience and dealing with complex patients could limit study generalizability. The heterogeneity of treatment management and the frequent combination of several different endoscopic techniques in the same patient prevented head to head comparisons between the different endoscopic techniques. Our study covers a recent time period (2014-2019), and we were able to include more recent endoscopic modalities such as EVT and EID. However, even considering this, the number of procedures performed with these newer techniques was significantly fewer than those with SEMSs

Currently, complex endoscopic surgical treatment or combined treatment with simultaneous or sequential use of several endoscopic methods seems optimal in management of UGI postsurgical leaks. We present data focusing on the effectiveness of complex therapies rather than individual endoscopic methods. Our study shows endoscopic treatment is safe, effective, and reproducible when a skilled endoscopist is available. Around half of the patients were treated successfully with 1 endoscopic approach, with approximately 80% of patients eventually having their leak treated with endoscopy without the need for surgery. Clinical success correlated with the duration of treatment, with only 10% of leaks successfully closed after 125 days of treatment. Leak resolution reached a plateau between the third and fourth endoscopic techniques, with little benefit in adding more techniques. Because an earlier start to treatment seems to be associated with improved clinical outcomes, these patients should be referred sooner rather than later. Patients with smaller leak initial diameters, in better clinical condition, and with previous gastrectomy respond better, so we should be more aggressive when treating these patients. A high index of suspicion is key to early diagnosis. Knowing what is available in our own institutions and the available skill sets will guide treatment decisions.

#### REFERENCES

- El Hajj II, Imperiale TF, Rex DK, et al. Treatment of esophageal leaks, fistulae, and perforations with temporary stents: evaluation of efficacy, adverse events, and factors associated with successful outcomes. Gastrointest Endosc 2014;79:589-98.
- Swinnen J, Eisendrath P, Rigaux J, et al. Self-expandable metal stents for the treatment of benign upper GI leaks and perforations. Gastrointest Endosc 2011;73:890-9.
- van Boeckel PG, Dua KS, Weusten BL, et al. Fully covered selfexpandable metal stents (SEMS), partially covered SEMS and selfexpandable plastic stents for the treatment of benign esophageal ruptures and anastomotic leaks. BMC Gastroenterol 2012;12:19.
- Blencowe NS, Strong S, McNair AG, et al. Reporting of short-term clinical outcomes after esophagectomy: a systematic review. Ann Surg 2012;255:658-66.
- Lang H, Piso P, Stukenborg C, et al. Management and results of proximal anastomotic leak in a series of 1114 total gastrectomies for gastric carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 2000;26:168-71.
- 6. Morales MP, Miedema BW, Scott JS, et al. Management of postsurgical leaks in the bariatric patient. Gastrointest Endosc Clin North Am 2011;21:295-304.
- Gonzalez R, Sarr MG, Smith CD, et al. Diagnosis and contemporary management of anastomotic leaks after gastric bypass for obesity. J Am Coll Surg 2007;204:47-55.
- Sharma P, Kozarek R. Role of esophageal stents in benign and malignant diseases. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:258-73; quiz 274.
- Nguyen NT, Rudersdorf PD, Smith BR, et al. Management of gastrointestinal leaks after minimally invasive esophagectomy: conventional treatments vs. endoscopic stenting. J Gastrointest Surg 2011;15: 1952-60.
- Kumar N, Thompson CC. Endoscopic therapy for postoperative leaks and fistulae. Gastrointest Endosc Clin North Am 2013;23:123-36.
- Rodrigues-Pinto E, Repici A, Donatelli G, et al. International multicenter expert survey on endoscopic treatment of upper gastrointestinal anastomotic leaks. Endosc Int Open 2019;7:E1671-82.

<sup>1298</sup> GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021

#### Rodrigues-Pinto et al

- Smith ZL, Park KH, Llano EM, et al. Outcomes of endoscopic treatment of leaks and fistulae following sleeve gastrectomy: results from a large multicenter U.S. cohort. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2019;15:850-5.
- Rodrigues-Pinto E, Pereira P, Ribeiro A, et al. Self-expanding metal stents in postoperative esophageal leaks. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2016;108:133-7.
- Rodrigues-Pinto E, Morais R, Pereira P, et al. Endoscopic treatment of anastomotic leaks—a tailored approach. Dig Liver Dis 2018;50:728-30.
- Rodrigues-Pinto E, Morais R, Vilas-Boas F, et al. Role of endoscopic vacuum therapy, internal drainage, and stents for postbariatric leaks. VideoGIE 2019;4:481-5.
- Christophorou D, Valats JC, Funakoshi N, et al. Endoscopic treatment of fistula after sleeve gastrectomy: results of a multicenter retrospective study. Endoscopy 2015;47:988-96.
- Anderloni A, Genco C, Massidda M, et al. Self-expanding metal stents for the treatment of post-surgical esophageal leaks: a tertiary referral center experience. Dig Surg 2019;36:309-16.
- Lorenzo D, Guilbaud T, Gonzalez JM, et al. Endoscopic treatment of fistulas after sleeve gastrectomy: a comparison of internal drainage versus closure. Gastrointest Endosc 2018;87:429-37.
- Manta R, Caruso A, Cellini C, et al. Endoscopic management of patients with post-surgical leaks involving the gastrointestinal tract: a large case series. United Eur Gastroenterol J 2016;4:770-7.
- Bège T, Emungania O, Vitton V, et al. An endoscopic strategy for management of anastomotic complications from bariatric surgery: a prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc 2011;73:238-44.
- Baptista A, Hourneaux De Moura DT, Jirapinyo P, et al. Efficacy of the cardiac septal occluder in the treatment of post-bariatric surgery leaks and fistulas. Gastrointest Endosc 2019;89:671-9.
- 22. Persson S, Rouvelas I, Kumagai K, et al. Treatment of esophageal anastomotic leakage with self-expanding metal stents: analysis of risk factors for treatment failure. Endosc Int Open 2016;4:E420-6.
- Kumbhari V, Abu Dayyeh BK. Keeping the fistula open: paradigm shift in the management of leaks after bariatric surgery? Endoscopy 2016;48:789-91.
- 24. Scognamiglio P, Reeh M, Karstens K, et al. Endoscopic vacuum therapy versus stenting for postoperative esophago-enteric anastomotic leakage: systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy 2020;52: 632-42.
- 25. Farnik H, Driller M, Kratt T, et al. Indication for "over the scope" (OTS)clip vs. covered self-expanding metal stent (cSEMS) is unequal in upper gastrointestinal leakage: results from a retrospective head-tohead comparison. PLoS One 2015;10:e0117483.
- Bludau M, Fuchs HF, Herbold T, et al. Results of endoscopic vacuumassisted closure device for treatment of upper GI leaks. Surg Endosc 2018;32:1906-14.
- Schniewind B, Schafmayer C, Voehrs G, et al. Endoscopic endoluminal vacuum therapy is superior to other regimens in managing anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy: a comparative retrospective study. Surg Endosc 2013;27:3883-90.
- Brangewitz M, Voigtländer T, Helfritz FA, et al. Endoscopic closure of esophageal intrathoracic leaks: stent versus endoscopic vacuumassisted closure, a retrospective analysis. Endoscopy 2013;45:433-8.
- 29. Laukoetter MG, Mennigen R, Neumann PA, et al. Successful closure of defects in the upper gastrointestinal tract by endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT): a prospective cohort study. Surg Endosc 2017;31: 2687-96.
- Rutegård M, Lagergren P, Rouvelas I, et al. Intrathoracic anastomotic leakage and mortality after esophageal cancer resection: a population-based study. Ann Surg Oncol 2012;19:99-103.

#### Endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks

- Messager M, Warlaumont M, Renaud F, et al. Recent improvements in the management of esophageal anastomotic leak after surgery for cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2017;43:258-69.
- 32. Puli SR, Spofford IS, Thompson CC. Use of self-expandable stents in the treatment of bariatric surgery leaks: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2012;75:287-93.
- **33.** Okazaki O, Bernardo WM, Brunaldi VO, et al. Efficacy and safety of stents in the treatment of fistula after bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Surg 2018;28:1788-96.
- 34. Verstegen MHP, Bouwense SAW, Workum FV, et al. Management of intrathoracic and cervical anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy for esophageal cancer: a systematic review. World J Emerg Surg 2019;14:17.

Abbreviations: AE, adverse event; EID, endoscopic internal drainage; EVT, endoscopic vacuum therapy; FC-SEMS, fully covered selfexpandable metal stent; IQR, interquartile range; OR, odds ratio; OTSC, over-the-scope clip; RYGB, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass; SEMS, selfexpandable metal stent; UGI, upper GI.

DISCLOSURE: The following authors disclosed financial relationships: S. Irani: Research support from Boston Scientific. R Kozarek: Institutional research grant from Boston Scientific. A. Repici: Consultant for Boston Scientific, Erbe, Fujifilm, Medtronic, EndoKey, EndoStart, and Q3Medical. P. Rogalski, A. Baniukievicz: Consultant for Boston Scientific. V. Kumbbari: Consultant for Medtronic, Pentax Medical, Boston Scientific, FujiFilm, and Apollo Endosurgery; research support from Erbe USA. M. A. Kbasbab: Consultant for Boston Scientific, Olympus, Medtronic, GI Supply, and Triton. A. R. Schulman: Consultant for Boston Scientific, Apollo Endosurgery, and MicroTech; research support from GI Dynamics. All other authors disclosed no financial relationships.

## Copyright @ 2021 by the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy 0016-5107/\$36.00

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2020.10.015

Received July 22, 2020. Accepted October 9, 2020.

Current affiliations: Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar São João, Porto, Portugal (1), MEDCIDS, Department of Community Medicine, Information and Health Decision Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal (2), CINTESIS, Center for Health Technology and Services Research, Porto, Portugal (3), Gastroenterology Department, Cairo University Hospital, Cairo, Egypt (4), Department of Gastroenterology, Centro Hospitalar Vila Nova de Gaia/Espinho, Vila Nova de Gaia, Portugal (5), Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Virginia Mason Medical Center, Seattle, Washington, USA (6), Digestive Endoscopy Unit, Humanitas Research Hospital, Humanitas University, Milan, Italy (7), Division of Thoracic Surgery, Swedish Cancer Institute, Seattle, Washington, USA (8), Department of Gastroenterology and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland (9), Department of Gastroenterology, Hospital de Santo António/Centro Hospitalar do Porto, Porto, Portugal (10), Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, Maryland, USA (11), Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA (12).

Reprint requests: Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto, MD, Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar São João, Porto. Al. Prof. Hernâni Monteiro 4200-319 Porto, Portugal.

If you would like to chat with an author of this article, you may contact Dr Rodrigues-Pinto at edu.gil.pinto@gmail.com.

www.giejournal.org





Supplementary Figure 1. Leak resolution within each center.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1. Techniques rating from the most frequent option to the less frequent option								
	First option	Second option	Third option	Fourth option	Fifth option	Sixth option		
SEMS (partially covered and fully covered)*	141 (68.4)	58 (28.2)	23 (11.2)	5 (2.4)	_	_		
Endoscopic internal drainage	19 (9.2)	15 (7.3)	3 (1.5)	4 (1.9)	2 (1)	—		
Over-the-scope clip	14 (6.8)	11 (5.3)	1 (.5)	1 (.5)	1 (.5)			
Endoscopic vacuum therapy	10 (4.9)	5 (2.4)	4 (1.9)	2 (1)	_			
Over-the-scope clip on leak plus SEMS	7 (3.4)	5 (2.4)	1 (.5)	_	_	_		
Biodegradable stent	6 (2.9)	_	2 (1)	—	_	1 (.5)		
Leak suture plus SEMS	4 (1.9)	2 (1)	2 (1)	—	—	—		
Other†	3 (1.5)	3 (1.5)	3 (1.5)	1 (.5)	—	—		
Endoscopic suturing	2 (1)	2 (1)	—	1 (.5)	_	—		
Endoscopic vacuum therapy plus SEMS (stent-over-sponge)	—	3 (1.5)	—	1 (.5)	—	—		
Septotomy plus balloon dilation	—	1 (.5)	4 (1.9)	4 (1.9)	1 (.5)	—		
Tissue sealant	_	1 (.5)	2 (1)	3 (1.5)	1 (.5)	_		
Not applicable‡	_	100 (48.5)	161 (78.2)	184 (89.3)	201 (97.6)	205 (99.5)		

Values are n (%).

SEMS, Self-expandable metal stent; ---, not applicable.

\*Includes bariatric stents.

 $\dagger$ Other: through-the-scope clips (n = 2), through-the-scope clips plus detachable loop (n = 1), pneumatic dilation (n = 4), diabolo stent between pouch and gastric remnant (n = 1), septotomy plus endoscopic internal drainage (n = 1), tissue sealant on leak plus SEMS (n = 1).  $\ddagger$ Number of patients who did not undergo additional endoscopic options.

1299.e1 GASTROINTESTINAL ENDOSCOPY Volume 93, No. 6 : 2021

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 2. Predictors of SEMS migration								
	SEMS migration $(n = 54)$	No SEMS migration $(n = 195)$	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)	P value				
SEMS body diameter	—	—	.902 (.815999)	.049				
SEMS length	—	—	.995 (.988-1.003)	.230				
SEMS covering								
Partially covered	9 (16.7)	62 (31.8)	.476 (.225-1.007)	.052				
Fully covered	44 (81.5)	130 (66.7)	2.443 (1.125-5.305)	.024				
Antimigration technique								
Any technique	16 (29.6)	39 (20)	1.684 (.852-3.329)	.134				
Through-the-scope clip	9 (16.7)	14 (7.2)	2.586 (1.053-6.352)	.038				
Over-the-scope clip	6 (11.1)	13 (6.7)	1.750 (.632-4.845)	.281				
Suture	1 (1.9)	12 (6.2)	.288 (.037-2.264)	.237				
Placement technique								
First SEMS placed	43 (79.6)	135 (69.2)	1.737 (.838-3.601)	.137				
SEMS placed after previous stent removal	8 (14.8)	46 (23.6)	.563 (.248-1.279)	.170				
Stent-in-stent (previous stent still in place)	3 (5.6)	14 (7.2)	.761 (.210-2.749)	.676				
Previous surgery								
Esophagectomy	16 (29.6)	46 (23.6)	1.364 (.697-2.668)	.365				
Gastrectomy	9 (17.3)	47 (24.1)	.630 (.287-1.384)	.250				
Gastric bypass	6 (11.5)	20 (10.3)	1.094 (.416-2.875)	.856				
Sleeve gastrectomy	18 (34.6)	78 (40)	.750 (.398-1.414)	.374				

Values are n (%). SEMS, Self-expandable metal stent; —, not applicable.
# **Chapter V - Discussion and Conclusions**

## Discussion

In the Results section we have included the articles relevant for this thesis. In the Discussion section, the main results of our work will be further discussed.

Therapeutic endoscopy plays a major role in the management of PSL, offering an effective treatment alternative to repeat surgery (151). Despite this, there is wide variation in the management of these patients, even among experts in the field, particularly concerning difficult-to-treat patients.

It is important to highlight that surgery still has a key role in addressing PSL, both at the initial stages (allowing irrigation and drainage of intra-thoracic or intra-abdominal collections) and at later stages if endoscopic treatment is not successful. Forty two percent of the patients of one of our cohorts (152) needed repeat surgery at earlier stages, while 7% of patients underwent surgery after endoscopic treatment failure.

Our multicenter retrospective study (152), the largest one including only patients with UGI PSL, demonstrated high clinical success (80.1%) and leak resolution (83.5%). Multimodal therapy was required in 40.8% of the patients, with the first endoscopic technique being successful in only 44% of the leaks. Clinical success correlated with the duration of treatment, with leak resolution reaching a plateau between third and fourth endoscopic techniques (around 70-80%), with a median time to leak closure of 52 days, with only 10% of leaks being successfully closed after 125 days of treatment. A different study (153) also demonstrated a decrease in the endoscopic resolution rate of SG leaks with time, from 76.4% at 1 month to 48.5% at 6 months. This reflects the need to define when to consider endoscopic failure. In our survey study (154), even though there was no definitive consensus on the definition of endoscopic failure, persistent inflammation

with clinical sepsis, and impossibility to resume oral feeding were suggested. Inability to close the leak with time, especially after 4 months of treatment, should also prompt consideration of therapeutic alternatives, namely surgery. A recent study suggested endoscopic treatment with stents should not be performed for leaks extending more than 30% of the luminal circumference (6).

There are a limited number of studies comparing efficacy of different endoscopic modalities for management of leaks. Farnik et al. (155) retrospectively compared FC-SEMS and OTSCs, with leak closure in 69% and 31%, respectively; clinical success after primary intervention was 40% for the FC-SEMS and 70% for the OTSCs, however, defects treated with FC-SEMS were larger than those treated with an OTSC (12.6mm vs 7.1mm). In our unicenter retrospective study (156) all leaks with less than 20mm achieved endoscopic resolution with SEMS only. On the other hand, one of the reasons for the poor performance of the SEMS (41%) in our multicenter study (152) could relate to the fact that 22% of the patients had leaks larger than 20mm. Manta et al. (157) primarily approach for UGI PSL was OTSCs and OTSCs plus SEMS, with leak closure being achieved in as many as 81 to 85% of the cases treated with these approaches. Lorenzo et al. (48) reported better outcomes of EID compared with stents/tissue sealants/OTSCs (86% vs 64%, p=0.55) in 100 patients with post-SG leaks. Recently, the outcomes of SEMS placement have been compared to EVT for the treatment of PSL in several meta-analyses, as stated in our review for the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guidelines (158). EVT seems to be associated with a higher leak closure rate (16 to 21% higher), lower mortality (10 to 12% lower) (142, 159, 160), fewer AEs (160) and shorter treatment duration (159, 160), with no differences regarding the length of hospital stay (142, 160). These results have not been replicated in all studies. Berlth et al. (161) reported on a large cohort of 111 patients, including only patients with post-esophagectomy leaks, in which a closure rate of 85.7%

for EVT vs 72.4% for SEMS was not found to be statistically significant. In our multicenter study (152), the heterogeneity of treatment management and the frequent combination of several different endoscopic techniques in the same patient prevented head to head comparisons between the different endoscopic techniques. Besides, technique-specific results should be interpreted with caution as the individual techniques reported were not always the first or the index approach during the multimodal management. This is particularly important as clinical success decreases with time.

Our survey study (154) showed that placement of stents, specifically SEMS, is the technique most widely available and most frequently used in practically every endoscopic department. Our multicenter study (152) also confirmed this, as SEMS was the technique most frequently used until the fourth endoscopic approach. In Christophorou et al. (153) study, most common endoscopic techniques were stenting, clip placement and sealants application, with the key role of endoscopic treatment relying on stenting. Despite higher chances of therapeutic failure after persistence of leakage with first stent positioning (115, 162), in our multicenter study (152), a significant percentage of patients still underwent 2 and 3 different attempts of SEMS placement (34% and 5.6%, respectively). OTSCs were not a common first therapeutic option, either in the survey (154) or multicenter study (152), probably related to poor integrity of the tissue surrounding the leak as a result of ischemia and inflammation. On the other hand, EID and EVT seem to be increasingly used/considered techniques, probably related to the fact that closing leaks with tissue apposition techniques or diversion therapy may not be the ideal treatment strategy, especially in late or chronic leaks. However, in our multicenter study (152), EID and EVT were still used at percentages lower than 10%. These might be explained by the presence of a surgical/percutaneous drain before the index endoscopy in 70% of the patients, however, a lower familiarity with these newer techniques even in experienced centers, or

difficulties in embracing new therapies might also be responsible for it.

The selection of the right self-expandable stent design also remains a challenge. Even though clinical success rates are comparable, in our review for the ESGE guidelines (158), SEMS perform better than SEPS in leaks and perforations, with higher technical success (95% vs 91%, p=0.032), reduced risk of migration (16% vs 24%, p=0.001) and need for stent repositioning (3% vs 11%, p<0.001), as well as lower risk of perforation when considering anastomotic leaks only (0% vs 2%, p=0.013) (114). Migration rates are higher with FC-SEMS vs PC-SEMS (OR 2.44, 95%CI 1.13-5.31) (152), however, suturing FC-SEMS may render migration rates similar to PC-SEMS (adjusted OR 0.56, 95%CI 0.15-2.00), without the difficulties in removal of PC-SEMS and a lower risk of AEs (21% vs 46%, p=0.37) (163). Shim technique (164) as well as stents with wider diameters (152, 165) may also result in lower migration rates. Data regarding the use of BDS are limited (152, 166, 167), and comparative studies with SEMS are still lacking (168). While in the survey study (154), both FC and PC-SEMS were similarly reported as first options (even in patients without previous stent migration), in the muticenter study FC and PC-SEMS were used in 69.9% and 28.5% of the procedures, respectively. Despite the lower risk of migration with PC-SEMS, the higher difficulties in removal may explain these differences in real life situations. No study has investigated the optimal stent duration (158). Although animal studies suggest that a stent dwell time of 30 days is sufficient to guarantee healing (169), stents are usually removed 6-8 weeks after insertion, and repeated stent placement is needed in 11% of patients [112-114]. In our survey study, it ranged from 4 to 6 weeks in the majority of respondents (154). In our multicenter study (152), median stent dwell time was 35 days, with almost half being placed for 2 to 6 weeks, while in our unicenter study was 45 days (156). In our review for the ESGE guidelines (158), while there's a tendency to remove or replace stents at shorter interval times (154), to reduce stent-related AEs, median stent dwell time ranged from 22 to 83.5 days, with patients placing a median of 1.19 to 2 stents (range: 1-13).

In the survey study (154), respondents considered endoscopic suture provides the ability to close larger defects than OSTCs (2cm vs 1cm), however, both require robust mucosa to hold the sutures when tissue is pulled in apposition (170). Regarding EVT, even though intraluminal EVT might be easier and safer than intracavitary EVT, the majority of respondents prefer to perform balloon dilation and intracavitary EVT, as leak closure might be better (143). Endoscopic septotomy was usually only considered in patients with SG, at least 4 weeks after surgery, with management of the downstream stenosis being considered critical to enhance endoscopic closure. Regarding EID with transgastric stents, a median of 4.5 days until oral diet resumption was reported, with 21% starting it in the day of procedure or following day. This relates to the fact that oral contents likely do not enter the cavity by virtue of the negative pressure gradient (11). However, Donatelli et al (171), differently from other authors, advise enteral nutrition by means of a feeding tube placed in the third part of the duodenum for the first 4 weeks in order to allow hyper-alimentation. Regarding stent exchange, while some see no value in routine stent exchange unless necrosectomy is also performed (172), the performance of multiple procedures may allow to evaluate treatment progression in order to adapt internal drainage (173).

Proper selection of patients is critical for favourable outcomes. Precise diagnosis of the leak site, leak duration, understanding the surgical anatomy, septic state, associated collections, and an appropriate endoscopic approach to the leak is essential in the effective management of this condition (2). According to experts opinion in our study (154), leak location, size, chronicity and associated cavity are the most relevant leak characteristics to be considered when deciding treatment. Previous surgery (bariatric

or oncologic) should also influence therapeutic decision. In the clinical case section of our survey study (154), EVT and stent placement, with or without percutaneous/surgical drainage, were the therapeutic options most often chosen in patients with previous oncologic surgery, while EVT and EID were the therapeutic options most often chosen in patients with previous bariatric surgery. Due to anatomical reasons, lower rates of leak closure with stents are expected in post-bariatric leaks as the area to cover is larger, it is more difficult to obtain close apposition between the stent and the wall defect and tissue hyperplasia increasing the water tightness is less common (97). In our multicenter study (152), smaller leak initial diameters, hospitalization in general ward, hemodynamic stability, absence of respiratory failure, previous gastrectomy, lower numbers of therapeutic endoscopies performed, shorter length of stay and shorter times to leak closure were associated with better outcomes. Outcomes regarding hospitalization in general ward and shorter length of stays are probably explained by patients being in better clinical condition (hemodynamically stable and without respiratory failure). In Christophorou et al. interventional multimodal endoscopy study (153), time between SG and leak diagnosis lower than 3 days, time between leak diagnosis and first endoscopy earlier than 21 days, and smaller diameter leaks were also associated with clinical success. Either in our unicenter (156) and multicenter (152) retrospective studies, there was a trend for earlier beginning of treatment being associated with better outcomes. El Hajj et al. (1) and van Halsema et al. (174) also reported better outcomes when shorter times between diagnosis and treatment or smaller luminal openings.

Regarding AEs, in our multicenter study (152) the overall rate was 39.3% (102 AEs in 81 patients, out of 206 patients), however, only 6 AEs required surgery or led to death. Even though SEMS were responsible for the vast majority of AEs observed (89 of the 102, occurring in 249 SEMS procedures), they were typically managed endoscopically, with only 2 requiring surgery and 1 leading to death. Migration was the main SEMS AE, occurring in 21.7% and 30.7% of the procedures of our multicenter and unicenter studies, similarly to previous reports (118, 175). In the regression analysis of our multicenter cohort (152), migration rates were higher when smaller-SEMS or FC-SEMS were used. On the other hand, EID was associated with a 13.2% AE rate (5 in 38 patients), of which 2 required surgery and 1 led to death. Other techniques were fraught by AE rates of 5 to 10%. Previous reports of exsanguinating hemorrhage after intracavitary sponge placement also highlight the potential for serious AEs related to EVT (141). Bigger leak initial diameters, use of FC-SEMS, higher numbers of therapeutic endoscopies performed, and longer length of stays predicted AEs occurrence, while previous gastrectomy was protective for its occurrence. Leak-related mortality was 12.4%, with previous reports of 13 to 14% (162, 176).

Considering the majority of respondents' answers to our survey (154), acute and small leaks, without associated collections may be considered for stent placement (up to 3cm), OSTC placement (up to 1cm) or endoscopic suture (up to 2cm). In the setting of associated collection, these techniques can still be considered if external drainage is also performed; if not, EVT, EID and endoscopic septotomy should be considered, with EVT and EID being an option in acute and chronic leaks, while endoscopic septotomy should only be performed in leaks with more than 4 weeks of duration. While endoscopic septotomy can be considered for all leak sizes, EVT is ideal for leaks larger than 2cm. Intra-thoracic leaks may be better served with stents or EVT, and intra-abdominal leaks with OTSC, suturing, septotomy or EID. Leaks resulting from previous bariatric surgery should ideally be treated with OTSC, suture, septotomy or EID, while stents and EVT can be considered for leaks related to bariatric and oncologic surgeries. As earlier beginning of treatment seems to be associated with improved clinical outcomes (152), patients should

be referred sooner rather than later. Patients with smaller leak initial diameters, in better clinical condition, and with previous gastrectomy respond better, so we should be more aggressive when treating these patients.

#### Conclusions

Endoscopy is emerging as first line approach over surgery for the management of UGI PSL. The steadfast advancements of interventional endoscopy in the last decades allowed for new endoscopic devices and techniques, which provide a minimally invasive and more effective therapeutic option than surgery. A single therapy, or a combination of different techniques, can integrate the use of different endoscopic options.

The following principles should be followed [Figure 4]:

- Referral of leaks for endoscopic treatment should be as soon as possible;

- In patients whose condition is unstable, with acute leaks and systemic inflammatory response syndrome, mediastinitis or peritonitis, surgical washout with or without drain placement is mandatory and should not be delayed. Concurrent endoscopic management with stent placement is effective in this setting before the formation of an organized collection. PC-SEMS may be preferable due to higher changes of watertight seal and lower risk of migration, even though stent fixation of FC-SEMS may render similar migration rates;

- Combined treatment with simultaneous or sequential use of several endoscopic methods seems optimal in management of UGI PSL;

- Symptomatic and small (<10 mm) acute lesions, with healthy margins of the leak defect, may be considered for stenting, OTSC or suture. Stenting may be a better option for intra-thoracic leaks, while OTSC and suture may be better suitable for intra-abdominal

leaks;

- For acute lesions with nonviable margins or size > 10-15 mm, stenting or EVT can be considered. EVT might be a superior tool for the management of cervical leaks, larger leaks (> 3cm) and chronic leaks;

- EID may be considered for the management of subacute or chronic post-bariatric leaks with an organized walled-off collection. If this fails, more aggressive management with EVT might be needed;

- Endoscopic septotomy may be performed in late or chronic sleeve leaks with organized walled-off collections, especially if clinical failure with other techniques;

- In patients with post-SG leaks with high-grade downstream stenosis, additional pneumatic dilation with a balloon is required;

- In the setting of associated collections, if closure techniques are used, external drainage is required. EID and EVT allow early removal of external drainage preventing chronic fistula tract formation;

- OTSCs and tissue sealants may be considered for closure of residual small collections after the use of other techniques;

- Have a high index of suspicion for situations in which endoscopic closure will probably not be effective. These situations include persistent inflammation with clinical sepsis, impossibility to resume oral feeding, inability to close the leak (especially after 4 months of treatment) and formation of enterocutaneous or enteropleural fistulas.

Our research shows endoscopic treatment is safe, effective, and reproducible when a skilled endoscopist is available. The approach to UGI PSL should always be tailored to the single patient, by taking into account the several variables that may at the end influence the outcome. Endoscopic management requires a personalized and multidisciplinary

approach, comprising a close collaboration between interventional endoscopist, radiologist and surgeon, allowing PSL management with high clinical success rate and low rate of morbidity and mortality.



**Figure 4**. Endoscopic algorithm for management of postsurgical leaks. Combined treatment with simultaneous or sequential use of several endoscopic methods should always be considered.

# **Chapter VI - Future Research**

Comparison between different approaches is difficult due to heterogeneous populations, prevalence of retrospective studies, lack of uniform definitions and lack of comparative studies. Therefore, it is difficult to establish a standardized therapeutic algorithm. Combined treatment with simultaneous or sequential use of several endoscopic methods seems optimal in management of UGI PSL. Therefore, future research (ideally randomized controlled trials) should focus on assessing the effectiveness of combined therapies rather than individual endoscopic methods. Consensus on endoscopic failure definition needs to be achieved.

In the technical aspect, improving or specifically designing devices to divert contents and to repair mucosal disruptions will probably improve endoscopic outcomes. Developing biodegradable agents (importing concepts from cardiovascular, pulmonary or interventional radiology) that could conform to the shape of the leak, with anti-septic or antibacterial properties, as well as promote angiogenesis and fibrogenesis, may also have great potential. Stem cell therapy (emulsified adipose tissue stromal vascular fraction) should be explored in the treatment of refractory leaks.

Exploring novel avenues of current endoscopic therapies, like the pre-emptive use of EVT at the site of anastomosis following different gastroesophageal surgeries may also have a role in identifying anastomotic ischemia as a precursor to the onset of anastomotic leak, allowing mucosal recovery after EVT.

Studies evaluating the economic consequences in patients with PSL (cost of healthcare interventions, to treat AEs and their cost effectiveness) are needed, as healthcare systems are operating under significant resource constraint.

# **Other PhD related outputs**

# **Invited oral presentations**

## Técnicas Gastroenterológicas na abordagem da deiscência

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto

Masterclass Bariátrica SPCO, Maio 2021

## Endoscopic treatment of surgical complications

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto

Semana Digestiva Digital 2020, Novembro 2020

## Esophago-gastric stenting: guidelines and how I deal with difficult cases

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto

Live SPED 2019, Março 2019

## Complications, a new paradigm:

## stents and endo-sponge... a surgeon's saver?

Eduardo Rodrigues-Pinto

Sky Meeting 2018, Outubro 2018

# References

1. El H, II, Imperiale TF, Rex DK, Ballard D, Kesler KA, Birdas TJ, et al.. Treatment of esophageal leaks, fistulae, and perforations with temporary stents: evaluation of efficacy, adverse events, and factors associated with successful outcomes. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;79(4):589-98.

2. Swinnen J, Eisendrath P, Rigaux J, Kahegeshe L, Lemmers A, Le Moine O, et al.. Selfexpandable metal stents for the treatment of benign upper GI leaks and perforations. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73(5):890-9.

3. van Boeckel PG, Dua KS, Weusten BL, Schmits RJ, Surapaneni N, Timmer R, et al.. Fully covered self-expandable metal stents (SEMS), partially covered SEMS and self-expandable plastic stents for the treatment of benign esophageal ruptures and anastomotic leaks. BMC Gastroenterol. 2012;12:19.

4. Whooley BP, Law S, Alexandrou A, Murthy SC, Wong J. Critical appraisal of the significance of intrathoracic anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy for cancer. Am J Surg. 2001;181(3):198-203.

5. Lang H, Piso P, Stukenborg C, Raab R, Jähne J. Management and results of proximal anastomotic leaks in a series of 1114 total gastrectomies for gastric carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2000;26(2):168-71.

6. Messager M, Warlaumont M, Renaud F, Marin H, Branche J, Piessen G, et al.. Recent improvements in the management of esophageal anastomotic leak after surgery for cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(2):258-69.

7. Rutegård M, Lagergren P, Rouvelas I, Lagergren J. Intrathoracic anastomotic leakage and mortality after esophageal cancer resection: a population-based study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(1):99-103. 8. Buttar NS. Minimally invasive endoscopic approaches to manage postsurgical leaks: time to recognize the finger in the dike. Gastrointest Endosc. 2021;93(6):1300-3.

9. Bemelman WA, Baron TH. Endoscopic Management of Transmural Defects, Including Leaks, Perforations, and Fistulae. Gastroenterology. 2018;154(7):1938-46.e1.

10. Abou Rached A, Basile M, El Masri H. Gastric leaks post sleeve gastrectomy: review of its prevention and management. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(38):13904-10.

11. Bouchard S, Eisendrath P, Toussaint E, Le Moine O, Lemmers A, Arvanitakis M, et al.. Trans-fistulary endoscopic drainage for post-bariatric abdominal collections communicating with the upper gastrointestinal tract. Endoscopy. 2016;48(9):809-16.

12. Cai JX, Schweitzer MA, Kumbhari V. Endoscopic Management of Bariatric Surgery Complications. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2016;26(2):93-101.

13. Markar S, Gronnier C, Duhamel A, Mabrut JY, Bail JP, Carrere N, et al.. The Impact of Severe Anastomotic Leak on Long-term Survival and Cancer Recurrence After Surgical Resection for Esophageal Malignancy. Ann Surg. 2015;262(6):972-80.

14. Schaheen L, Blackmon SH, Nason KS. Optimal approach to the management of intrathoracic esophageal leak following esophagectomy: a systematic review. Am J Surg. 2014;208(4):536-43.

15. Lerut T, Coosemans W, Decker G, De Leyn P, Nafteux P, van Raemdonck D. Anastomotic complications after esophagectomy. Dig Surg. 2002;19(2):92-8.

16. Fabbi M, Hagens ERC, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Gisbertz SS. Anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy for esophageal cancer: definitions, diagnostics, and treatment. Dis Esophagus. 2021;34(1).

17. Blencowe NS, Strong S, McNair AG, Brookes ST, Crosby T, Griffin SM, et al.. Reporting of short-term clinical outcomes after esophagectomy: a systematic review. Ann Surg. 2012;255(4):658-66.

18. Gonzalez R, Sarr MG, Smith CD, Baghai M, Kendrick M, Szomstein S, et al.. Diagnosis and contemporary management of anastomotic leaks after gastric bypass for obesity. J Am Coll Surg. 2007;204(1):47-55.

19. Morales MP, Miedema BW, Scott JS, de la Torre RA. Management of postsurgical leaks in the bariatric patient. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2011;21(2):295-304.

20. Rosenthal RJ, Diaz AA, Arvidsson D, Baker RS, Basso N, Bellanger D, et al.. International Sleeve Gastrectomy Expert Panel Consensus Statement: best practice guidelines based on experience of >12,000 cases. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2012;8(1):8-19.

21. Souto-Rodríguez R, Alvarez-Sánchez MV. Endoluminal solutions to bariatric surgery complications: A review with a focus on technical aspects and results. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;9(3):105-26.

22. Al-Kurd A, Grinbaum R, Abubeih A, Verbner A, Kupietzky A, Mizrahi I, et al.. Not All Leaks Are Created Equal: a Comparison Between Leaks After Sleeve Gastrectomy and Roux-En-Y Gastric Bypass. Obes Surg. 2018;28(12):3775-82.

23. Griffin SM, Lamb PJ, Dresner SM, Richardson DL, Hayes N. Diagnosis and management of a mediastinal leak following radical oesophagectomy. Br J Surg. 2001;88(10):1346-51.

24. Iannelli A, Schneck AS, Ragot E, Liagre A, Anduze Y, Msika S, et al.. Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy as revisional procedure for failed gastric banding and vertical banded gastroplasty. Obes Surg. 2009;19(9):1216-20.

25. Kassis ES, Kosinski AS, Ross P, Jr., Koppes KE, Donahue JM, Daniel VC. Predictors of anastomotic leak after esophagectomy: an analysis of the society of thoracic surgeons general thoracic database. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013;96(6):1919-26.

26. Haga Y, Wada Y, Takeuchi H, Ikejiri K, Ikenaga M. Prediction of anastomotic leak and its prognosis in digestive surgery. World J Surg. 2011;35(4):716-22.

27. Junemann-Ramirez M, Awan MY, Khan ZM, Rahamim JS. Anastomotic leakage post-

esophagogastrectomy for esophageal carcinoma: retrospective analysis of predictive factors, management and influence on longterm survival in a high volume centre. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2005;27(1):3-7.

28. Wright CD, Kucharczuk JC, O'Brien SM, Grab JD, Allen MS. Predictors of major morbidity and mortality after esophagectomy for esophageal cancer: a Society of Thoracic Surgeons General Thoracic Surgery Database risk adjustment model. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2009;137(3):587-95; discussion 96.

29. Makuuchi R, Irino T, Tanizawa Y, Bando E, Kawamura T, Terashima M. Esophagojejunal anastomotic leakage following gastrectomy for gastric cancer. Surg Today. 2019;49(3):187-96.

30. Kapila S, Rozen WM, Huang T, Wu T, Fairbank S. Determining between chyle leak and anastomotic leak after esophageal reconstruction: the utility of methylene blue dye. Laryngoscope. 2012;122(4):779-80.

31. Strauss C, Mal F, Perniceni T, Bouzar N, Lenoir S, Gayet B, et al.. Computed tomography versus water-soluble contrast swallow in the detection of intrathoracic anastomotic leak complicating esophagogastrectomy (Ivor Lewis): a prospective study in 97 patients. Ann Surg. 2010;251(4):647-51.

32. Jones CM, Clarke B, Heah R, Griffiths EA. Should routine assessment of anastomotic integrity be undertaken using radiological contrast swallow after oesophagectomy with intra-thoracic anastomosis? Best evidence topic (BET). Int J Surg. 2015;20:158-62.

33. Lantos JE, Levine MS, Rubesin SE, Lau CT, Torigian DA. Comparison between esophagography and chest computed tomography for evaluation of leaks after esophagectomy and gastric pull-through. J Thorac Imaging. 2013;28(2):121-8.

34. Hogan BA, Winter DC, Broe D, Broe P, Lee MJ. Prospective trial comparing contrast swallow, computed tomography and endoscopy to identify anastomotic leak following

oesophagogastric surgery. Surg Endosc. 2008;22(3):767-71.

35. Page RD, Asmat A, McShane J, Russell GN, Pennefather SH. Routine endoscopy to detect anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013;95(1):292-8.

36. Nederlof N, de Jonge J, de Vringer T, Tran TC, Spaander MC, Tilanus HW, et al.. Does Routine Endoscopy or Contrast Swallow Study After Esophagectomy and Gastric Tube Reconstruction Change Patient Management? J Gastrointest Surg. 2017;21(2):251-8.

37. Struecker B, Andreou A, Chopra S, Heilmann AC, Spenke J, Denecke C, et al.. Evaluation of Anastomotic Leak after Esophagectomy for Esophageal Cancer: Typical Time Point of Occurrence, Mode of Diagnosis, Value of Routine Radiocontrast Agent Studies and Therapeutic Options. Dig Surg. 2018;35(5):419-26.

38. Campos AC, Andrade DF, Campos GM, Matias JE, Coelho JC. A multivariate model to determine prognostic factors in gastrointestinal fistulas. J Am Coll Surg. 1999;188(5):483-90.

39. Lloyd DA, Gabe SM, Windsor AC. Nutrition and management of enterocutaneous fistula. Br J Surg. 2006;93(9):1045-55.

40. Haffejee AA. Surgical management of high output enterocutaneous fistulae: a 24-year experience. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2004;7(3):309-16.

41. Dionigi G, Dionigi R, Rovera F, Boni L, Padalino P, Minoja G, et al.. Treatment of high output entero-cutaneous fistulae associated with large abdominal wall defects: single center experience. Int J Surg. 2008;6(1):51-6.

42. Sierzega M, Kolodziejczyk P, Kulig J. Impact of anastomotic leakage on long-term survival after total gastrectomy for carcinoma of the stomach. Br J Surg. 2010;97(7):1035-42.

43. Fernandez AZ, Jr., DeMaria EJ, Tichansky DS, Kellum JM, Wolfe LG, Meador J, et al.. Experience with over 3,000 open and laparoscopic bariatric procedures: multivariate analysis of factors related to leak and resultant mortality. Surg Endosc. 2004;18(2):193-7. 44. Crestanello JA, Deschamps C, Cassivi SD, Nichols FC, Allen MS, Schleck C, et al.. Selective management of intrathoracic anastomotic leak after esophagectomy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;129(2):254-60.

45. Oh SJ, Choi WB, Song J, Hyung WJ, Choi SH, Noh SH. Complications requiring reoperation after gastrectomy for gastric cancer: 17 years experience in a single institute. J Gastrointest Surg. 2009;13(2):239-45.

46. Nedelcu M, Danan M, Noel P, Gagner M, Nedelcu A, Carandina S. Surgical management for chronic leak following sleeve gastrectomy: Review of literature. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2019;15(10):1844-9.

47. Jacobsen HJ, Nergard BJ, Leifsson BG, Frederiksen SG, Agajahni E, Ekelund M, et al.. Management of suspected anastomotic leak after bariatric laparoscopic Roux-en-y gastric bypass. Br J Surg. 2014;101(4):417-23.

48. Lorenzo D, Guilbaud T, Gonzalez JM, Benezech A, Dutour A, Boullu S, et al.. Endoscopic treatment of fistulas after sleeve gastrectomy: a comparison of internal drainage versus closure. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(2):429-37.

49. Thornblade LW, Cheng AM, Wood DE, Mulligan MS, Saunders MD, He H, et al.. A Nationwide Rise in the Use of Stents for Benign Esophageal Perforation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2017;104(1):227-33.

50. Schietroma M, Cecilia EM, Carlei F, Sista F, De Santis G, Piccione F, et al.. Prevention of anastomotic leakage after total gastrectomy with perioperative supplemental oxygen administration: a prospective randomized, double-blind, controlled, single-center trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(5):1584-90.

51. Esrig BC, Frazee L, Stephenson SF, Polk HC, Jr., Fulton RL, Jones CE. The predisposition to infection following hemorrhagic shock. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1977;144(6):915-7.

52. Marano L, Porfidia R, Pezzella M, Grassia M, Petrillo M, Esposito G, et al.. Clinical

and immunological impact of early postoperative enteral immunonutrition after total gastrectomy in gastric cancer patients: a prospective randomized study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(12):3912-8.

53. Umemura A, Koeda K, Sasaki A, Fujiwara H, Kimura Y, Iwaya T, et al.. Totally laparoscopic total gastrectomy for gastric cancer: literature review and comparison of the procedure of esophagojejunostomy. Asian J Surg. 2015;38(2):102-12.

54. Baretta G, Campos J, Correia S, Alhinho H, Marchesini JB, Lima JH, et al.. Bariatric postoperative fistula: a life-saving endoscopic procedure. Surg Endosc. 2015;29(7):1714-20. 55. Evans JA, Muthusamy VR, Acosta RD, Bruining DH, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi KV, et al.. The role of endoscopy in the bariatric surgery patient. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(5):1063-72.

56. Gagner M, Hutchinson C, Rosenthal R. Fifth International Consensus Conference: current status of sleeve gastrectomy. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2016;12(4):750-6.

57. Fuks D, Verhaeghe P, Brehant O, Sabbagh C, Dumont F, Riboulot M, et al.. Results of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: a prospective study in 135 patients with morbid obesity. Surgery. 2009;145(1):106-13.

58. Varadarajulu S, Banerjee S, Barth B, Desilets D, Kaul V, Kethu S, et al.. Enteral stents. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74(3):455-64.

59. Bakken JC, Wong Kee Song LM, de Groen PC, Baron TH. Use of a fully covered selfexpandable metal stent for the treatment of benign esophageal diseases. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;72(4):712-20.

60. Dabizzi E, Arcidiacono PG. Update on Enteral Stents. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol. 2016;14(2):178-84.

61. Ishii K, Itoi T, Sofuni A, Itokawa F, Tsuchiya T, Kurihara T, et al.. Endoscopic removal and trimming of distal self-expandable metallic biliary stents. World J Gastroenterol.

2011;17(21):2652-7.

62. Wei W, Ramaswamy A, de la Torre R, Miedema BW. Partially covered esophageal stents cause bowel injury when used to treat complications of bariatric surgery. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(1):56-60.

63. Yimcharoen P, Heneghan HM, Tariq N, Brethauer SA, Kroh M, Chand B. Endoscopic stent management of leaks and anastomotic strictures after foregut surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2011;7(5):628-36.

64. Fischer A, Bausch D, Richter-Schrag HJ. Use of a specially designed partially covered self-expandable metal stent (PSEMS) with a 40-mm diameter for the treatment of upper gastrointestinal suture or staple line leaks in 11 cases. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(2):642-7.

65. Murino A, Arvanitakis M, Le Moine O, Blero D, Devière J, Eisendrath P. Effectiveness of Endoscopic Management Using Self-Expandable Metal Stents in a Large Cohort of Patients with Post-bariatric Leaks. Obes Surg. 2015;25(9):1569-76.

66. Hirdes MM, Siersema PD, Houben MH, Weusten BL, Vleggaar FP. Stent-in-stent technique for removal of embedded esophageal self-expanding metal stents. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011;106(2):286-93.

67. Di Leo M, Maselli R, Ferrara EC, Poliani L, Al Awadhi S, Repici A. Endoscopic Management of Benign Esophageal Ruptures and Leaks. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol. 2017;15(2):268-84.

68. Freeman RK, Ascioti AJ, Dake M, Mahidhara RS. An Assessment of the Optimal Time for Removal of Esophageal Stents Used in the Treatment of an Esophageal Anastomotic Leak or Perforation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2015;100(2):422-8.

69. Tringali A, Bove V, Perri V, Landi R, Familiari P, Boškoski I, et al.. Endoscopic treatment of post-laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy leaks using a specifically designed metal stent. Endoscopy. 2017;49(1):64-8.

70. Buscaglia JM, Ho S, Sethi A, Dimaio CJ, Nagula S, Stavropoulos SN, et al.. Fully covered self-expandable metal stents for benign esophageal disease: a multicenter retrospective case series of 31 patients. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74(1):207-11.

71. Tokar JL, Banerjee S, Barth BA, Desilets DJ, Kaul V, Kethi SR, et al.. Drug-eluting/ biodegradable stents. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74(5):954-8.

72. Park JS, Jeong S, Lee DH. Recent Advances in Gastrointestinal Stent Development. Clin Endosc. 2015;48(3):209-15.

73. Lorenzo-Zúñiga V, Moreno-de-Vega V, Marín I, Boix J. Biodegradable stents in gastrointestinal endoscopy. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(9):2212-7.

74. Kirschniak A, Kratt T, Stüker D, Braun A, Schurr MO, Königsrainer A. A new endoscopic over-the-scope clip system for treatment of lesions and bleeding in the GI tract: first clinical experiences. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;66(1):162-7.

75. Bauder M, Meier B, Caca K, Schmidt A. Endoscopic removal of over-the-scope clips: Clinical experience with a bipolar cutting device. United European Gastroenterol J. 2017;5(4):479-84.

76. Arezzo A, Bullano A, Fischer H, Morino M. The way to remove an over-the-scope-clip (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;77(6):974-5.

77. Hernandez A, Marya NB, Sawas T, Rajan E, Gades NM, Wong Kee Song LM, et al.. Gastrointestinal defect closure using a novel through-the-scope helix tack and suture device compared to endoscopic clips in a survival porcine model (with video). Endosc Int Open. 2021;9(4):E572-e7.

78. Hernandez-Lara A, Garcia Garcia de Paredes A, Rajan E, Storm AC. Step-by-step instruction: using an endoscopic tack and suture device for gastrointestinal defect closure. VideoGIE. 2021;6(6):243-5.

79. Bonanomi G, Prince JM, McSteen F, Schauer PR, Hamad GG. Sealing effect of fibrin

glue on the healing of gastrointestinal anastomoses: implications for the endoscopic treatment of leaks. Surg Endosc. 2004;18(11):1620-4.

80. Maluf-Filho F, Hondo F, Halwan B, de Lima MS, Giordano-Nappi JH, Sakai P. Endoscopic treatment of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass-related gastrocutaneous fistulas using a novel biomaterial. Surg Endosc. 2009;23(7):1541-5.

81. Kotzampassi K, Eleftheriadis E. Tissue sealants in endoscopic applications for anastomotic leakage during a 25-year period. Surgery. 2015;157(1):79-86.

82. Vilallonga R, Himpens J, Bosch B, van de Vrande S, Bafort J. Role of Percutaneous Glue Treatment After Persisting Leak After Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy. Obes Surg. 2016;26(7):1378-83.

83. Vikatmaa P, Juutilainen V, Kuukasjärvi P, Malmivaara A. Negative pressure wound therapy: a systematic review on effectiveness and safety. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2008;36(4):438-48.

84. Wedemeyer J, Schneider A, Manns MP, Jackobs S. Endoscopic vacuum-assisted closure of upper intestinal anastomotic leaks. Gastrointest Endosc. 2008;67(4):708-11.

85. Loske G, Müller C. Endoscopic vacuum-assisted closure of upper intestinal anastomotic leaks. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;69(3 Pt 1):601-2; author reply 2.

86. Kuehn F, Schiffmann L, Rau BM, Klar E. Surgical endoscopic vacuum therapy for anastomotic leakage and perforation of the upper gastrointestinal tract. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(11):2145-50.

87. Ahrens M, Schulte T, Egberts J, Schafmayer C, Hampe J, Fritscher-Ravens A, et al.. Drainage of esophageal leakage using endoscopic vacuum therapy: a prospective pilot study. Endoscopy. 2010;42(9):693-8.

88. Weidenhagen R, Hartl WH, Gruetzner KU, Eichhorn ME, Spelsberg F, Jauch KW. Anastomotic leakage after esophageal resection: new treatment options by endoluminal vacuum therapy. Ann Thorac Surg. 2010;90(5):1674-81.

89. Schniewind B, Schafmayer C, Both M, Arlt A, Fritscher-Ravens A, Hampe J. Ingrowth and device disintegration in an intralobar abscess cavity during endosponge therapy for esophageal anastomotic leakage. Endoscopy. 2011;43 Suppl 2 UCTN:E64-5.

90. Mennigen R, Senninger N, Laukoetter MG. Novel treatment options for perforations of the upper gastrointestinal tract: endoscopic vacuum therapy and over-the-scope clips. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(24):7767-76.

91. Gonzalez JM, Lorenzo D, Guilbaud T, Bège T, Barthet M. Internal endoscopic drainage as first line or second line treatment in case of postsleeve gastrectomy fistulas. Endosc Int Open. 2018;6(6):E745-e50.

92. Donatelli G, Dumont JL, Cereatti F, Ferretti S, Vergeau BM, Tuszynski T, et al.. Treatment of Leaks Following Sleeve Gastrectomy by Endoscopic Internal Drainage (EID). Obes Surg. 2015;25(7):1293-301.

93. Pequignot A, Fuks D, Verhaeghe P, Dhahri A, Brehant O, Bartoli E, et al.. Is there a place for pigtail drains in the management of gastric leaks after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy? Obes Surg. 2012;22(5):712-20.

94. Gupta T, Lemmers A, Tan D, Ibrahim M, Le Moine O, Devière J. EUS-guided transmural drainage of postoperative collections. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76(6):1259-65.

95. Lemmers A, Tan DM, Ibrahim M, Loi P, De Backer D, Closset J, et al.. Transluminal or Percutaneous Endoscopic Drainage and Debridement of Abscesses After Bariatric Surgery: a Case Series. Obes Surg. 2015;25(11):2190-9.

96. Bège T, Emungania O, Vitton V, Ah-Soune P, Nocca D, Noël P, et al.. An endoscopic strategy for management of anastomotic complications from bariatric surgery: a prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73(2):238-44.

97. Eisendrath P, Cremer M, Himpens J, Cadière GB, Le Moine O, Devière J. Endotherapy

including temporary stenting of fistulas of the upper gastrointestinal tract after laparoscopic bariatric surgery. Endoscopy. 2007;39(7):625-30.

98. Eubanks S, Edwards CA, Fearing NM, Ramaswamy A, de la Torre RA, Thaler KJ, et al.. Use of endoscopic stents to treat anastomotic complications after bariatric surgery. J Am Coll Surg. 2008;206(5):935-8; discussion 8-9.

99. Blackmon SH, Santora R, Schwarz P, Barroso A, Dunkin BJ. Utility of removable esophageal covered self-expanding metal stents for leak and fistula management. Ann Thorac Surg. 2010;89(3):931-6; discussion 6-7.

100. Leenders BJ, Stronkhorst A, Smulders FJ, Nieuwenhuijzen GA, Gilissen LP. Removable and repositionable covered metal self-expandable stents for leaks after upper gastrointestinal surgery: experiences in a tertiary referral hospital. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(8):2751-9.

101. El Mourad H, Himpens J, Verhofstadt J. Stent treatment for fistula after obesity surgery: results in 47 consecutive patients. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(3):808-16.

102. Orive-Calzada A, Calderón-García Á, Bernal-Martínez A, Díaz-Roca AB, Barrio-Beraza I, Cabriada-Nuño JL, et al.. Closure of benign leaks, perforations, and fistulas with temporary placement of fully covered metal stents: a retrospective analysis. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2014;24(6):528-36.

103. Alazmi W, Al-Sabah S, Ali DA, Almazeedi S. Treating sleeve gastrectomy leak with endoscopic stenting: the Kuwaiti experience and review of recent literature. Surg Endosc. 2014;28(12):3425-8.

104. Quezada N, Maiz C, Daroch D, Funke R, Sharp A, Boza C, et al.. Effect of Early Use of Covered Self-Expandable Endoscopic Stent on the Treatment of Postoperative Stapler Line Leaks. Obes Surg. 2015;25(10):1816-21.

105. Fishman S, Shnell M, Gluck N, Meirsdorf S, Abu-Abeid S, Santo E. Use of sleeve-

customized self-expandable metal stents for the treatment of staple-line leakage after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(5):1291-4.

106. Southwell T, Lim TH, Ogra R. Endoscopic Therapy for Treatment of Staple Line Leaks Post-Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy (LSG): Experience from a Large Bariatric Surgery Centre in New Zealand. Obes Surg. 2016;26(6):1155-62.

107. van Wezenbeek MR, de Milliano MM, Nienhuijs SW, Friederich P, Gilissen LP. A Specifically Designed Stent for Anastomotic Leaks after Bariatric Surgery: Experiences in a Tertiary Referral Hospital. Obes Surg. 2016;26(8):1875-80.

108. Shehab HM, Hakky SM, Gawdat KA. An Endoscopic Strategy Combining Mega Stents and Over-The-Scope Clips for the Management of Post-Bariatric Surgery Leaks and Fistulas (with video). Obes Surg. 2016;26(5):941-8.

109. Puig CA, Waked TM, Baron TH, Sr., Wong Kee Song LM, Gutierrez J, Sarr MG. The role of endoscopic stents in the management of chronic anastomotic and staple line leaks and chronic strictures after bariatric surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2014;10(4):613-7.

110. Sakran N, Goitein D, Raziel A, Keidar A, Beglaibter N, Grinbaum R, et al.. Gastric leaks after sleeve gastrectomy: a multicenter experience with 2,834 patients. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(1):240-5.

111. van Halsema EE, van Hooft JE. Clinical outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal diseases: A pooled analysis of the literature. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;7(2):135-53.

112. van Boeckel PG, Sijbring A, Vleggaar FP, Siersema PD. Systematic review: temporary stent placement for benign rupture or anastomotic leak of the oesophagus. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33(12):1292-301.

113. Dasari BV, Neely D, Kennedy A, Spence G, Rice P, Mackle E, et al.. The role of esophageal stents in the management of esophageal anastomotic leaks and benign esophageal perforations. Ann Surg. 2014;259(5):852-60.

114. Kamarajah SK, Bundred J, Spence G, Kennedy A, Dasari BVM, Griffiths EA. Critical Appraisal of the Impact of Oesophageal Stents in the Management of Oesophageal Anastomotic Leaks and Benign Oesophageal Perforations: An Updated Systematic Review. World J Surg. 2020;44(4):1173-89.

115. Persson S, Rouvelas I, Kumagai K, Song H, Lindblad M, Lundell L, et al.. Treatment of esophageal anastomotic leakage with self-expanding metal stents: analysis of risk factors for treatment failure. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4(4):E420-6.

116. Freeman RK, Ascioti AJ, Giannini T, Mahidhara RJ. Analysis of unsuccessful esophageal stent placements for esophageal perforation, fistula, or anastomotic leak. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012;94(3):959-64; discussion 64-5.

117. Cereatti F, Grassia R, Drago A, Conti CB, Donatelli G. Endoscopic management of gastrointestinal leaks and fistulae: What option do we have? World J Gastroenterol. 2020;26(29):4198-217.

118. Puli SR, Spofford IS, Thompson CC. Use of self-expandable stents in the treatment of bariatric surgery leaks: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75(2):287-93.

119. Simon F, Siciliano I, Gillet A, Castel B, Coffin B, Msika S. Gastric leak after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: early covered self-expandable stent reduces healing time. Obes Surg. 2013;23(5):687-92.

120. Galloro G, Magno L, Musella M, Manta R, Zullo A, Forestieri P. A novel dedicated endoscopic stent for staple-line leaks after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: a case series. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2014;10(4):607-11.

121. Slim R, Smayra T, Chakhtoura G, Noun R. Endoscopic stenting of gastric staple line leak following sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg. 2013;23(11):1942-5.

References

122. Rogalski P, Swidnicka-Siergiejko A, Wasielica-Berger J, Zienkiewicz D, Wieckowska B, Wroblewski E, et al.. Endoscopic management of leaks and fistulas after bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc. 2021;35(3):1067-87.

123. Boerlage TCC, Houben GPM, Groenen MJM, van der Linde K, van de Laar A, Emous M, et al.. A novel fully covered double-bump stent for staple line leaks after bariatric surgery: a retrospective analysis. Surg Endosc. 2018;32(7):3174-80.

124. Nedelcu M, Manos T, Cotirlet A, Noel P, Gagner M. Outcome of leaks after sleeve gastrectomy based on a new algorithm adressing leak size and gastric stenosis. Obes Surg. 2015;25(3):559-63.

125. Haito-Chavez Y, Law JK, Kratt T, Arezzo A, Verra M, Morino M, et al.. International multicenter experience with an over-the-scope clipping device for endoscopic management of GI defects (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;80(4):610-22.

126. Mercky P, Gonzalez JM, Aimore Bonin E, Emungania O, Brunet J, Grimaud JC, et al.. Usefulness of over-the-scope clipping system for closing digestive fistulas. Dig Endosc. 2015;27(1):18-24.

127. Hagel AF, Naegel A, Lindner AS, Kessler H, Matzel K, Dauth W, et al.. Over-the-scope clip application yields a high rate of closure in gastrointestinal perforations and may reduce emergency surgery. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(11):2132-8.

128. Baron TH, Song LM, Ross A, Tokar JL, Irani S, Kozarek RA. Use of an over-the-scope clipping device: multicenter retrospective results of the first U.S. experience (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76(1):202-8.

129. Honegger C, Valli PV, Wiegand N, Bauerfeind P, Gubler C. Establishment of Over-The-Scope-Clips (OTSC<sup>®</sup>) in daily endoscopic routine. United European Gastroenterol J. 2017;5(2):247-54.

130. Kobara H, Mori H, Nishiyama N, Fujihara S, Okano K, Suzuki Y, et al.. Over-the-scope

clip system: A review of 1517 cases over 9 years. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;34(1):22-30. 131. Vermeulen BD, Siersema PD. Diagnosis and endoscopic treatment of esophageal leakage: a systematic review. Techniques in Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. 2019;21(2):58-64. 132. Keren D, Eyal O, Sroka G, Rainis T, Raziel A, Sakran N, et al.. Over-the-Scope Clip (OTSC) System for Sleeve Gastrectomy Leaks. Obes Surg. 2015;25(8):1358-63.

133. Sharaiha RZ, Kumta NA, DeFilippis EM, Dimaio CJ, Gonzalez S, Gonda T, et al.. A Large Multicenter Experience With Endoscopic Suturing for Management of Gastrointestinal Defects and Stent Anchorage in 122 Patients: A Retrospective Review. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2016;50(5):388-92.

134. Cai JX, Khashab MA, Okolo PI, 3rd, Kalloo AN, Kumbhari V. Full-thickness endoscopic suturing of staple-line leaks following laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Endoscopy. 2014;46 Suppl 1 UCTN:E623-4.

135. Plat VD, Bootsma BT, van der Wielen N, Straatman J, Schoonmade LJ, van der Peet DL, et al.. The role of tissue adhesives in esophageal surgery, a systematic review of literature. Int J Surg. 2017;40:163-8.

136. Lippert E, Klebl FH, Schweller F, Ott C, Gelbmann CM, Schölmerich J, et al.. Fibrin glue in the endoscopic treatment of fistulae and anastomotic leakages of the gastrointestinal tract. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2011;26(3):303-11.

137. Böhm G, Mossdorf A, Klink C, Klinge U, Jansen M, Schumpelick V, et al.. Treatment algorithm for postoperative upper gastrointestinal fistulas and leaks using combined vicryl plug and fibrin glue. Endoscopy. 2010;42(7):599-602.

138. Surace M, Mercky P, Demarquay JF, Gonzalez JM, Dumas R, Ah-Soune P, et al.. Endoscopic management of GI fistulae with the over-the-scope clip system (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74(6):1416-9.

139. Schorsch T, Müller C, Loske G. [Endoscopic vacuum therapy of perforations and

anastomotic insufficiency of the esophagus]. Chirurg. 2014;85(12):1081-93.

140. Laukoetter MG, Mennigen R, Neumann PA, Dhayat S, Horst G, Palmes D, et al.. Successful closure of defects in the upper gastrointestinal tract by endoscopic vacuum therapy (EVT): a prospective cohort study. Surg Endosc. 2017;31(6):2687-96.

141. Bludau M, Fuchs HF, Herbold T, Maus MKH, Alakus H, Popp F, et al.. Results of endoscopic vacuum-assisted closure device for treatment of upper GI leaks. Surg Endosc. 2018;32(4):1906-14.

142. Tavares G, Tustumi F, Tristão LS, Bernardo WM. Endoscopic vacuum therapy for anastomotic leak in esophagectomy and total gastrectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dis Esophagus. 2021;34(5).

143. Jung DH, Huh CW, Min YW, Park JC. Endoscopic vacuum therapy for the management of upper GI leaks and perforations: a multicenter retrospective study of factors associated with treatment failure (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2021.

144. Chan SM, Auyeung KKY, Lam SF, Chiu PWY, Teoh AYB. Current status in endoscopic management of upper gastrointestinal perforations, leaks and fistulas. Dig Endosc. 2022;34(1):43-62.

145. Pournaras DJ, Hardwick RH, Safranek PM, Sujendran V, Bennett J, Macaulay GD, et al.. Endoluminal Vacuum Therapy (E-Vac): A Treatment Option in Oesophagogastric Surgery. World J Surg. 2018;42(8):2507-11.

146. Watkins JR, Farivar AS. Endoluminal Therapies for Esophageal Perforations and Leaks. Thorac Surg Clin. 2018;28(4):541-54.

147. Donatelli G, Catheline JM, Dumont JL, Vergeau BM, Tuszynski T, Cereatti F, et al.. Outcome of Leaks After Sleeve Gastrectomy Based on a New Algorithm Addressing Leak Size and Gastric Stenosis. Obes Surg. 2015;25(7):1258-60.

148. Gjeorgjievski M, Imam Z, Cappell MS, Jamil LH, Kahaleh M. A Comprehensive

Review of Endoscopic Management of Sleeve Gastrectomy Leaks. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2021;55(7):551-76.

149. Hughes D, Hughes I, Khanna A. Management of Staple Line Leaks Following Sleeve Gastrectomy-a Systematic Review. Obes Surg. 2019;29(9):2759-72.

150. Campos JM, Ferreira FC, Teixeira AF, Lima JS, Moon RC, D'Assunção MA, et al.. Septotomy and Balloon Dilation to Treat Chronic Leak After Sleeve Gastrectomy: Technical Principles. Obes Surg. 2016;26(8):1992-3.

151. Eisendrath P, Devière J. Digestive leaks: An approach tailored to both indication and anatomy. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4(6):E652-3.

152. Rodrigues-Pinto E, Pereira P, Sousa-Pinto B, Shehab H, Pinho R, Larsen MC, et al.. Retrospective multicenter study on endoscopic treatment of upper GI postsurgical leaks. Gastrointest Endosc. 2021;93(6):1283-99.e2.

153. Christophorou D, Valats JC, Funakoshi N, Duflos C, Picot MC, Vedrenne B, et al.. Endoscopic treatment of fistula after sleeve gastrectomy: results of a multicenter retrospective study. Endoscopy. 2015;47(11):988-96.

154. Rodrigues-Pinto E, Repici A, Donatelli G, Macedo G, Devière J, van Hooft JE, et al.. International multicenter expert survey on endoscopic treatment of upper gastrointestinal anastomotic leaks. Endosc Int Open. 2019;7(12):E1671-e82.

155. Farnik H, Driller M, Kratt T, Schmidt C, Fähndrich M, Filmann N, et al.. Indication for 'Over the scope' (OTS)-clip vs. covered self-expanding metal stent (cSEMS) is unequal in upper gastrointestinal leakage: results from a retrospective head-to-head comparison. PLoS One. 2015;10(1):e0117483.

156. Rodrigues-Pinto E, Pereira P, Ribeiro A, Moutinho-Ribeiro P, Lopes S, Macedo G. Self-expanding metal stents in postoperative esophageal leaks. Rev Esp Enferm Dig. 2016;108(3):133-7.

157. Manta R, Caruso A, Cellini C, Sica M, Zullo A, Mirante VG, et al.. Endoscopic management of patients with post-surgical leaks involving the gastrointestinal tract: A large case series. United European Gastroenterol J. 2016;4(6):770-7.

158. Spaander MCW, van der Bogt RD, Baron TH, Albers D, Blero D, de Ceglie A, et al.. Esophageal stenting for benign and malignant disease: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline - Update 2021. Endoscopy. 2021;53(7):751-62. 159. Scognamiglio P, Reeh M, Karstens K, Bellon E, Kantowski M, Schön G, et al.. Endoscopic vacuum therapy versus stenting for postoperative esophago-enteric anastomotic leakage: systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy. 2020;52(8):632-42.

160. do Monte Junior ES, de Moura DTH, Ribeiro IB, Hathorn KE, Farias GFA, Turiani CV, et al.. Endoscopic vacuum therapy versus endoscopic stenting for upper gastrointestinal transmural defects: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Endosc. 2021;33(6):892-902. 161. Berlth F, Bludau M, Plum PS, Herbold T, Christ H, Alakus H, et al.. Self-Expanding Metal Stents Versus Endoscopic Vacuum Therapy in Anastomotic Leak Treatment After Oncologic Gastroesophageal Surgery. J Gastrointest Surg. 2019;23(1):67-75.

162. Anderloni A, Genco C, Massidda M, Di Leo M, Fumagalli UR, Rosati R, et al.. Self-Expanding Metal Stents for the Treatment of Post-Surgical Esophageal Leaks: A Tertiary Referral Center Experience. Dig Surg. 2019;36(4):309-16.

163. Ngamruengphong S, Sharaiha R, Sethi A, Siddiqui A, DiMaio CJ, Gonzalez S, et al.. Fully-covered metal stents with endoscopic suturing vs. partially-covered metal stents for benign upper gastrointestinal diseases: a comparative study. Endosc Int Open. 2018;6(2):E217-e23.

164. Choi CW, Kang DH, Kim HW, Park SB, Kim SJ, Hwang SH, et al.. Full covered selfexpandable metal stents for the treatment of anastomotic leak using a silk thread. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(29):e7439. 165. Sdralis EIK, Petousis S, Rashid F, Lorenzi B, Charalabopoulos A. Epidemiology, diagnosis, and management of esophageal perforations: systematic review. Dis Esophagus. 2017;30(8):1-6.

166. Köneş O, Oran E. Self-Expanding Biodegradable Stents for Postoperative Upper Gastrointestinal Issues. Jsls. 2018;22(2).

167. Černá M, Köcher M, Válek V, Aujeský R, Neoral Č, Andrašina T, et al.. Covered biodegradable stent: new therapeutic option for the management of esophageal perforation or anastomotic leak. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2011;34(6):1267-71.

168. Rodrigues-Pinto E, Morais R, Macedo G, Khashab MA. Choosing the Appropriate Endoscopic Armamentarium for Treatment of Anastomotic Leaks. Am J Gastroenterol. 2019;114(3):367-71.

169. Takimoto Y, Nakamura T, Yamamoto Y, Kiyotani T, Teramachi M, Shimizu Y. The experimental replacement of a cervical esophageal segment with an artificial prosthesis with the use of collagen matrix and a silicone stent. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1998;116(1):98-106.

170. Cho J, Sahakian AB. Endoscopic Closure of Gastrointestinal Fistulae and Leaks. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2018;28(2):233-49.

171. Donatelli G, Ferretti S, Vergeau BM, Dhumane P, Dumont JL, Derhy S, et al.. Endoscopic Internal Drainage with Enteral Nutrition (EDEN) for treatment of leaks following sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg. 2014;24(8):1400-7.

172. Kumbhari V, Abu Dayyeh BK. Keeping the fistula open: paradigm shift in the management of leaks after bariatric surgery? Endoscopy. 2016;48(9):789-91.

173. Donatelli G, Dumont JL, Cereatti F, Dhumane P, Tuszynski T, Vergeau BM, et al.. Endoscopic internal drainage as first-line treatment for fistula following gastrointestinal surgery: a case series. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4(6):E647-51. 174. van Halsema EE, Kappelle WFW, Weusten B, Lindeboom R, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Fockens P, et al.. Stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations, and fistulae: a clinical prediction rule for successful leakage control. Endoscopy. 2018;50(2):98-108. 175. Okazaki O, Bernardo WM, Brunaldi VO, Junior CCC, Minata MK, de Moura DTH, et al.. Efficacy and Safety of Stents in the Treatment of Fistula After Bariatric Surgery: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Obes Surg. 2018;28(6):1788-96.

176. Verstegen MHP, Bouwense SAW, van Workum F, Ten Broek R, Siersema PD, Rovers M, et al.. Management of intrathoracic and cervical anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy for esophageal cancer: a systematic review. World J Emerg Surg. 2019;14:17.
